IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY Digital Repository

Graduate Theses and Dissertations

Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations

2017

Optimal mean-square performance for networked control systems with unreliable communication

Matthew Christopher Rich Iowa State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/etd Part of the <u>Electrical and Electronics Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Rich, Matthew Christopher, "Optimal mean-square performance for networked control systems with unreliable communication" (2017). *Graduate Theses and Dissertations*. 15612. https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/etd/15612

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations at Iowa State University Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Iowa State University Digital Repository. For more information, please contact digirep@iastate.edu.



Optimal mean-square performance for networked control systems with unreliable communication

by

Matthew Christopher Rich

A dissertation submitted to the graduate faculty in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Major: Electrical Engineering (Systems and Controls)

Program of Study Committee: Nicola Elia, Major Professor Wolfgang Kliemann Phillip H. Jones III Umesh Vaidya Ran Dai

Iowa State University

Ames, Iowa

2017

Copyright © Matthew Christopher Rich, 2017. All rights reserved.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
ABSTRACT	vi
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Networked Control Systems	
1.2 Summary	
1.3 Notation	6
CHAPTER 2. PRELIMINARIES	8
2.1 Introductory Motivating Example	
2.2 Fading Network Framework	
2.3 Standing Assumptions	11
2.4 Mean-Square Stability and Performance	
CHAPTER 3. MEAN-SQUARE PERFORMAN	TCE ANALYSIS 14
3.1 Properties and Equivalent Conditions for MS Per	rformance
3.2 Simplified Equivalent Conditions for MS Stability	y 18
CHAPTER 4. NETWORKED CONTROL SYN	THESIS 19
4.1 Problem Formulation	
4.1.1 Admissible Class of Controllers	
4.2 Problem Formulation in Fading Network Framew	vork



CHAPTER 5.	NETWORKED SPECIAL PROBLEMS	24
5.1 Network	ed Full Information and Disturbance Feedforward	25
5.2 Network	ed Full Control and Output Estimation	34
CHAPTER 6.	NETWORKED OUTPUT FEEDBACK	44
6.1 Suboptir	nal Networked Output Feedback	45
6.2 Optimal	Networked Output Feedback	53
6.3 Network	ed Output Feedback Implementation	54
CHAPTER 7.	NUMERICAL EXAMPLES	55
7.1 Network	Limitations and Trade-off Analysis	55
7.2 Westland	l Lynx Military Helicopter	57
APPENDIX A	. SOME GENERAL AUXILIARY THEORY	60
APPENDIX B	. PROOFS AND AUXILIARY THEORY FOR CHAPTER 3	62
APPENDIX C	. PROOFS AND AUXILIARY THEORY FOR CHAPTER 5	70
APPENDIX D	. PROOFS AND AUXILIARY THEORY FOR CHAPTER 6	79
APPENDIX E	NOTATION	89
BIBLIOGRAP	HY	92



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1	Example of a Networked Control System	1
Figure 1.2	Basic Networked Control System Configurations	2
Figure 2.1	Basic Feedback Control Loop	8
Figure 2.2	Equivalent Representations of a Stochastic Closed Loop $\ . \ . \ . \ .$	9
Figure 2.3	Fading network setup with exogenous noise \boldsymbol{n} and regulated output \boldsymbol{r} .	10
Figure 4.1	Networked Control Synthesis Setup	19
Figure 4.2	Remote Control Synthesis Problem in Fading Network Framework $\ .$.	22
Figure 5.1	Networked FI and DF Synthesis Setups	25
Figure 5.2	Networked FC and OE Synthesis Setups	35
Figure 6.1	Networked Output Feedback	44
Figure 6.2	Structure of any stable closed loop T_{OF}	47
Figure 6.3	Equivalent structure of any stable closed loop T_{OF}	48
Figure 6.4	Structure of any $H_{OF} \in \mathbf{H}'_{OF}.$	49
Figure 7.1	Comparison of MS Stabilizability Limitations for Example 1	56
Figure 7.2	Comparison of MS Stabilizability Limitations for Example 2	57
Figure 7.3	MS Performance vs. Dropout Rates	58
Figure 7.4	MS Performance vs. Combined Dropout Rates	59



www.manaraa.com

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research has been supported by NSF CNS-1239319, and CCF-1320643, and AFORSR FA95501510119.



ABSTRACT

In this work we study mean-square (MS) stability and mean-square (MS) performance for discrete-time, finite-dimensional linear time-varying systems with dynamics subject to i.i.d. random variation. We do so primarily in the context of networked control systems (NCS) where the network communication channels are unreliable and modeled as multiplicative stochastic uncertainties, e.g. wireless links subject to packet dropouts and modeled as Bernoulli processes.

We first focus on the analysis problem in general. We derive a convex feasibility problem and associated convex optimization problem which can be used to determine the MS stability and MS performance respectively of a given system. Since this analysis theory is derived in terms of the feasibility of and optimization of a linear cost subject to linear matrix inequalities (LMIs), it serves as the foundation from which a solution methodology for numerous controller synthesis problems can be derived.

Next we formulate the main synthesis problem we consider in this work: a networked control system where both the sensor measurements for the plant(s) and the commands from the controller are transmitted via unreliable communication channels. We treat the unreliable communication links as i.i.d. random processes. We assume that the plant(s) and links are subject to additive exogenous noise, and that we have access to a reliable but delayed acknowledgment of whether or not the controller commands were received by the plant(s) on the previous time step. Finally we restrict the controller to be finite-dimensional, linear, have no structural dependence on the particular path history of the random processes, and scale in size and complexity linearly with the number of random channels.

We then show that this synthesis problem has a MS stabilizing solution if and only if two simpler convex problems have MS stabilizing solutions, and moreover that the optimal MS performance solution to this synthesis problem if it exists can be obtained by solving a sequence of these simpler convex problems. Additionally, we show that the overall optimal MS



performance cost is the sum of two components which can be determined from the solutions to the special problems. That is, we derive a separation principle for our problem analogous to the classical \mathcal{H}_2 synthesis.



CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Networked Control Systems

Networked control systems (NCSs) have been a major area of research in both industry and academia for decades, with the spread of wireless technologies increasing both the interest in and deployment of networked control systems tremendously [1–3]. Overall the main distinguishing characteristic of a NCS is physically distributed components using possibly non-ideal network links for some or all of their communication. An example is shown in Figure 1.1, where one or more quadrotors (generally termed the plant or plants) are controlled from a remotely located computer which transmits commands via an unreliable wireless link, and receives sensor data from remotely located sensors via another unreliable network link.



Figure 1.1: Example of a Networked Control System



Three basic high-level NCS architectures are shown in Figure 1.2, where P and P_i represent the plant(s), i.e. the system(s) to be controlled, K and K_i represent the controller(s), and N represents the network interconnections. In Figure 1.2a the plant measurements y_p (which may include both local and remote sensor readings), are transmitted through the network and received by the controller as y, which may differ from y_p at a given time due to some network effects. Similarly, the controller generated commands u arrive at the plant as the possibly altered signal u_p . Figure 1.2b generalizes this idea to multiple plants (often called a swarm) controlled by a single controller. Figure 1.2c represents a distributed control scenario where multiple plants with local controllers communicate via a network. Generally, an NCS may consist of combinations of these or other possible architectures not shown here.



(c) Distributed NCS

Figure 1.2: Basic Networked Control System Configurations

We point out that from a controller synthesis perspective, Figure 1.2a and 1.2b are essentially equivalent since multiple plants can be modeled as a single, larger system with structure and a single central controller designed. However for the NCS in Figure 1.2c, the equivalent controller is distributed and therefore has internal structural constraints. These additional constraints mean we cannot approach controller synthesis the same way as the centralized, unstructured control setups. In this work we will only consider scenarios which can be represented as in Figure 1.2a or 1.2b, i.e. centralized control designs.



A small sample of some of the current areas of research and application of networked control systems includes autonomous and/or remotely controlled aerospace and automotive vehicles and vehicle networks, exploration of hazardous environments either via teleoperation or autonomous navigation, optimization of transportation and power distribution systems, various applications of cooperative and/or competitive robotics, performance of emergency surgery or other medical procedures via teleoperation, and general distributed computation and optimization. As previously mentioned NCS research has been quite popular for some time, and the body of related literature is consequently both immense and diverse. We refer the reader interested in a survey of recent NCS literature to [1-7].

In many recent works dealing with NCS, like this one, the network communication is assumed to be subject to some form of uncertainty. Often the uncertainty has been assumed to be stochastic. In this context for example [8–15] have studied Kalman filtering and estimation problems, [16–22] LQG control synthesis, [23–32] limitations of mean-square (MS) stability, and [33–37] MS performance. Markov jump linear systems (MJLS) approaches [38–45] have been applied to NCS problems under various assumptions on the stochastic nature of the network. Distributed consensus and least squares problems with unreliable network interconnections have been studied in [46–51]. Event triggered systems approaches have been applied to NCS problems with network uncertainty in [52–55]. Recently there has also been a growing interest in cyber-security related to NCS [56–59], where the network disruption is no longer random but due to purposeful attack.

1.2 Summary

In this work we study stability and performance analysis and optimal performance controller synthesis for a class of linear stochastic systems, primarily from a networked control systems (NCS) perspective. More specifically, we investigate mean-square (MS) stability and meansquare (MS) performance properties for multiple-input multiple-output (MIMO), discrete-time, finite-dimensional linear systems whose dynamics are subject to random time-variation and additive exogenous noise. We assume the variation is described by random processes which are



independent and identically distributed (i.i.d.) in time. For example, networked control system where the communication links are wireless and subject to random packet losses which can be modeled as Bernoulli processes.

Our development here builds directly upon and/or generalizes results in a number of previous works [23,27,28,30,33–37,60]. The general theory on linear matrix inequalities (LMIs) which forms the foundation of the MS stability and later MS performance results in [23,27,28,30,33–37] and this work was derived in [60]. The fundamental framework we use for NCS problems was defined in [23]. In [33,34] optimal MS performance controller synthesis for a single-input singleoutput (SISO) systems was addressed via nonconvex search. In [30] the problem of convex MS stabilizing controller synthesis for SISO systems with both actuator and sensor link fading was studied. In [27] we derived a convex means to solve the MS stabilizing controller synthesis problem for MIMO systems with actuator link dropouts, as well as a means to numerically analyze the necessary and sufficient limitations of MS stabilizability for such systems. In [28] we extended the core MS stabilizing controller synthesis results of [30] to the MIMO equivalent problem setup. In [35,36] we provide preliminary extensions of [27] to optimal MS performance.

In Chapter 2 we begin with a simple introductory example to motivate our approach to network control system analysis and control design. We summarize the framework we will use and provide a list of the standing assumptions which generally define the scope of the problems considered in this work. We end this chapter by formally defining the notions of stability and performance we apply to the systems we consider.

In Chapter 3 address MS performance analysis. First we show that the MS stability and MS performance properties of a given system can be determined using a matrix linear timeinvariant system corresponding in structure to the mean closed loop. We use this result to derive a notion of MS stability and performance duality for the systems we consider as well as to derive a convex feasibility problem and associated convex optimization problem which can be used to determine the MS stability and MS performance respectively of any given system. These latter results are derived in terms of linear matrix inequalities (LMIs) and serve as the primary foundation for the synthesis theory later in this work.



In Chapter 4 we provide the formulation for the main control synthesis problem of this work: a networked control system where both sensor and actuator signals are transmitted through stochastic links. We show how we represent this problem in our framework an we define the assumptions and restrictions we impost on the synthesis.

In Chapter 5 we investigate a sequence of problems analogous to the classical special problems: Full Information, Disturbance Feedforward, Full Control, and Output Estimation [61]. We show that we can solve these problems convexly as well as derive numerous important properties of the solutions. As with the classical setting, these networked special problems will form the basis for the Youla parameterization of all MS stabilizing controllers and MS stable closed loops for the networked output feedback problem in Chapter 6, as well as the derivation of the separation principle.

In Chapter 6 we begin by slightly modifying the synthesis problem from Chapter 4. We then show that this problem has a MS stabilizing solution if and only if a pair of the special problems studied in Chapter 5 have a solution, and moreover that the optimal solution can be obtained by solving these problems in sequence. We then show that this solution can be adapted to provide the solution to the optimal MS performance synthesis problem in Section 4 as a special case.

Finally, in Chapter 7 we provide some numerical examples and in Appendices A-D we provide some additional background theory and the proofs for results in Chapters 3,5, and 6. Appendix E includes a reference for notation and acronyms throughout this work.

It is important to note that we will restrict our admissible control designs to those which do not depend on the path of the random channel states, which do not scale in size or complexity combinatorially with the number of random network states, and which allow one to calculate all control gains and optimal performance costs offline. These are fundamental contrasts with the problem formulations and subsequent controller designs in MJLS literature which scale combinatorially with the number of random processes, as well as with the LQG results where neither the optimal cost or controller can be computed offline due to the fact that the timevarying Kalman filter gain does not converge even in the infinite horizon case due to sample path dependence on the random channel states.



1.3 Notation

Although most of the notation we use in this work is relatively common or can be understood in context, we now provide a brief overview of some of the conventions and notation we will use. A more comprehensive reference is provided in Appendix E (page 89).

With very few exceptions we differentiate between various types of mathematical quantities by using distinct fonts. In this regard we use the default LATEX math font for vectors, matrices, and random variables, e.g. v, M, and δ . For linear systems, we use the LATEX Sans-serif math font, e.g. G and K. Operators which are represented using Roman letters are given using the standard upright LATEX math font, e.g. tr(X) for the trace of a matrix X. Sets are denoted with the LATEX bold math font, e.g. \mathbf{R} for the real numbers.

Some specific sets will often refer to are \mathbf{S}^n , $n \times n$ symmetric matrices, \mathbf{D}^n , $n \times n$ diagonal matrices, and \mathbf{B}^η , block diagonal matrices made up of p symmetric blocks of sizes $\eta_i \times \eta_i$ defined in the $p \times 1$ vector η . That is, any $M \in \mathbf{B}^\eta$ is such that $M = \text{diag}(M_1, M_2, \dots, M_p)$ where $M_i \in \mathbf{S}^{\eta_i}$. For each set, a + subscript denotes positive semidefinite, while a ++ denotes positive definite, e.g. \mathbf{S}^n_{++} is the set of $n \times n$ symmetric positive definite matrices.

 I_n (or simply I) denotes an $n \times n$ identity matrix (or whatever size is appropriate in context). $\mathbf{1}_{m \times n}$ is an $m \times n$ matrix of ones, while $\mathbf{1}$ is a vector of ones of whatever size appropriate in context. 0 is always a matrix of zeros of whatever size is appropriate in context. The notation $A \circ B$ represents the Hadamard or element-by-element product of two matrices (or vectors) A and B of the same dimensions. The notation $A \succ 0$ or $A \succeq 0$ is taken to mean the matrix A is symmetric and positive definite or positive semidefinite respectively.

We use $F_{\ell}(G, K)$ to represent the lower linear fractional transformation¹ (LFT) of some systems G and K of compatible dimensions. We will use a shorthand notation x^+ for x(k+1)when providing a realization for a linear system and omit the time index k. For example, let a finite-dimensional linear time-invariant (FDLTI) system P with input u and output y



¹Essentially feedback interconnection. See [62] or [61].

have a state space realization with internal state x, where x(k + 1) = Ax(k) + Bu(k) and y(k) = Cx(k) + Du(k). We will define this realization as in (1.1).

$$\mathsf{P}: \begin{bmatrix} x^+ \\ y \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A & B \\ \hline C & D \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x \\ u \end{bmatrix}$$
(1.1)

Finally, we will denote the dual of an LTI system using the matrix transpose notation, e.g. P^T . Given that P has a realization (1.1), the dual system has a realization (1.2).

$$\mathsf{P}^{T}:\begin{bmatrix} \tilde{x}^{+} \\ \tilde{y} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A^{T} & C^{T} \\ B^{T} & D^{T} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{x} \\ \tilde{u} \end{bmatrix}$$
(1.2)



CHAPTER 2. PRELIMINARIES

2.1 Introductory Motivating Example

Consider the basic control loop shown in Figure 2.1 where P is the plant to be controlled, K is the controller, u(k) is the control command, y(k) is the measurement, n(k) is an exogenous disturbance, and r(k) is some regulated output of interest.



Figure 2.1: Basic Feedback Control Loop

If we consider the case where both the plant and controller to be finite-dimensional, linear time-invariant systems analyzing the stability of the overall closed loop boils down to simply checking the eigenvalues of a matrix. Specifically, in this scenario we can describe the overall closed loop using a state space realization

$$\begin{bmatrix} x^+\\ r \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{A} & \hat{B} \\ \hline \hat{C} & \hat{D} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x \\ n \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.1)

The closed loop is said to be stable if all the eigenvalues of \hat{A} have magnitude less than 1, i.e. if the matrix \hat{A} is Schur. This guarantees among other things that for zero input the system state $x(k) \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$ for any initial condition x(0).



In contrast, consider the control loop shown in Figure 2.2a where $y_{\mathsf{P}}(k)$ is the measurement, and the controller K does not receive $y_{\mathsf{P}}(k)$ at each time k but rather $y(k) = \xi(k)y_{\mathsf{P}}(k)$, where $\xi(k)$ is a random process. Take for example a Bernoulli process where at each time k the probability that $\xi(k) = 1$ is μ and the probability that $\xi(k) = 0$ is $1 - \mu$. This is a simple model for a network link subject to random dropout where the controller receives the measurement at time k with probability μ and receives no update at time k with probability $1 - \mu$.





(a) Closed Loop with Stochastic Channel

(b) Equivalent Closed Loop

Figure 2.2: Equivalent Representations of a Stochastic Closed Loop

In this case the closed loop system will be stochastic and time-varying. Even if we restrict our attention to linear systems, the classical notion of stability we applied to the time-invariant case is no longer applicable. The closed loop matrices will be stochastic time-varying and the system state will be, even with zero input, a random process. Various notions of stability for stochastic systems have existed for some time [63]. Among the more common notions are mean stability, almost sure stability, and mean-square stability. In this work we will focus on mean-square (MS) stability, which we will see for the class of systems we consider is a strong notion of stability–e.g. the other two mentioned are implied by it but not vice versa.

We represent this kind of scenario as shown in Figure 2.2b by defining a zero-mean $\delta(k)$ such that $\xi(k) = \mu(1 + \delta(k))$. This will allow us to isolate the stochastic uncertainty of the closed loop from an otherwise known, LTI mean system T. Importantly, this will generally



allow us to derive our theory with respect to the mean system and the fixed covariance of the uncertainty. Next we review the general framework we use as well as provide the key defining assumptions used throughout this work.

2.2 Fading Network Framework

We briefly review the general framework we use in this work which is based on the Fading Network Framework introduced in [23]. In Figure 2.3 we group the networked system into several main components: the generalized plant $G : \begin{bmatrix} n \\ w \\ u \end{bmatrix} \mapsto \begin{bmatrix} r \\ z \\ y \end{bmatrix}$, the controller $K : y \mapsto u$, and a stochastic operator $\Delta : z \mapsto w$. The generalized plant G is the interconnection of the plant(s) and the mean network interconnections where r is a regulated/performance output and n is an exogenous additive noise. The multiplicative noise $w = \Delta z$ models stochastic channel fading at the physical layer or link dropouts or packet drops at the transport layer¹. Using these components we define the mean closed loop $\mathsf{T} = \mathsf{F}_{\ell}(\mathsf{G},\mathsf{K}) : [{ m \atop w }] \mapsto [{ r \atop z }]$, and the stochastic closed loop $\mathsf{H} = \mathsf{F}_{\ell}(\mathsf{T}, \Delta(k)) : n \mapsto r$.



Figure 2.3: Fading network setup with exogenous noise n and regulated output r

Notice that the framework we use isolates the stochastic uncertainty Δ from an otherwise known system T, which allows us to study the overall time varying stochastic problem from an robust control perspective and gain further insights into the ways the stochastic uncertainty enters into and couples the dynamics.



¹In this work we neglect quantization effects.

2.3 Standing Assumptions

We make several assumptions for any given $H = F_{\ell}(T, \Delta(k)) = F_{\ell}(F_{\ell}(G, K), \Delta)$ in this work:

Assumption 1. T is finite-dimensional linear time-invariant (FDLTI).

Assumption 2. $\Delta(k) = \text{diag}(\delta_i(k)I_{\eta_i})$ where $\delta_i(k)$ are zero mean, finite variance, mutually independent, i.i.d. in time, random processes and η_i is the number of adjacent elements in $\Delta(k)$ equal to $\delta_i(k)$.

Assumption 3. The exogenous input n(k) is a zero mean, finite variance, i.i.d. random process which is independent from $\Delta(k) \forall k \ge 0$.

Let $\Sigma = \mathcal{E}(\Delta(k)\mathbf{1}\mathbf{1}^T\Delta(k)^T) = \operatorname{cov}(\Delta(k)\mathbf{1}) \in \mathbf{B}^{\eta}_+$ and let T have a realization (2.2) where $r(k) \in \mathbf{R}^{l_r}, \, z(k) \in \mathbf{R}^{l_z}, \, n(k) \in \mathbf{R}^{m_n}, \, w(k) \in \mathbf{R}^{m_w}$ with $l_z = m_w$, and $x(k) \in \mathbf{R}^n$.

$$\mathsf{T}: \begin{bmatrix} x^+ \\ r \\ z \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \bar{A} & \bar{B}_n & \bar{B}_w \\ \bar{C}_r & \bar{D}_{rn} & \bar{D}_{rw} \\ \bar{C}_z & \bar{D}_{zn} & \bar{D}_{zw} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x \\ n \\ w \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.2)

Assumption 4. x(0) is independent from both random processes $\Delta(k)$ and n(k).

Assumption 5. D_{zw} in (2.2) is strictly block lower or upper triangular around the structure of Σ , i.e. it is nonzero only above or below the nonzero diagonal blocks of Σ .

We make Assumptions 1 and 2 since the notions of stability and performance we use as well as the underlying theory we will be extending in this work apply to finite-dimensional systems subject to perturbation by i.i.d. random processes. Assumption 4 coupled with the time independence in Assumptions 2 and 3 guarantees that x(k) will be independent of both n(k) and $\Delta(k)$ at any given time k. Assumption 5 guarantees H = F_{ℓ}(T, Δ) is well posed both stochastically and algebraically. Namely, it guarantees that $\delta_i(k)$ and the elements of z(k)multiplied by $\delta_i(k)$ in $\Delta(k)z(k)$ are independent, and $(I - \Delta(k)\bar{D}_{zw})^{-1}$ exists $\forall k \ge 0$.



Note that in Assumption 2 we allow for vector uncertainty, i.e. groups of channels to be affected by the same δ_i . To aid the reader in understanding our notation we provide an example. Denoting $\operatorname{var}(\delta_i(k)) = \sigma_i^2$, $\eta = \begin{bmatrix} 3 & 1 & 2 \end{bmatrix}$ corresponds to the following $\Delta(k)$ and Σ .

$$\Delta(k) = \begin{bmatrix} \delta_1(k)I_3 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \delta_2(k) & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \delta_3(k)I_2 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \delta_1(k) & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \delta_1(k) & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \delta_1(k) & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \delta_2(k) & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \delta_3(k) & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \delta_3(k) \end{bmatrix} \in \mathbf{D}^6$$

$$\Sigma = \begin{bmatrix} \sigma_1^2 \mathbf{1}_{3 \times 3} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \sigma_2^2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \sigma_3^2 \mathbf{1}_{2 \times 2} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \sigma_1^2 & \sigma_1^2 & \sigma_1^2 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \sigma_1^2 & \sigma_1^2 & \sigma_1^2 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \sigma_1^2 & \sigma_1^2 & \sigma_1^2 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \sigma_2^2 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \sigma_3^2 & \sigma_3^2 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \sigma_3^2 & \sigma_3^2 \end{bmatrix} \in \mathbf{B}_+^{\eta}$$

2.4 Mean-Square Stability and Performance

In this section we define the notions of stability and performance for stochastic systems that we use in this work. We begin by defining mean-square stability following [60].

Definition 1. Given $\mathsf{H} = \mathsf{F}_{\ell}(\mathsf{T}, \Delta)$ where T has a realization (2.2), let $X(k) = \mathsf{E}(x(k)x^{\mathsf{T}}(k))$ denote the state correlation matrix². Then H is mean-square (MS) stable if X(k) is well defined for all $k \ge 0$ and $n(k) = 0 \ \forall \ k \ge 0$ implies $\lim_{k \to \infty} X(k) = 0$ for any $X(0) \succeq 0$.

For the class of systems we consider in this work, MS stability implies mean stability, i.e. that for zero exogenous input $E(x(k)) \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$ for all initial conditions, and that $x(k) \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$ with probability one [60], i.e. *almost surely*. We point out that while MS

² We are borrowing this terminology from [60].



stability implies almost sure stability, the converse is not true. Finally we note that if H is MS stable and $n(k) \neq 0$, e.g. $E(n(k)n(k)^T) = N$, linearity implies that $\lim_{k \to \infty} X(k) = \bar{X} \succeq 0$ for any $X(0) \succeq 0$. Next we define the notion of performance used in this work.

Definition 2. Given $H = F_{\ell}(T, \Delta)$, let $R(k) = E(r(k)r^{T}(k))$ denote the performance correlation matrix. Then H has mean-square (MS) performance ν subject to n(k) if it is MS stable and $\lim_{k\to\infty} \operatorname{tr}(R(k)) = \nu^{2}$.

Note our definition of MS performance includes MS stability. This is to avoid dealing with systems lacking internal MS stability having bounded performance due to hidden modes. Finally, we define a notation specifically for the MS performance of a system subject to exogenous noise with identity covariance.

Definition 3. Let $E(n(k)n(k)^T) = I$, and define $\|H\|_{MSP}$ as

 $\|\mathbf{H}\|_{MSP} = \begin{cases} \nu & \text{if } \mathbf{H} \text{ has } MS \text{ performance } \nu \\ \\ \infty & \text{if } \mathbf{H} \text{ is not } MS \text{ stable} \end{cases}$



CHAPTER 3. MEAN-SQUARE PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS

In this section we address MS performance analysis. First we show that the MS stability and MS performance properties of any given system H meeting the assumptions in Section 2.3 are equivalent to stability and performance properties of a linear time-invariant system of matrices. We use this to derive several important properties relating the the MS stability and performance of systems in this work. We then show that the MS stability and MS performance of any given system can be determined by a convex feasibility problem and a convex optimization problem, namely the feasibility of and optimization of a linear cost subject to LMIs. This result serves as the primary foundation for the synthesis theory later in this work.

3.1 Properties and Equivalent Conditions for MS Performance

We begin by providing a characterization of the state and performance correlation matrices for a given closed loop system which will be instrumental in deriving the subsequent analysis theory as well as the synthesis theory which follows.

Lemma 1. Given $H = F_{\ell}(T, \Delta)$ where T has a realization (2.2), $\Sigma = cov(\Delta 1)$, subject to exogenous noise with cov(n(k)) = N, let X(k) and R(k) be as in Definitions 1 and 2. Then

(a) $\forall k \geq 0$ there exist $Z(k) \triangleq E(z(k)z^T(k))$ and $W(k) \triangleq E(w(k)w^T(k))$ such that

$$X(k+1) = \bar{A}X(k)\bar{A}^T + \bar{B}_n N\bar{B}_n^T + \bar{B}_w W(k)\bar{B}_w^T$$
(3.1a)

$$R(k) = \bar{C}_r X(k) \bar{C}_r^T + \bar{D}_{rn} N \bar{D}_{rn}^T + \bar{D}_{rw} W(k) \bar{D}_{rw}^T$$
(3.1b)

$$Z(k) = \bar{C}_z X(k) \bar{C}_z^T + \bar{D}_{zn} N \bar{D}_{zn}^T + \bar{D}_{zw} W(k) \bar{D}_{zw}^T$$
(3.1c)

$$W(k) = \Sigma \circ Z(k) \tag{3.1d}$$



(b) H is MS stable if and only if $\forall X(0) \succeq 0$, (3.1a)-(3.1d) converge to a unique steady state solution $\bar{X} \succeq 0$, $\bar{R} \succeq 0$, $\bar{Z} \succeq 0$, and $\bar{W} \succeq 0$ as $k \to \infty$.

(c) H is MS stable iff $\forall X(0) \succeq 0, N = 0$ implies (3.1a)-(3.1d) converge to 0 as $k \to \infty$

Proof in Appendix B.

In Lemma 1 we have that the MS stability and MS performance of a given linear timevarying system H can be determined by investigating stability and performance properties of the matrix LTI system (3.1), which roughly speaking, is essentially a kind of feedback interconnection of a matrix version of T and a constant Σ . Intuitively one might expect that this implies certain properties, such as input-output invariance with respect to a particular state space realization and stability/performance duality. We will show that we in fact do have these properties, but first we address the connection between Lemma 1 and $||\mathbf{H}||_{MSP}$.

Given Lemma 1 and recalling Definitions 2 and 3, we can verify by inspection that the MS performance of a system subject to exogenous noise with any finite covariance is equivalent to the MS performance norm of the system scaled by the square root of the noise covariance.

Corollary 1. Let $H = F_{\ell}(T, \Delta)$ be MS stable. Then the MS performance of H subject to exogenous noise with cov(n) = N is equal to $||HN^{\frac{1}{2}}||_{MSP}$.

Based on Corollary 1 we have no loss of generality by considering the case N = I, i.e. concentrating on $\|\mathbf{H}\|_{MSP}$ for analysis purposes. To see why let $\mathbf{H} = \mathbf{F}_{\ell}(\mathsf{T}, \Delta)$ where T has a realization (2.2). Clearly the MS performance of H subject to noise with $\operatorname{cov}(n) = N$ is equivalent to $\|\dot{\mathsf{H}}\|_{MSP}$ where $\dot{\mathsf{H}} = \mathbf{F}_{\ell}(\dot{\mathsf{T}}, \Delta)$ and

$$\dot{\mathsf{T}} : \begin{bmatrix} \dot{x}^{+} \\ \dot{r} \\ \dot{z} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \bar{A} & \dot{B}_{n} & \bar{B}_{w} \\ \bar{C}_{r} & \dot{D}_{rn} & \bar{D}_{rw} \\ \bar{C}_{z} & \dot{D}_{zn} & \bar{D}_{zw} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \dot{x} \\ \dot{n} \\ \dot{w} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.2)

with $\dot{B}_n = \bar{B}_n N^{\frac{1}{2}}$, $\dot{D}_{rn} = \bar{D}_{rn} N^{\frac{1}{2}}$, and $\dot{D}_{zn} = \bar{D}_{zn} N^{\frac{1}{2}}$.



Now as alluded to earlier we derive two additional, relatively intuitive but crucial corollaries: first we show that the parts of the steady state solution in Lemma 1(b) corresponding to input/output signals to T do not change based on the state space realization of T, and second we show that the MS stability and MS performance of a given system are equivalent to that of the dual system¹.

Corollary 2. Given a MS stable $H = F_{\ell}(T, \Delta)$ with $\Sigma = cov(\Delta \mathbf{1})$, the quantities \overline{R} , \overline{Z} , and \overline{W} in Lemma 1(b) are invariant with respect to the particular state space realization of T.

Proof in Appendix B.

Corollary 3. Given $H = F_{\ell}(T, \Delta)$ and $\Sigma = cov(\Delta \mathbf{1})$, the dual system $H^T = F_{\ell}(T^T, \Delta)$ is such that $\|H\|_{MSP} = \|H^T\|_{MSP}$.

Proof in Appendix B.

Corollary 2 will be crucial later on when we derive a separation principle for the synthesis problem in Section 6. We will take advantage of the results in Corollary 3 extensively throughout this work. We will often simply say something follows by duality.

Now we point out that although Lemma 1 provides a theoretical condition for MS stability and for obtaining the MS performance for a MS stable system, and is quite useful in the derivation of important properties, it is not practical in the sense that one would have to check an infinite number of initial conditions to ensure MS stability. To address this, we derive an linear matrix inequality (LMI) based characterization of MS stability and performance.

Definition 4. Given $\mathsf{H} = \mathsf{F}_{\ell}(\mathsf{T}, \Delta)$ where T has a realization (2.2) and $\Sigma = \operatorname{cov}(\Delta \mathbf{1}) \in \mathbf{B}_{+}^{\eta}$, let \mathbf{L} be the feasible set of all $X \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{n}$, $R \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{l_{r}}$, $Z \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{l_{z}}$ and $W \in \mathbf{B}_{++}^{\eta}$ satisfying the LMIs

$$X \succ \bar{A}X\bar{A}^T + \bar{B}_n\bar{B}_n^T + \bar{B}_wW\bar{B}_w^T \tag{3.3a}$$

$$R \succ \bar{C}_r X \bar{C}_r^T + \bar{D}_{rn} \bar{D}_{rn}^T + \bar{D}_{rw} W \bar{D}_{rw}^T$$
(3.3b)

$$Z \succ \bar{C}_z X \bar{C}_z^T + \bar{D}_{zn} \bar{D}_{zn}^T + \bar{D}_{zw} W \bar{D}_{zw}^T$$
(3.3c)

$$W \succ \Sigma \circ Z \tag{3.3d}$$

¹Recall (1.1) and (1.2).



Similarly let \mathbf{L}' be the feasible set of all $\tilde{X} \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^n$, $\tilde{R} \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{m_n}$, $\tilde{Z} \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{l_z}$ and $\tilde{W} \in \mathbf{B}_{++}^\eta$ satisfying the dual LMIs

$$\tilde{X} \succ \bar{A}^T \tilde{X} \bar{A} + \bar{C}_r^T \bar{C}_r + \bar{C}_z^T \tilde{W} \bar{C}_z \tag{3.4a}$$

$$\tilde{R} \succ \bar{B}_n^T \tilde{X} \bar{B}_n + \bar{D}_{rn}^T \bar{D}_{rn} + \bar{D}_{zn}^T \tilde{W} \bar{D}_{zn}$$
(3.4b)

$$\tilde{Z} \succ \bar{B}_w^T \tilde{X} \bar{B}_w + \bar{D}_{rw}^T \bar{D}_{rw} + \bar{D}_{zw}^T \tilde{W} \bar{D}_{zw}$$
(3.4c)

$$\tilde{W} \succ \Sigma \circ \tilde{Z} \tag{3.4d}$$

Theorem 1. Given $H = F_{\ell}(T, \Delta)$ where T has a realization (2.2) and $\Sigma = cov(\Delta \mathbf{1}) \in \mathbf{B}_{+}^{\eta}$,

- (a) $\|\mathbf{H}\|_{MSP}^2 < \nu^2 \Leftrightarrow \exists (X, R, Z, W) \in \mathbf{L} \text{ such that } \nu^2 = \operatorname{tr}(R)$
- (b) $\|\mathbf{H}\|_{MSP}^2 < \nu^2 \Leftrightarrow \exists (\tilde{X}, \tilde{R}, \tilde{Z}, \tilde{W}) \in \mathbf{L}' \text{ such that } \nu^2 = \operatorname{tr}(\tilde{R}).$

$$(c) \|\mathbf{H}\|_{\scriptscriptstyle \!\!\!\!MSP}^2 = \inf_{\mathbf{L}} \operatorname{tr}(R) = \inf_{\mathbf{L}'} \operatorname{tr}(\tilde{R})$$

Proof in Appendix B.

The following corollary can be verified by inspection of the LMIs in Theorem 1, and will be instrumental later on when we are deriving results related to the Youla parameterization of all MS stable closed loops for synthesis problems.

Corollary 4. $H = F_{\ell}(T, \Delta)$ is MS stable only if T is stable.

Theorem 1 generalizes the MS stability analysis theory in [23] to include MS performance and cases of vector uncertainty, i.e. groups of signals affected by the same random variable. Recently [37] derived a quasi-convex spectral radius method for calculating MS performance. The advantages of our LMI formulation over [37] are that it provides a convex rather than quasi-convex method of calculating MS performance since the matrix inequalities in Theorem 1 are linear in ν^2 , and it can handle vector fading. Additionally, the inequalities are also linear for any fixed Σ , which means various channel analysis and resource allocation problems are quasi-convex. Finally, and perhaps most importantly, the LMI formulation in Theorem 1 can be adapted to a number of synthesis problems via simple change of coordinates. This will be central to the development in Section 5.



3.2 Simplified Equivalent Conditions for MS Stability

Before moving on, we briefly state a simplified version of Theorem 1 which results when only MS stability is a concern.

Corollary 5. Given $H = F_{\ell}(T, \Delta)$ where T has a realization (2.2) and $\Sigma = cov(\Delta \mathbf{1}) \in \mathbf{B}_{+}^{\eta}$, H is MS stable if and only if

(a) there exist $X \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^n$, $Z \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{l_z}$, and $W \in \mathbf{B}_{++}^{\eta}$ such that

$$X \succ \bar{A}X\bar{A}^T + \bar{B}_w W\bar{B}_w^T \tag{3.5a}$$

$$Z \succ \bar{C}_z X \bar{C}_z^T + \bar{D}_{zw} W \bar{D}_{zw}^T \tag{3.5b}$$

$$W \succ \Sigma \circ Z \tag{3.5c}$$

(b) there exist $\tilde{X} \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^n$, $\tilde{Z} \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{l_z}$ and $\tilde{W} \in \mathbf{B}_{++}^\eta$ such that

$$\tilde{X} \succ \bar{A}^T \tilde{X} \bar{A} + \bar{C}_z^T \tilde{W} \bar{C}_z \tag{3.6a}$$

$$\tilde{Z} \succ \bar{B}_w^T \tilde{X} \bar{B}_w + \bar{D}_{zw}^T \tilde{W} \bar{D}_{zw}$$
(3.6b)

$$\tilde{W} \succ \Sigma \circ \tilde{Z} \tag{3.6c}$$

The LMIs in Corollary 5 functionally recover those in [23,27] for the special case $\Sigma \in \mathbf{D}_{+}^{q}$.



CHAPTER 4. NETWORKED CONTROL SYNTHESIS

In this chapter we provide the formulation for the main control synthesis problem of this work: a networked control system where multiple sensor and actuator signals are transmitted through stochastic links, and both the signals and plant are subject to exogenous additive noise.

Figure 4.1 shows the type closed loop system we consider. The controller \mathcal{K} interacts with the plant P via unreliable network connections Ξ_a and Ξ_s , and has access to channel state information α_a and α_s where z^{-1} denotes a one step delay. This is the same remote control setup previously studied from a MS stability perspective in [28] where now we will consider the effects of stochastic exogenous noise n on the closed loop MS performance as well as less conservative assumptions for the network connections.



Figure 4.1: Networked Control Synthesis Setup

4.1 **Problem Formulation**

We assume that the feedback interconnection of the plant and controller is well posed, and that the plant P is FDLTI system with a realization (4.1).

$$\mathsf{P}: \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{P}}^{+} \\ r \\ y_{\mathsf{P}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A & B_{n} & B_{u} \\ \hline C_{r} & D_{rn} & D_{r} \\ C_{y} & D_{n} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{P}} \\ n \\ u_{\mathsf{P}} \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.1)



We model the unreliable network connections as multiplicative uncertainties with known nonzero mean and finite variance: $\Xi_s(k) = \text{diag}(\xi_{s_i}(k)I_{\eta_{s_i}})$ and $\Xi_a(k) = \text{diag}(\xi_{a_j}(k)I_{\eta_{a_j}})$ with $\{\xi_{s_i}(k), \xi_{a_j}(k)\}$ mutually independent, i.i.d. processes, and η_{s_i} and η_{a_j} the sizes of vectors affected by ξ_{s_i} and ξ_{a_j} .

Remark 1. We point out that it is more typical to consider the special case of packet drops modeled as Bernoulli processes. While this is the most common and practical scenario from a NCS with receiver acknowledgment perspective, we derive our theory in a more general setting. This allows us to show it is not restricted to Bernoull-or generally to discrete-processes. This generality may also prove useful for scenarios beyond the NCS setting considered in this work.

We restrict all processing to be done locally at the controller \mathcal{K} which has access the channel state information provided by $\alpha_a(k)$ and $\alpha_s(k)$. We assume that while the sensor receiver can instantaneously report the channel state, i.e. $\alpha_s(k) = \xi_s(k)$, the actuator receiver is subject to one step delay, i.e. $\alpha_a(k) = \xi_a(k-1)$. This delay accounts for the physical propagation delays which prevent the controller from knowing the result of the transmission before it has happened.

4.1.1 Admissible Class of Controllers

Motivated by [28, 30], we restrict our controllers to be those with control action equivalent to (4.2).

$$\mathcal{K}: \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{K}}^+ \\ u \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{\mathsf{K}} + B_{\mathsf{K}_1} \Xi_s C_{\mathsf{K}_1} + B_{\mathsf{K}_2} \Xi_a C_{\mathsf{K}_2} + B_{\mathsf{K}_2} \Xi_s D_{\mathsf{K}} \Xi_s C_{\mathsf{K}_1} & B_{\mathsf{K}_1} + B_{\mathsf{K}_2} \Xi_a D_{\mathsf{K}} \\ \hline C_{\mathsf{K}_2} + D_{\mathsf{K}} \Xi_s C_{\mathsf{K}_1} & D_{\mathsf{K}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{K}} \\ y \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.2)

It is clear that these controllers will scale in an essentially linear fashion with the number of random channel states, i.e. the dimensions of Ξ_a and Ξ_s , and that they do not have any sample path dependence and therefore the gains can be calculated offline. As previously pointed out in Section 1.2, these are important contrasts with related approaches in e.g. Markov Jump Linear Systems literature which allow for the controller matrices to switch based on every possible combination of channel states, as well as with any approaches using Kalman filtering which have sample path dependence for the problems we consider. We note that the controller state $x_{\kappa}(k)$ and the command output u(k) at time k do not depend on knowledge of $\Xi_a(k)$, which we assume we do not have, but rather only on $\Xi_a(k-1)$, which we do. This means that controllers equivalent to (4.2) are implementable given our information constraints.

It can be easily verified that the LTV controller in (4.2) is equivalent to the LTI controller with time-varying feedback loops defined in (4.3) where $u_2(k) \triangleq u(k)$.

$$\mathsf{K}: \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{K}}^+ \\ u_1 \\ u_2 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{\mathsf{K}} & B_{\mathsf{K}_1} & B_{\mathsf{K}_2} \\ \hline C_{\mathsf{K}_1} & 0 & 0 \\ \hline C_{\mathsf{K}_2} & D_{\mathsf{K}} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{K}} \\ y_1 \\ y_2 \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.3a)

$$y_1(k) = y(k) + \Xi_s(k)u_1(k)$$
 (4.3b)

$$y_2(k) = \Xi_a(k)u_2(k) \tag{4.3c}$$

Moreover, using standard LTI systems manipulations, the controller structure defined in (4.3) is equivalent to that in (4.4) by factoring a delay out of the second input.

$$\hat{\mathsf{K}}: \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{K}}^{+} \\ u_{1} \\ u_{2} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{\mathsf{K}} & B_{\mathsf{K}_{1}} & A_{\mathsf{K}} B_{\mathsf{K}_{2}} \\ \hline C_{\mathsf{K}_{1}} & 0 & C_{\mathsf{K}_{1}} B_{\mathsf{K}_{2}} \\ \hline C_{\mathsf{K}_{2}} & D_{\mathsf{K}} & C_{\mathsf{K}_{2}} B_{\mathsf{K}_{2}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{K}} \\ y_{1} \\ \hat{y}_{2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.4a)

$$y_1(k) = y(k) + \Xi_s(k)u_1(k)$$
 (4.4b)

$$\hat{y}_2 = y_2^- = y_2(k-1) = \Xi_a(k-1)u_2(k-1)$$
 (4.4c)

This version provides an implementable but equivalent control action to that in (4.2): requiring only that the previous command $u_2(k-1)$ be stored in memory and used with the information provided by $\alpha_a(k)$ to produce $\hat{y}_2(\mathbf{k})$.



4.2 Problem Formulation in Fading Network Framework

Now we show our approach to this synthesis problem in the Fading Network Framework. Let the channel mean and covariance matrices be $M_s = E(\Xi_s(k))$ and $M_a = E(\Xi_a(k))$, and $V_s = cov(\Xi_s(k)\mathbf{1})$ and $V_a = cov(\Xi_a(k)\mathbf{1})$ respectively. Let $\Delta_s(k)$ and $\Delta_a(k)$ satisfying Assumption 2 be such that $\Xi_s(k) = M_s(I + \Delta_s(k))$ and $\Xi_a(k) = M_a(I + \Delta_a(k))$. By simple calculation one can verify that $\Sigma_s = V_s M_s^{-2}$ and $\Sigma_a = V_a M_a^{-2}$.

With this transformation, and representing the controller as in (4.3), the Fading Network Framework equivalent of the problem in Figure 4.1 is shown in Figure 4.2.



Figure 4.2: Remote Control Synthesis Problem in Fading Network Framework

Problem 1 (Networked Control Synthesis). Let the Networked Control Synthesis problem have generalized plant given by



with actuator and sensor uncertainty represented by $\Delta(k) = \operatorname{diag}(\Delta_s(k), \Delta_a(k)) : z(k) \mapsto w(k)$ with $\Sigma = \operatorname{diag}(\Sigma_s, \Sigma_a) = \operatorname{cov}(\Delta(k)\mathbf{1}) \in \mathbf{B}^{\eta}_+$. Let \mathbf{K} be the set of all FDLTI controllers with a realization (4.6) making $\mathbf{H} = \mathbf{F}_{\ell}(\mathbf{F}_{\ell}(\mathbf{G}, \mathbf{K}), \Delta)$ MS stable, and $\nu^* \triangleq \inf_{\mathbf{K} \in \mathbf{K}} \|\mathbf{H}\|_{MSP}$.

$$\mathsf{K}: \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{K}}^+ \\ u_1 \\ u_2 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{\mathsf{K}} & B_{\mathsf{K}_1} & B_{\mathsf{K}_2} \\ \hline C_{\mathsf{K}_1} & 0 & 0 \\ C_{\mathsf{K}_2} & D_{\mathsf{K}} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{K}} \\ y_1 \\ y_2 \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.6)

We seek the controller K which gives the optimal MS performance closed loop in Figure 4.2. Controller synthesis is expected to be non-convex in the general setting of Figure 2.3. This is due to the analogy of the setup with robust control synthesis [23]. The difficulties in finding a convex synthesis for Problem 1 are confirmed when trying adapt the LMIs of Theorem 1 for synthesis based on the standard change of coordinates [64]. While this method makes the synthesis for many problems convex, including standard \mathcal{H}_2 and \mathcal{H}_{∞} , it does not do so here. Due to additional problem variables resulting from the channel uncertainty, not all nonlinearities can be eliminated by this change of variables or any modification of it we are aware of.

We will show that under mild conditions our optimal MS performance synthesis can be solved convexly via separation analogous to the classical \mathcal{H}_{∞} and \mathcal{H}_2 [65]. We will see in what follows that this is highly nontrivial, and does not follow simply from combining existing approaches, e.g. the static gain observer results in [9, 10, 12] with state feedback, or directly using classical \mathcal{H}_2 techniques.

The remainder of this work is primarily devoted to building the necessary machinery to attack, then finally solve this problem. Preliminary results are given in [27, 28, 30, 33, 35, 36].



CHAPTER 5. NETWORKED SPECIAL PROBLEMS

In this chapter we investigate a sequence of problems analogous to the classical special problems: Full Information, Disturbance Feedforward, Full Control, and Output Estimation [61]. In the LTI setting, these problems form the basis for the Youla parameterization of all stabilizing controllers and closed loops for the classical output feedback problem as well as the derivation of the \mathcal{H}_2 separation principle [61, 66].

Under conditions which are automatically satisfied in the standard output feedback scenario, the Full Information and Disturbance Feedforward problems are equivalent in the sense that they have equal optimal \mathcal{H}_2 performance and the same optimal performance closed loop. Similarly, the Full Control and Output Estimation problems are equivalent, and are the dual of the Full Information and Disturbance Feedforward problems respectively.

We will see that not only do the networked special problems we consider share equivalence and duality properties analogous to the classical versions, but they will be just as essential in the derivation of the networked output feedback synthesis theory in Chapter 6.

We begin by defining notions of stabilizability and detectability for given system matrices.

Definition 5. The quadruple (A, B_w, B_u, Σ) is MS stabilizable if there exists an F for which $A_F: \mathbf{S}^n_+ \mapsto \mathbf{S}^n_+$ given by $A_F(X) = (A + B_u F)X(A + B_u F)^T + B_w(\Sigma \circ (FXF^T))B_w^T$ has $\rho(A_F) < 1$.

Definition 6. The quadruple (A, C_z, C_y, Σ) is MS detectable if there exists an L for which $A_L : \mathbf{S}^n_+ \mapsto \mathbf{S}^n_+$ given by $A_L(X) = (A + LC_y)^T X (A + LC_y) + C_z^T (\Sigma \circ (L^T X L)) C_z$ has $\rho(A_L) < 1$.

The classical analog to Definition 5 is that the pair (A, B_u) is stabilizable if there exists an F such that $A + B_u F$ is Schur. Requiring $A + B_u F$ to be Schur is equivalent to requiring $\rho(A + B_u F) < 1$ since the spectral radius of a matrix is trivially the maximum magnitude eigenvalue. Therefore quite sensibly, Definition 5 is equivalent to the classical definition of



 (A, B_u) stabilizable when $\Sigma = 0$. This implies for example that (A, B_w, B_u, Σ) is MS stabilizable only if (A, B_u) is stabilizable. Of course we have the same connections between Definition 6 and the classical notion of a pair (A, C_y) being detectable.

As we proceed through this chapter we will see that (A, B_w, B_u, Σ) MS stabilizable is necessary and sufficient condition for the existence of MS stabilizing controllers for the networked Full Information (FI) and Disturbance Feedforward (DF) problems to follow, and similarly that (A, C_z, C_y, Σ) MS detectable is equivalent to the existence of MS stabilizing controllers for the networked Full Control (FC) and Output Estimation (OE) problems. Additionally, we will show in Chapter 6 that combined MS stabilizability and MS detectability will be equivalent to the existence of MS stabilizing controllers.

5.1 Networked Full Information and Disturbance Feedforward

In this section we investigate networked extensions of the classical FI and DF problems. The networked FI and DF scenarios are depicted in Figure 5.1a and 5.1b respectively. Notice that in each case we consider the actuator link subject to stochastic uncertainty. We formally define these problems next.



(a) Networked Full Information

(b) Networked Disturbance Feedforward

Figure 5.1: Networked FI and DF Synthesis Setups



Problem 2 (Networked Full Information). Let the networked FI synthesis problem have generalized plant given by

$$\mathbf{G}_{\mathsf{FI}} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}}^{+} \\ r \\ z \\ y_{1} \\ y_{2} \\ y_{3} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A & B_{n} & B_{w} & B_{u} \\ \hline C_{r} & D_{rn} & D_{rw} & D_{r} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & I \\ I & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & I & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & I & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & I & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}} \\ n \\ w \\ u \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.1)

with actuator uncertainty represented by $\Delta(k) : z(k) \mapsto w(k)$ having $\operatorname{cov}(\Delta(k)\mathbf{1}) = \Sigma \in \mathbf{B}_{+}^{\eta}$. Let $\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{FI}}$ be the set of all FDLTI controllers making $\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{FI}} = F_{\ell}(F_{\ell}(\mathbf{G}_{\mathbf{FI}}, \mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{FI}}), \Delta)$ MS stable which are strictly proper from y_3 to u, and let $\nu_{FI}^{\star} \triangleq \inf_{\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{FI}} \in \mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{FI}}} \|\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{FI}}\|_{MSP}$.

Problem 3 (Networked Disturbance Feedforward). Let the networked DF synthesis problem have generalized plant given by

$$\mathsf{G}_{\mathsf{DF}}: \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}}^{+} \\ r \\ z \\ y_{1} \\ y_{2} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A & B_{n} & B_{w} & B_{u} \\ \hline C_{r} & D_{rn} & D_{rw} & D_{r} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & I \\ \hline C_{y} & I & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & I & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}} \\ n \\ w \\ u \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.2)

with actuator uncertainty represented by $\Delta(k) : z(k) \mapsto w(k)$ having $\operatorname{cov}(\Delta(k)\mathbf{1}) = \Sigma \in \mathbf{B}_{+}^{\eta}$. Let $\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{DF}}$ be the set of all FDLTI controllers making $\mathbf{H}_{\mathsf{DF}} = \mathbf{F}_{\ell}(\mathbf{F}_{\ell}(\mathsf{G}_{\mathsf{DF}},\mathsf{K}_{\mathsf{DF}}),\Delta)$ MS stable which are strictly proper from y_2 to u, and let $\nu_{DF}^{\star} = \inf_{\mathsf{K}_{\mathsf{DF}}\in\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{DF}}} \|\mathbf{H}_{\mathsf{DF}}\|_{MSP}$.

Next we show that the existence of a MS stabilizing controller for the networked Full Information synthesis in Problem 2 is equivalent to the feasibility of a set of linear matrix inequalities (LMIs), and moreover that we can obtain a static controller with MS performance arbitrarily close to the optimal from feasible variables.



Definition 7. Given \mathbf{G}_{FI} in (5.1) or \mathbf{G}_{DF} in (5.2) with $\operatorname{cov}(\Delta(k)\mathbf{1}) = \Sigma \in \mathbf{B}_{+}^{\eta}$ let $\mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{F}}$ be the feasible set of all $X \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{n}$, $Y \in \mathbf{R}^{m_{u} \times n}$, $J \in \mathbf{R}^{m_{u} \times m_{n}}$, $R \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{l_{r}}$, $Z \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{l_{z}}$, $W \in \mathbf{B}_{++}^{\eta}$ satisfying the LMIs (5.3a)-(5.3d).

$$\begin{bmatrix} X & (AX+B_{u}Y) & (B_{n}+B_{u}J) & B_{w}W \\ (AX+B_{u}Y)^{T} & X & 0 & 0 \\ (B_{n}+B_{u}J)^{T} & 0 & I & 0 \\ (B_{w}W)^{T} & 0 & 0 & W \end{bmatrix} \succ 0$$
(5.3a)
$$\begin{bmatrix} R & (CX+D_{r}Y) & (D_{1}+D_{r}J) & D_{2}W \\ (CX+D_{r}Y)^{T} & X & 0 & 0 \\ (D_{rn}+D_{r}J)^{T} & 0 & I & 0 \\ (D_{rw}W)^{T} & 0 & 0 & W \end{bmatrix} \succ 0$$
(5.3b)
$$\begin{bmatrix} Z & Y & J \\ Y^{T} & X & 0 \\ J^{T} & 0 & I \end{bmatrix} \succ 0$$
(5.3c)
$$\begin{bmatrix} W - \Sigma \circ Z \succ 0$$
(5.3d)

Lemma 2. Given Problem 2, let $\bar{\mathbf{K}}_{\mathbf{FI}} \subseteq \mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{FI}}$ be the admissible static controllers, i.e. all $\bar{\mathsf{K}}_{\mathsf{FI}} \in \mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{FI}}$ with a realization (5.4), and let $\mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{F}}$ be as given in Definition 7. Then

$$\bar{\mathsf{K}}_{\mathsf{FI}}: u = \begin{bmatrix} F & F_0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} y \tag{5.4}$$

(a)
$$\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{FI}} \neq \emptyset \Leftrightarrow \bar{\mathbf{K}}_{\mathbf{FI}} \neq \emptyset \Leftrightarrow \mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{F}} \neq \emptyset$$

(b) $(X, Y, J, R, Z, W) \in \mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{F}} \Rightarrow \bar{\mathbf{K}}_{\mathbf{FI}} = [YX^{-1} J 0] \in \bar{\mathbf{K}}_{\mathbf{FI}} and || \mathbf{F}_{\ell}(\mathbf{F}_{\ell}(\mathbf{G}_{\mathbf{FI}}, \bar{\mathbf{K}}_{\mathbf{FI}}), \Delta) ||_{MSP}^{2} < \operatorname{tr}(R)$
(c) $(\nu_{FI}^{\star})^{2} = \inf_{\mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{F}}} \operatorname{tr}(R)$

Proof in Appendix C.

Now we can show that the existence of a MS stabilizing controller for the networked Full Information problem is equivalent to (A, B_w, B_u, Σ) MS stabilizable, which moreover is equivalent to the feasibility of a simplified set of LMIs.



Corollary 6. $\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{FI}} \neq \emptyset$ if and only if (A, B_w, B_u, Σ) is MS stabilizable, and (A, B_w, B_u, Σ) is MS stabilizable if and only if there exist $X \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^n$, $Y \in \mathbf{R}^{m_u \times n} Z \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{l_z}$, $W \in \mathbf{B}_{++}^\eta$ such that

$$\begin{bmatrix} X & (AX+B_uY) & B_wW\\ (AX+B_uY)^T & X & 0\\ (B_wW)^T & 0 & W \end{bmatrix} \succ 0$$
(5.5a)
$$\begin{bmatrix} Z & Y\\ Y^T & X \end{bmatrix} \succ 0$$
(5.5b)

$$W - \Sigma \circ Z \succ 0 \tag{5.5c}$$

The static controller $\mathbf{\bar{K}}_{FI} = [YX^{-1} \ 0 \ 0] \in \mathbf{\bar{K}}_{FI}$ for any feasible X and Y. Proof in Appendix C.

Corollary 6 implies that the networked FI problem has a MS stabilizing solution if and only if it can be MS stabilized via state feedback, which can be determined by checking the feasibility of a simple set of LMIs: (5.5a)-(5.5c). We will see that the dual problem of networked Full Control will have analogous properties in Section 5.2.

The significance of this may not seem like much at this point, but we will see as we move on that due to the equivalence of the networked FI and FC problems to the networked DF and OE problems, and later the equivalence of the networked output feedback problem in Chapter 6 to a pair of special problems, that we can investigate the existence and limitations of MS stabilizing controllers for the any synthesis problem in this work using compact LMIs.

Next we investigate the limit points of the control gains $F = YX^{-1}$ and $F_0 = J$ in Lemma 2 as $\operatorname{tr}(R) \to (\nu_{FI}^*)^2$. We provide sufficient conditions for the limit points to be well defined and MS stabilizing. We will see that under the given conditions, the optimal control gains F^* and F_0^* as well as the optimal MS performance $\operatorname{cost} \nu_{FI}^*$ can be obtained from the unique positive semidefinite solution to Riccati-like equations. We note that these equations, while having many analogous properties to the standard Riccati equations, are not like their classical counterparts solvable in terms of a matrix pencil [67].

Lemma 3. Given Problem 2 with (A, B_w, B_u, Σ) MS stabilizable, $D_r^T D_r + \Sigma \circ D_{rw}^T D_{rw} \succ 0$, $D_r^T C_r = 0$, and (C_r, A) detectable,


(a) there exists a unique $X^* \succeq 0$ and $R^* \succeq 0$:

$$X^{\star} = A^{T} X^{\star} A + C_{r}^{T} C_{r} - (A^{T} X^{\star} B_{u}) S^{-1} (B_{u}^{T} X^{\star} A)$$
(5.6a)

$$R^{\star} = B_n^T X^{\star} B_n + D_{rn}^T D_{rn} - (B_n^T X^{\star} B_u + D_{rn}^T D_r) S^{-1} (B_u^T X^{\star} B_n + D_r^T D_{rn})$$
(5.6b)

$$S = B_u^T X^* B_u + D_r^T D_r + \Sigma \circ (B_w^T X^* B_w + D_{rw}^T D_{rw})$$
(5.6c)

and controller gains

$$F^{\star} = -S^{-1}(B_u^T X^{\star} A) \tag{5.7a}$$

$$F_0^{\star} = -S^{-1}(B_u^T X^{\star} B_n + D_r^T D_{rn})$$
(5.7b)

such that $\|\mathbf{H}_{\mathsf{FI}}\|_{MSP} = \nu_{FI}^{\star} = \operatorname{tr}(R^{\star})^{\frac{1}{2}}.$

(b) for any $X(0) \succeq 0$, $X^* = \lim_{k \to \infty} X(k)$ where

$$S(k) = B_u^T X(k) B_u + D_r^T D_r + \Sigma \circ (B_w^T X(k) B_w + D_{rw}^T D_{rw})$$
(5.8a)

$$X(k+1) = A^{T}X(k)A + C_{r}^{T}C_{r} - (A^{T}X(k)B_{u})S(k)^{-1}(B_{u}^{T}X(k)A)$$
(5.8b)

Proof in Appendix C.

Based on Lemma 3 we can conclude that optimal MS performance closed loop for the networked FI problem is $H_{FI}^{\star} = F_{\ell}(T_{FI}^{\star}, \Delta) = F_{\ell}(F_{\ell} \, G_{FI}, K_{FI}^{\star}), \Delta)$ where

$$\mathsf{T}_{\mathsf{FI}}^{\star} : \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}}^{+} \\ r \\ z \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A + B_{u} F^{\star} & B_{n} + B_{u} F_{0}^{\star} & B_{w} \\ \hline C_{r} + D_{r} F^{\star} & D_{rn} + D_{r} F_{0}^{\star} & D_{rw} \\ F^{\star} & F_{0}^{\star} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}} \\ n \\ w \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.9)
$$\mathsf{K}_{\mathsf{FI}}^{\star} : u = \begin{bmatrix} F^{\star} & F_{0}^{\star} & 0 \end{bmatrix} y$$
(5.10)

Besides the optimal closed loop, we can also recover any suboptimal MS performance closed loop via Youla-parameterization. This follows directly from standard results on Youlaparameterization of all stable closed loops, e.g. Chapter 12 of [61], combined with Corollary 4 in Chapter 3. That is, since any MS stable stochastic closed loop must have a stable mean closed loop, any mean closed loop which will be MS stable in feedback with Δ is within a subset of all stable mean closed loops.



Proposition 1. If F is such that $A + B_u F$ is Schur, then

(a) any stable, FDLTI $T_{FI} = F_{\ell}(G_{FI}, K_{FI})$ can be realized as $T_{FI} = F_{\ell}(U_{FI}, Q)$ where U_{FI} has the realization

$$\mathbf{U}_{\mathsf{FI}}: \begin{bmatrix} \hat{x}^{+} \\ r \\ z \\ n \\ w \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{A + B_{u}F} & B_{n} & B_{w} & B_{u} \\ \hline C_{r} + D_{r}F & D_{rn} & \bar{D}_{rw} & D_{r} \\ F & 0 & 0 & I \\ 0 & I & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & I & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}} \\ n \\ w \\ q \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.11)

(b) any MS stable $H_{FI}=F_\ell(T_{FI},\Delta)$ can be realized as $H_{FI}=F_\ell(F_\ell(U_{FI},Q),\Delta)$

for some stable, FDLTI system Q.

It is easily verified that for any $T_{FI} = F_{\ell}(G_{FI}, K_{FI})$ and Q where $T_{FI} = F_{\ell}(U_{FI}, Q)$, if $K_{FI} \in \mathbf{K}_{FI}$ then Q must have the structure (5.12).

$$\mathbf{Q}: \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathbf{Q}}^{+} \\ q \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{\mathbf{Q}} & B_{\mathbf{Q}_{1}} & B_{\mathbf{Q}_{2}} \\ \hline C_{\mathbf{Q}} & D_{\mathbf{Q}_{1}} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathbf{Q}} \\ n \\ w \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.12)

with A_{Q} Schur.

Finally before addressing the networked DF problem, we point out that the optimal control in Lemma 3 is in fact optimal for a set of networked FI closed loops: namely those which are equivalently affected by exogenous noise having any positive definite covariance.

Proposition 2. Given a networked FI synthesis in Problem 3 where G_{FI} in (5.1) meets the conditions of Lemmas 3, let F^* , F_0^* be as given in (5.7), and K_{FI^*} be as given in (5.10). Then

$$\| \mathbf{F}_{\ell}(\mathbf{F}_{\ell}(\mathsf{G}_{\mathsf{FI}},\mathsf{K}_{\mathsf{FI}}^{\star}),\Delta) N^{\frac{1}{2}} \|_{MSP} \leq \| \mathbf{F}_{\ell}(\mathbf{F}_{\ell}(\mathsf{G}_{\mathsf{FI}},\mathsf{K}_{\mathsf{FI}}),\Delta) N^{\frac{1}{2}} \|_{MSP}$$
(5.13)

for any $N \succ 0$ and any $K_{FI} \in \mathbf{K}_{FI}$.

Proof in Appendix C.

Now we move on to the networked DF problem. We will see that analogous to the classical case, under a standard assumption it is equivalent to networked FI.



(a) $\mathbf{K}_{\mathrm{DF}} \neq \emptyset \Leftrightarrow \mathbf{M}_{\mathrm{F}} \neq \emptyset$ (b) $if(X,Y,J,R,Z,W) \in \mathbf{M}_{\mathrm{F}}, F = YX^{-1}, F_0 = J, and$ $\bar{\mathbf{K}}_{\mathrm{DF}}: \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathrm{K}}^+ \\ u \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{A + B_u F - B_n C_y - B_u F_0 C_y & B_n + B_u F_0 & B_w \\ F - F_0 C_y & F_0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathrm{K}} \\ y_1 \\ y_2 \end{bmatrix}$ (5.14)

then $\bar{\mathsf{K}}_{\mathsf{DF}} \in \mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{DF}}$ and $\| F_{\ell}(F_{\ell}(\mathsf{G}_{\mathsf{DF}}, \bar{\mathsf{K}}_{\mathsf{DF}}), \Delta) \|_{MSP}^2 < \operatorname{tr}(R)$

$$(c) \ (\nu_{DF}^{\star})^2 = \inf_{\mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{F}}} \operatorname{tr}(R)$$

Proof in Appendix C.

Remark 2. Note that if $A-B_nC_y$ is Schur in the networked DF synthesis, the existence of MS stabilizing controllers is governed by identical conditions as the networked FI problem. Moreover performing the networked FI synthesis to obtain F and F₀ and forming K_{DF} in (5.14) yields the same closed loop and cost for the networked DF problem as the networked FI scenario. This is the the equivalence of the networked FI and DF problems.

We now state several consequences of the networked FI/DF equivalence.

Corollary 7. Given the networked FI and DF problems, i.e. Problems 2 and 3, if $A-B_nC_y$ Schur, then $\nu_{FI}^{\star} = \nu_{DF}^{\star}$.

Corollary 8. $\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{DF}} \neq \emptyset$ if and only if (A, B_w, B_u, Σ) is MS stabilizable, and (A, B_w, B_u, Σ) is MS stabilizable if and only if there exist $X \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^n$, $Y \in \mathbf{R}^{m_u \times n}$ $Z \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{l_z}$, $W \in \mathbf{B}_{++}^{\eta}$ satisfying

$$\begin{bmatrix} X & (AX+B_uY) & B_wW\\ (AX+B_uY)^T & X & 0\\ (B_wW)^T & 0 & W \end{bmatrix} \succ 0$$
(5.15a)

$$\begin{bmatrix} Z & Y \\ Y^T & X \end{bmatrix} \succ 0 \tag{5.15b}$$

 $W - \Sigma \circ Z \succ 0 \tag{5.15c}$



Based on Lemma 3 and Corollary 7 we can conclude that optimal MS performance closed loop for the networked DF problem is $\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{DF}}^{\star} = F_{\ell}(\mathsf{T}_{\mathsf{DF}}^{\star}, \Delta) = F_{\ell}(\mathsf{F}_{\ell} \mathsf{G}_{\mathsf{DF}}, \mathsf{K}_{\mathsf{DF}}^{\star}), \Delta)$ where

$$\mathsf{T}_{\mathsf{DF}}^{\star} : \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}}^{+} \\ r \\ z \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A + B_{u} F^{\star} & B_{n} + B_{u} F_{0}^{\star} & B_{w} \\ \hline C_{r} + D_{r} F^{\star} & D_{rn} + D_{r} F_{0}^{\star} & D_{rw} \\ F^{\star} & F_{0}^{\star} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}} \\ n \\ w \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.16)

$$\mathsf{K}_{\mathsf{DF}}^{\star}: \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{K}}^{+} \\ u \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A + B_{u}F^{\star} - B_{n}C_{y} - B_{u}F_{0}^{\star}C_{y} & B_{n} + B_{u}F_{0}^{\star} & B_{w} \\ F^{\star} - F_{0}^{\star}C_{y} & F_{0}^{\star} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{K}} \\ y_{1} \\ y_{2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.17)

The next results follow from the corresponding networked FI results in Propositions 3 and 2 using analogous arguments combined with the equivalence of the networked FI and DF problems.

Proposition 3. If F is such that $A + B_u F$ is Schur, then

(a) any stable, FDLTI $T_{DF} = F_{\ell}(G_{DF}, K_{DF})$ can be realized as $T_{DF} = F_{\ell}(U_{DF}, Q)$ where U_{DF} has the realization

$$U_{\rm DF}: \begin{bmatrix} \hat{x}^{+} \\ r \\ z \\ n \\ w \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A + B_{u}F & B_{n} & B_{w} & B_{u} \\ \hline C_{r} + D_{r}F & D_{rn} & \bar{D}_{rw} & D_{r} \\ F & 0 & 0 & I \\ 0 & I & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & I & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\rm G} \\ n \\ w \\ q \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.18)

(b) any MS stable $H_{DF} = F_{\ell}(T_{DF}, \Delta)$ can be realized as $H_{DF} = F_{\ell}(F_{\ell}(U_{DF}, Q), \Delta)$

for some stable, FDLTI system Q.

It is easily verified that for any $T_{DF} = F_{\ell}(G_{DF}, K_{DF})$ and Q where $T_{DF} = F_{\ell}(U_{DF}, Q)$, if $K_{DF} \in \mathbf{K}_{DF}$ then Q must have the structure (5.19).

$$\mathbf{Q}: \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathbf{Q}}^{+} \\ q \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{\mathbf{Q}} & B_{\mathbf{Q}_{1}} & B_{\mathbf{Q}_{2}} \\ \hline C_{\mathbf{Q}} & D_{\mathbf{Q}_{1}} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathbf{Q}} \\ n \\ w \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.19)

with A_{Q} Schur.



Proposition 4. Given a networked DF synthesis in Problem 3 where G_{DF} in (5.2) meets the conditions of Lemmas 3 and 4, let F^* , F_0^* be as given in Lemma 3, and K_{DF}^* be as given in (5.17). Then

$$\|\operatorname{F}_{\ell}(\operatorname{F}_{\ell}(\mathsf{G}_{\mathsf{DF}},\mathsf{K}_{\mathsf{DF}}^{\star}),\Delta)N^{\frac{1}{2}}\|_{\scriptscriptstyle MSP} \le \|\operatorname{F}_{\ell}(\operatorname{F}_{\ell}(\mathsf{G}_{\mathsf{DF}},\mathsf{K}_{\mathsf{DF}}),\Delta)N^{\frac{1}{2}}\|_{\scriptscriptstyle MSP}$$
(5.20)

for any $N \succ 0$ and any $\mathsf{K}_{\mathsf{DF}} \in \mathbf{K}_{\mathsf{DF}}$.

Remark 3. Although it can be shown the networked DF problem can be solved convexly without assuming $A-B_nC_y$ is Schur, here we are only interested in the case with this assumption. First it simplifies the solution by guaranteeing the equivalence to the FI problem, and second we will see it is automatically met when we apply networked DF theory in Theorem 2.

Existence of Equivalent Optimal \mathcal{H}_2 Performance Solutions 5.1.0.1

Before moving on to the dual problems of networked Full Control and Output Estimation, we briefly address the existence of \mathcal{H}_2 performance synthesis problems for which the standard Riccati solutions, optimal control gains, and optimal performance cost coincide with the networked Full Information and Disturbance Feedforward problems.

Although we will see that these equivalent \mathcal{H}_2 synthesis problems have little practical significance since they are formulated using an already known solution of the respective networked problems, the property that these problems exist and have equivalent solutions is of some theoretical interest and will be especially useful later on when we derive the optimal controller for the networked Output Feedback synthesis problem in Chapter 6.

Problem 4 (Augmented Full Information \mathcal{H}_2). Let the augmented FI \mathcal{H}_2 synthesis problem have generalized plant given by

$$\hat{\mathsf{G}}_{\mathsf{F}}: \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}}^+\\r_1\\r_2\\y_1\\y_2 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A & B_n & B_u\\ \hline C_r & D_{rn} & D_r\\0 & 0 & V^{\frac{1}{2}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}}\\n\\u \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.21)
$$\begin{bmatrix} I\\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} I\\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0\\ 0\\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1\\ 0\\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0\\ 0\\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.21)

where $V \in \mathbf{S}_{+}^{l_z}$.

Problem 5 (Augmented Disturbance Feedforward \mathcal{H}_2). Let the augmented DF \mathcal{H}_2 synthesis problem have generalized plant given by

$$\hat{\mathsf{G}}_{\mathsf{DF}} \colon \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}}^+ \\ r_1 \\ r_2 \\ y \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A & B_n & B_u \\ \hline C_r \\ 0 & D_{rn} \\ 0 & V^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ C_y & I & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}} \\ n \\ u \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.22)

where $V \in \mathbf{S}_{+}^{l_z}$, and the matrix $A - B_n C_y$ is Schur.

For Problem 4 and Problem 5, let the optimal closed loop \mathcal{H}_2 performance be $\gamma_{FI}^{\star} = \gamma_{DF}^{\star}$, and under the assumptions of Lemma 3, let \hat{X} be the standard [66] Riccati equation solution and \hat{F} and \hat{F}_0 be the optimal control gains.

Lemma 5. Given the Networked FI or DF synthesis in Problem 2 or 3 with the conditions of Lemma 3, let X^* , R^* , F^* , F_0^* , and $\nu_{FI}^* = \nu_{DF}^*$ be the optimal solution in Lemma 3, and let $V = \Sigma \circ (B_w^T X^* B_w + D_{rw}^T D_{rw})$ in Problem 4 or 5. Then $X^* = \hat{X}$, the optimal cost $\nu_{FI}^* = \gamma_{FI}^* = \nu_{DF}^* = \gamma_{DF}^*$, and the optimal control gains $F^* = \hat{F}$ and $F_0^* = \hat{F}_0$.

Proof in Appendix C.

5.2 Networked Full Control and Output Estimation

In this section we investigate networked extensions of the classical FC and OE problems. The networked FC and OE scenarios are depicted in Figure 5.2a and 5.2b respectively. Notice that in each case we consider the sensor link subject to stochastic uncertainty.

We point out that these problems are the dual problems of the networked FI and DF problems we studied in Section 5.1. As a consequence, all results in this section follow those in Section 5.1 by duality, and we will give more limited discussion since much of it would be effectively redundant.





Figure 5.2: Networked FC and OE Synthesis Setups

Problem 6 (Networked Full Control). Let the networked FC synthesis problem have generalized plant given by

$$G_{FC}: \begin{bmatrix} x_{G}^{+} \\ r \\ z \\ y \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A & B_{n} & 0 & I & 0 & 0 \\ \hline C_{r} & D_{rn} & 0 & 0 & I & 0 \\ C_{z} & D_{zn} & 0 & 0 & 0 & I \\ C_{y} & D_{n} & I & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{G} \\ n \\ w \\ u_{1} \\ u_{2} \\ u_{3} \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.23)

with sensor uncertainty represented by $\Delta(k) : z(k) \mapsto w(k)$ having $\operatorname{cov}(\Delta(k)\mathbf{1}) = \Sigma \in \mathbf{B}_{+}^{\eta}$. Let \mathbf{K}_{FC} be the set of all FDLTI controllers making $\mathbf{H}_{FC} = F_{\ell}(F_{\ell}(\mathbf{G}_{FC}, \mathbf{K}_{FC}), \Delta)$ MS stable which are strictly proper from y to u_3 , and let $\nu_{FC}^{\star} \triangleq \inf_{\mathbf{K}_{FC} \in \mathbf{K}_{FC}} \|\mathbf{H}_{FC}\|_{MSP}$.

Problem 7 (Networked Output Estimation (OE)). Let the networked OE synthesis problem have generalized plant given by

$$\mathbf{G}_{\mathsf{OE}} \colon \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}}^{+} \\ r \\ z \\ y \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A & B_{n} & 0 & B_{u} & 0 \\ \hline C_{r} & D_{rn} & 0 & I & 0 \\ C_{z} & D_{zn} & 0 & 0 & I \\ C_{y} & D_{n} & I & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}} \\ n \\ w \\ u_{1} \\ u_{2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.24)



with sensor uncertainty represented by $\Delta(k) : z(k) \mapsto w(k)$ with $\operatorname{cov}(\Delta(k)\mathbf{1}) = \Sigma \in \mathbf{B}_{+}^{\eta}$. Let \mathbf{K}_{OE} be the set of all FDLTI controllers making $\mathbf{H}_{OE} = F_{\ell}(F_{\ell}(\mathbf{G}_{OE}, \mathbf{K}_{OE}), \Delta)$ MS stable which are strictly proper from y to u_2 , and let $\nu_{OE}^{\star} \triangleq \inf_{\mathbf{K}_{OE} \in \mathbf{K}_{OE}} \|\mathbf{H}_{OE}\|_{MSP}$.

Definition 8. Given G_{FC} in (5.23) or G_{OE} in (5.24) with $cov(\Delta(k)\mathbf{1}) = \Sigma \in \mathbf{B}^{\eta}_{+}$ let $\mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{L}}$ be the feasible set of all $X \in \mathbf{S}^{n}_{+}$, $Y \in \mathbf{R}^{n \times l_{y}}$, $J \in \mathbf{R}^{l_{r} \times l_{y}}$, $R \in \mathbf{S}^{l_{r}}_{+}$, $Z \in \mathbf{S}^{l_{z}}_{+}$, $W \in \mathbf{B}^{\eta}_{+}$ satisfying the LMIs (5.25a)-(5.25d).

$$\begin{bmatrix} X & (XA + YC_y)^T & (C_r + JC_y)^T & (WC_y)^T \\ XA + YC_y & X & 0 & 0 \\ C_r + JC_y & 0 & I & 0 \\ WC_y & 0 & 0 & W \end{bmatrix} \succ 0$$
(5.25a)
$$\begin{bmatrix} R & (XB_n + YD_n)^T & (D_{rn} + JD_n)^T & (WD_n)^T \\ XB_n + YD_n & X & 0 & 0 \\ D_{rn} + JD_n & 0 & I & 0 \\ WD_n & 0 & 0 & W \end{bmatrix} \succ 0$$
(5.25b)
$$\begin{bmatrix} Z & Y^T & J^T \\ Y & X & 0 \\ J & 0 & I \end{bmatrix} \succ 0$$
(5.25c)
$$W - \Sigma \circ Z \succ 0$$
(5.25d)

As with the FI problem, we begin by showing that the existence of a MS stabilizing controller for the networked Full Control synthesis in Problem 6 is equivalent to an LMI feasibility problem, and that we can obtain a static controller with MS performance arbitrarily close to the optimal from the feasible set.



Lemma 6. Given Problem 6, let $\bar{\mathbf{K}}_{FC} \subseteq \mathbf{K}_{FC}$ be the admissible static controllers, i.e. all $\bar{\mathbf{K}}_{FC} \in \mathbf{K}_{FC}$ with a realization (5.26), and let \mathbf{M}_{L} be as given in Definition 8. Then

$$\bar{\mathsf{K}}_{\mathsf{FC}} : u = \begin{bmatrix} L \\ L_0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} y \tag{5.26}$$

(a) $\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{FC}} \neq \emptyset \Leftrightarrow \bar{\mathbf{K}}_{\mathbf{FC}} \neq \emptyset \Leftrightarrow \mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{L}} \neq \emptyset$

(b)
$$(X,Y,J,R,Z,W) \in \mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{L}} \Rightarrow \bar{\mathbf{K}}_{\mathsf{FC}} = \begin{bmatrix} X^{-1}Y^T \\ J^T \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \in \bar{\mathbf{K}}_{\mathsf{FC}} \text{ and } \| \mathbf{F}_{\ell}(\mathbf{F}_{\ell}(\mathbf{G}_{\mathsf{FC}},\bar{\mathbf{K}}_{\mathsf{FC}}),\Delta) \|_{MSP}^2 < \operatorname{tr}(R)$$

(c) $(\nu_{FC}^{\star})^2 = \inf_{\mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{L}}} \operatorname{tr}(R)$

Analogous to the networked FI case, we can show that the existence of a MS stabilizing controller for the networked Full Control problem is equivalent to (A, C_z, C_y, Σ) MS detectable, which moreover is equivalent to the feasibility of a simplified set of LMIs.

Corollary 9. $\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{FC}} \neq \emptyset$ if and only if (A, C_z, C_y, Σ) is MS detectable, and (A, C_z, C_y, Σ) is MS detectable if and only if there exist $X \in \mathbf{S}^n_+$, $Y \in \mathbf{R}^{n \times l_y}$, $Z \in \mathbf{S}^{l_z}_+$, and $W \in \mathbf{B}^\eta_+$ such that

$$\begin{bmatrix} X & (XA + YC_y)^T & (WC_y)^T \\ XA + YC_y & X & 0 \\ WC_y & 0 & W \end{bmatrix} \succ 0$$
(5.27a)
$$\begin{bmatrix} Z & Y^T \\ Y & X \end{bmatrix} \succ 0$$
(5.27b)

$$W - \Sigma \circ Z \succ 0 \tag{5.27c}$$

The static controller $\mathbf{\bar{K}}_{FC} = \begin{bmatrix} X^{-1}Y^T \\ J^T \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \in \mathbf{\bar{K}}_{FC}$ for any feasible X and Y.

As in Section 5.1 we next investigate the limit points of MS stabilizing control gains.

Lemma 7. Given Problem 6 with (A, C_z, C_y, Σ) MS detectable, $D_n D_n^T + \Sigma \circ D_{zn} D_{zn}^T \succ 0$, $D_n B_n^T = 0$, and (A, B_n) stabilizable,



(a) there exists a unique $X^* \succeq 0$ and $R^* \succeq 0$:

$$X^{\star} = AX^{\star}A^{T} + B_{n}B_{n}^{T} - (AX^{\star}C_{y}^{T})S^{-1}(C_{y}X^{\star}A^{T})$$
(5.28a)

$$R^{\star} = C_r X^{\star} C_r^T + D_{rn} D_{rn}^T - (C_r X^{\star} C_y^T + D_{rn} D_n^T) S^{-1} (C_y X^{\star} C_r^T + D_n D_{rn}^T)$$
(5.28b)

$$S = C_y X^* C_y^T + D_n D_n^T + \Sigma \circ (C_z X^* C_z^T + D_{zn} D_{zn}^T)$$
(5.28c)

and controller gains

$$L^{\star} = -(AX^{\star}C_y^T)S^{-1}$$
 (5.29a)

$$L_0^{\star} = -(C_r X^{\star} C_y^T + D_{rn} D_n^T) S^{-1}$$
 (5.29b)

such that $\|\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{FC}}\|_{MSP} = \nu_{FC}^{\star} = \operatorname{tr}(R^{\star})^{\frac{1}{2}}.$

(b) for any $X(0) \succeq 0$, $X^* = \lim_{k \to \infty} X(k)$ where

$$S(k) = C_y X(k) C_y^T + D_n D_n^T + \Sigma \circ (C_z X(k) C_z^T + D_{zn} D_{zn}^T)$$
(5.30a)

$$X(k+1) = AX(k)A^{T} + B_{n}B_{n}^{T} - (AX(k)C_{y}^{T})S^{-1}(C_{y}X(k)A^{T})$$
(5.30b)

Based on Lemma 7 we can conclude that optimal MS performance closed loop for the networked FC problem is $H_{FC}^{\star} = F_{\ell}(T_{FC}^{\star}, \Delta) = F_{\ell}(F_{\ell} G_{FC}, K_{FC}^{\star}), \Delta)$ where

$$\Gamma_{\text{FC}}^{\star} : \begin{bmatrix} x_{\text{G}}^{+} \\ r \\ z \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A + L^{\star}C_{y} & B_{n} + L^{\star}D_{n} & L^{\star} \\ \hline C_{r} + L_{0}^{\star}C_{y} & D_{rn} + L_{0}^{\star}D_{n} & L_{0}^{\star} \\ \hline C_{z} & D_{zn} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\text{G}} \\ n \\ w \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.31)
$$K_{\text{FC}}^{\star} : u = \begin{bmatrix} L^{\star} \\ L_{0}^{\star} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} y$$
(5.32)

Proposition 5. If L is such that $A + LC_y$ is Schur, then



(a) any stable, FDLTI $T_{FC}={\rm F}_\ell(G_{FC},K_{FC})$ can be realized as $T_{FC}={\rm F}_\ell(U_{FC},Q)$ where U_{FC} has the realization

$$U_{FC}: \begin{bmatrix} x_{G}^{+} \\ r \\ z \\ s \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A + LC_{y} & B_{n} + LD_{n} & L & 0 & 0 \\ \hline C_{r} & D_{rn} & 0 & I & 0 \\ C_{z} & D_{zn} & 0 & 0 & I \\ C_{y} & D_{n} & I & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{G} \\ n \\ w \\ q_{1} \\ q_{2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.33)

(b) any MS stable $H_{FC} = F_{\ell}(T_{FC}, \Delta)$ can be realized as $H_{FC} = F_{\ell}(F_{\ell}(U_{FC}, Q), \Delta)$

for some stable, FDLTI system Q.

It is easily verified that for any $T_{FC} = F_{\ell}(G_{FC}, K_{FC})$ and Q where $T_{FC} = F_{\ell}(U_{FC}, Q)$, if $K_{FC} \in \mathbf{K}_{FC}$ then Q must have the structure (5.34).

$$\mathbf{Q}:\begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathbf{Q}}^{+} \\ q_{1} \\ q_{2} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{\mathbf{Q}} & B_{\mathbf{Q}} \\ \hline \begin{bmatrix} C_{\mathbf{Q}_{1}} \\ C_{\mathbf{Q}_{2}} \end{bmatrix} & \begin{bmatrix} D_{\mathbf{Q}_{1}} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathbf{Q}} \\ y \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.34)

with A_{Q} Schur.

Before addressing the networked OE problem, as with the networked FI scenario, the optimal control in Lemma 7 is in fact optimal for a set of networked FC closed loops.

Proposition 6. Given a networked FC synthesis in Problem 3 where G_{FC} in (5.23) meets the conditions of Lemmas 7, let L^* , L_0^* be as given in (5.29), and K_{FC^*} be as given in (5.32). Then

$$\|N^{\frac{1}{2}} \operatorname{F}_{\ell}(\operatorname{F}_{\ell}(\mathsf{G}_{\mathsf{FC}},\mathsf{K}_{\mathsf{FC}}^{\star}),\Delta)\|_{MSP} \leq \|N^{\frac{1}{2}} \operatorname{F}_{\ell}(\operatorname{F}_{\ell}(\mathsf{G}_{\mathsf{FC}},\mathsf{K}_{\mathsf{FC}}),\Delta)\|_{MSP}$$
(5.35)

for any $N \succ 0$ and any $K_{FC} \in \mathbf{K}_{FC}$.

Next we move on to the networked OE problem. We will see that just as with the networked FI and DF problems studied in Section 5.1, the networked OE problem is equivalent to the networked FC problem given a standard assumption, and moreover is the dual of the networked DF problem .



Lemma 8. Given Problem 7 with $A-B_uC_r$ Schur, let $\mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{L}}$ be as given in Definition 8. Then

- (a) $\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{OE}} \neq \emptyset \Leftrightarrow \mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{L}} \neq \emptyset$
- (b) if $(X,Y,J,R,Z,W) \in \mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{L}}, \ L = X^{-1}Y^{T}, \ L_{0} = J^{T}$ and

$$\bar{\mathsf{K}}_{\mathsf{OE}} \colon \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{K}}^{+} \\ u_{1} \\ u_{2} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A + LC_{y} - B_{u}C_{r} - B_{u}L_{0}C_{y} & L - B_{u}L_{0} \\ \hline C_{r} + L_{0}C_{y} & L_{0} \\ \hline C_{y} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{K}} \\ y \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.36)

then $\bar{\mathsf{K}}_{\mathsf{OE}} \in \mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{OE}}$ and $\| F_{\ell}(F_{\ell}(\mathsf{G}_{\mathsf{OE}}, \bar{\mathsf{K}}_{\mathsf{OE}}), \Delta) \|_{MSP}^2 < \operatorname{tr}(R)$

$$(c) \ (\nu_{OE}^{\star})^2 = \inf_{\mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{L}}} \operatorname{tr}(R)$$

Remark 4. As with the FI/DF case we have the the FC and OE problems are equivalent when $A-C_rB_u$ is Schur, i.e. the existence of MS stabilizing controllers is governed by identical conditions and the networked OE synthesis can be carried out using the result of a networked FC synthesis to obtain the same closed loop and cost.

We next state several consequences of this equivalence.

Corollary 10. Given Problem 6 and Problem 7 with $A-C_rB_u$ Schur, $\nu_{FC}^{\star} = \nu_{OE}^{\star}$.

Corollary 11. $\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{OE}} \neq \emptyset$ if and only if (A, C_z, C_y, Σ) is MS detectable, and (A, C_z, C_y, Σ) is MS detectable if and only if there exist $X \in \mathbf{S}_+^n$, $Y \in \mathbf{R}^{n \times l_y}$, $Z \in \mathbf{S}_+^{l_z}$, and $W \in \mathbf{B}_+^\eta$ such that

$$\begin{bmatrix} X & (XA + YC_y)^T & (WC_y)^T \\ XA + YC_y & X & 0 \\ WC_y & 0 & W \end{bmatrix} \succ 0$$
(5.37a)

$$\begin{bmatrix} Z & Y^T \\ Y & X \end{bmatrix} \succ 0 \tag{5.37b}$$

$$W - \Sigma \circ Z \succ 0 \tag{5.37c}$$



Based on Lemma 7 and Corollary 10 we can conclude that optimal MS performance closed loop for the networked OE problem is $H_{OE}^{\star} = F_{\ell}(T_{OE}^{\star}, \Delta) = F_{\ell}(F_{\ell} G_{FC}, K_{FC}^{\star}), \Delta)$ where

$$\mathbf{T}_{\mathsf{OE}}^{\star} : \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}}^{+} \\ r \\ z \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{A + L^{\star}C_{y}} & B_{n} + L^{\star}D_{n} & L^{\star} \\ \hline C_{r} + L_{0}^{\star}C_{y} & D_{rn} + L_{0}^{\star}D_{n} & L_{0}^{\star} \\ \hline \overline{C_{z}} & D_{zn} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}} \\ n \\ w \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.38)
$$\bar{\mathsf{K}}_{\mathsf{OE}} : \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{K}}^{+} \\ u_{1} \\ u_{2} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{A + L^{\star}C_{y} - B_{u}C_{r} - B_{u}L_{0}C_{y} & L^{\star} - B_{u}L_{0}^{\star} \\ \hline C_{r} + L_{0}^{\star}C_{y} & L_{0}^{\star} \\ \hline C_{y} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{K}} \\ y \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.39)

Proposition 7. If L is such that $A + LC_y$ is Schur, then

(a) any stable, FDLTI $T_{OE} = F_{\ell}(G_{OE}, K_{OE})$ can be realized as $T_{OE} = F_{\ell}(U_{OE}, Q)$ where U_{OE} has the realization

$$U_{\text{OE}}:\begin{bmatrix} x_{\text{G}}^{+} \\ r \\ z \\ s \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A+LC_{y} & B_{n}+LD_{n} & L & 0 & 0 \\ \hline C_{r} & D_{rn} & 0 & I & 0 \\ C_{z} & D_{zn} & 0 & 0 & I \\ C_{y} & D_{n} & I & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\text{G}} \\ n \\ w \\ q_{1} \\ q_{2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.40)

(b) any MS stable $H_{OE} = F_{\ell}(T_{OE}, \Delta)$ can be realized as $H_{OE} = F_{\ell}(F_{\ell}(U_{OE}, Q), \Delta)$

for some stable, FDLTI system Q.

It is easily verified that for any $T_{OE} = F_{\ell}(G_{OE}, K_{OE})$ and Q where $T_{OE} = F_{\ell}(U_{OE}, Q)$, if $K_{OE} \in \mathbf{K}_{OE}$ then Q must have the structure (5.41).

$$\mathbf{Q} : \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathbf{Q}}^{+} \\ q_{1} \\ q_{2} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{\mathbf{Q}} & B_{\mathbf{Q}} \\ \hline \begin{bmatrix} C_{\mathbf{Q}_{1}} \\ C_{\mathbf{Q}_{2}} \end{bmatrix} & \begin{bmatrix} D_{\mathbf{Q}_{1}} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathbf{Q}} \\ y \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.41)

with A_{Q} Schur.



Proposition 8. Given a networked OE synthesis in Problem 3 where G_{OE} in (5.24) meets the conditions of Lemmas 7 and 8, let L^* , L_0^* be as given in (5.29), and K_{OE^*} be as given in (5.39). Then

$$\|N^{\frac{1}{2}} \operatorname{F}_{\ell}(\operatorname{F}_{\ell}(\mathsf{G}_{\mathsf{OE}},\mathsf{K}_{\mathsf{OE}}^{\star}),\Delta)\|_{\scriptscriptstyle MSP} \le \|N^{\frac{1}{2}} \operatorname{F}_{\ell}(\operatorname{F}_{\ell}(\mathsf{G}_{\mathsf{OE}},\mathsf{K}_{\mathsf{OE}}),\Delta)\|_{\scriptscriptstyle MSP}$$
(5.42)

for any $N \succ 0$ and any $\mathsf{K}_{\mathsf{OE}} \in \mathbf{K}_{\mathsf{OE}}$.

5.2.0.2 Existence of Equivalent Optimal \mathcal{H}_2 Performance Solutions

Again, as with the networked FI and DF problems, we briefly address the existence of \mathcal{H}_2 performance synthesis problems for which the standard Riccati solutions, optimal control gains, and optimal performance cost coincide with the networked FC and OE problems.

Problem 8 (Augmented Full Control \mathcal{H}_2). Let the augmented FC \mathcal{H}_2 synthesis problem have generalized plant

$$\mathbf{G}_{\text{FC}}:\begin{bmatrix} x_{\text{G}}^{+} \\ r \\ y \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A & B_{n} & 0 & I & 0 \\ \hline C_{r} & D_{rn} & 0 & 0 & I \\ C_{y} & D_{n} & W^{\frac{1}{2}} & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\text{G}} \\ n_{1} \\ n_{2} \\ u_{1} \\ u_{2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.43)

where $W \in \mathbf{S}_{+}^{l_z}$.

Problem 9 (Augmented Output Estimation \mathcal{H}_2). Let the augmented OE \mathcal{H}_2 synthesis problem have generalized plant

$$\mathbf{G}_{\mathsf{OE}} \colon \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}}^{+} \\ r \\ y \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A & \begin{bmatrix} B_{n} & 0 \end{bmatrix} & B_{u} \\ \hline C_{r} & \begin{bmatrix} D_{rn} & 0 \end{bmatrix} & I \\ C_{y} & \begin{bmatrix} D_{n} & W^{\frac{1}{2}} \end{bmatrix} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}} \\ n \\ w \\ u_{1} \\ u_{2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.44)

where $W \in \mathbf{S}_{+}^{l_z}$, and the matrix $A - B_u C_r$ is Schur.



For Problem 8 and Problem 9, let the optimal closed loop \mathcal{H}_2 performance be $\gamma_{FC}^{\star} = \gamma_{OE}^{\star}$, and under the assumptions of Lemma 7, let \hat{Y} be the standard [66] Riccati equation solution and \hat{L} and \hat{L}_0 be the optimal control gains.

Lemma 9. Given the Networked FC or OE synthesis in Problem 6 or 7 with the conditions of Lemma 7, let X^* , R^* , L^* , L^*_0 and $\nu_{FC}^* = \nu_{DF}^*$ be the optimal solution in Lemma 7, and let $W = \Sigma \circ (C_z X^* C_z^T + D_{zn} D_{zn}^T)$. Then $X^* = \hat{Y}$, the optimal cost $\nu_{FI}^* = \gamma_{FI}^* = \nu_{DF}^* = \gamma_{DF}^*$, and the optimal control gains $L^* = \hat{L}$ and $L_0^* = \hat{L}_0$.



CHAPTER 6. NETWORKED OUTPUT FEEDBACK

In this chapter we investigate a networked extension of the standard output feedback synthesis. The networked OF scenario is shown in Figure 6.1. Notice that we consider both the actuator link and sensor link subject to stochastic uncertainty. We formally define this problem next.



Figure 6.1: Networked Output Feedback

Problem 10 (Networked Output Feedback). Let the networked OF synthesis problem have generalized plant given by

www.manaraa.com

with uncertainty $\Delta(k) = \operatorname{diag}(\Delta_s(k), \Delta_a(k)) : z(k) \mapsto w(k)$ having $\Sigma = \operatorname{diag}(\Sigma_s, \Sigma_a) = \operatorname{cov}(\Delta(k)\mathbf{1}) \in \mathbf{B}^{\eta}_+$. Let $\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{OF}}$ be the set of all FDLTI controllers with a realization (6.2) making $\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}} = \mathrm{F}_{\ell}(\mathrm{F}_{\ell}(\mathsf{G}_{\mathsf{OF}}, \mathsf{K}_{\mathsf{OF}}), \Delta)$ MS stable, and $\nu_{OF}^{\star} \triangleq \inf_{\mathsf{K} \in \mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{OF}}} \|\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}}\|_{MSP}$.

$$\mathsf{K}_{\mathsf{OF}} : \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{K}}^{+} \\ u_{s} \\ u_{a} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{\mathsf{K}} & B_{\mathsf{K}_{s}} & B_{\mathsf{K}_{a}} \\ B_{\mathsf{K}_{s}} & 0 & 0 \\ B_{\mathsf{K}_{a}} & D_{\mathsf{K}_{as}} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{K}} \\ y_{s} \\ y_{a} \end{bmatrix}$$
(6.2)

Note that the setup in Figure 6.1 is equivalent the setup of Figure 4.2 in Chapter 4. Since we assume each channel mean is known, the unknown information provided by $u_{\mathsf{P}}(k-1) = M_a u_1(k-1) + w_a(k-1)$ is $w_a(k-1)$. Similarly, an input to $y_{\mathsf{P}}(k)$ can be replaced an input into $z_s(k)$. Finally, we can assume without loss of generality identity channel means.

As discussed therein, the problem of Section 4.2 cannot be solved convexly by adapting LMIs of Theorem 1 for synthesis using the standard change of coordinates [64] since doing so does not eliminate all nonlinear coupling between the problem variables. The networked OF synthesis in Problem 10 presents the same difficulty. However, we will show that the optimal solution to Problem 10 can be obtained by solving a sequence of the special problems we studied in Sections 5.1 and 5.2. Then we will see that this solution can be adapted to provide the solution to the optimal MS performance synthesis problem in Chapter 4 as a special case. We begin by building up some preliminary results.

6.1 Suboptimal Networked Output Feedback

We first focus on nominal stabilization of (6.1) and show how any stabilizing controller K_{OF} and any stable $T_{OF} = F_{\ell}(G_{OF}, K_{OF})$ can be realized using standard Youla parameterization techniques. This then allows us to realize any MS stable $H_{OF} = F_{\ell}(T_{OF}, \Delta)$ by Corollary 4.

Proposition 9. If F and L are such that $A+B_uF$ and $A+LC_y$ are Schur, then



(a) any FDLTI causal controller that internally stabilizes G_{OF} in (6.1) can be obtained as the transfer function matrix of $K_{OF} = F_{\ell}(J, Q)$ where J has the realization

$$J: \begin{bmatrix} \hat{x}^{+} \\ u_{s} \\ u_{a} \\ s \\ w_{a} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A + LC_{y} + B_{u}F & \begin{bmatrix} -L & B_{w} \end{bmatrix} & \begin{bmatrix} 0 & B_{u} \end{bmatrix} \\ \begin{bmatrix} -C_{z} \\ F \\ F \\ -C_{y} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} & \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} & \begin{bmatrix} I & 0 \\ 0 & I \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & I \end{bmatrix} & \begin{bmatrix} \hat{x} \\ y_{s} \\ y_{a} \\ q_{1} \\ q_{2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(6.3)

(b) any stable $T_{OF} = F_{\ell}(G_{OF}, K_{OF})$ can obtained via a feedback interconnection:

$$\mathsf{T}_{\mathsf{OF}} = \mathrm{F}_{\ell}(\mathsf{G}_{\mathsf{OF}}, \mathrm{F}_{\ell}(\mathsf{J}, \mathsf{Q})) \tag{6.4}$$

(c) any MS stable $H_{OF} = F_{\ell}(T_{OF}, \Delta)$ can obtained via a feedback interconnection:

$$\mathbf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}} = \mathbf{F}_{\ell}(\mathbf{F}_{\ell}(\mathsf{G}_{\mathsf{OF}}, \mathbf{F}_{\ell}(\mathsf{J}, \mathsf{Q})), \Delta) \tag{6.5}$$

for some stable, FDLTI system Q.

Proof in Appendix D

й للاستشارات

Noting the structure of J in (6.3), it is easily verified that for any $K_{OF} = F_{\ell}(J, Q)$ we have $D_{K} = D_{Q}$. Therefore, recalling (6.2) in Problem 10, any Q which will realize $K_{OF} \in \mathbf{K}_{OF}$ must have the structure (6.6).

$$\mathbf{Q}: \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathbf{Q}}^{+} \\ q_{1} \\ q_{2} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{\mathbf{Q}} & B_{\mathbf{Q}_{1}} & B_{\mathbf{Q}_{2}} \\ \hline C_{\mathbf{Q}_{1}} & 0 & 0 \\ C_{\mathbf{Q}_{2}} & D_{\mathbf{Q}_{21}} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathbf{Q}} \\ s \\ w_{a} \end{bmatrix}$$
(6.6)

Next we show how G_{OF} in (6.1) is equivalent to the interconnection of two simpler subsystems: one corresponding to a FC problem and one corresponding to a DF problem. This then allows us to realize any stable closed loop T_{OF} as the interconnection of FC and DF closed loops.

Proposition 10. For any F and L be such that $A+B_uF$ and $A+LC_y$ are Schur, and any L_0 of compatible dimensions:

(a) G_{OF} in (6.1) is equal to the interconnection of G_{FC} in (6.7) and G_{DF} in (6.8) shown in Figure 6.2, where $r(k) = r_e(k) + r_{\hat{x}}(k)$, and $z_s(k) = z_{s_e}(k) + z_{s_{\hat{x}}}(k)$ as shown.

$$\mathbf{G}_{\mathbf{f}\mathbf{\tilde{c}}} : \begin{bmatrix} e^{+} \\ r_{e} \\ z_{s_{e}} \\ s \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A + LC_{y} & B_{n} + LD_{n} & L \\ \hline C_{r} + L_{0}C_{y} & D_{rn} + L_{0}D_{n} & L_{0} \\ \hline C_{z} & D_{zn} & 0 \\ \hline C_{y} & D_{n} & I \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} e \\ n \\ w_{s} \end{bmatrix}$$
(6.7)
$$\mathbf{G}_{\mathbf{0}\mathbf{\tilde{f}}} : \begin{bmatrix} \hat{x}^{+} \\ r_{\hat{x}} \\ z_{s_{\hat{x}}} \\ z_{a} \\ y_{s} \\ y_{a} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A & -L & B_{w} & 0 & B_{u} \\ \hline C_{r} & -L_{0} & D_{rw} & 0 & D_{r} \\ \hline C_{z} & 0 & 0 & I & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & I \\ \hline C_{y} & I & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & I & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{x} \\ s \\ w_{a} \\ u_{s} \\ u_{a} \end{bmatrix}$$
(6.8)

(b) any stable $T_{OF} = F_{\ell}(G_{OF}, K_{OF})$ can be recovered as the interconnection of G_{FC} and $F_{\ell}(G_{DF}, F_{\ell}(J, Q))$ shown in Figure 6.2, where $K_{OF} = F_{\ell}(J, Q)$ as in Proposition 9.



Figure 6.2: Structure of any stable closed loop T_{OF}

Proof in Appendix D

Now, based on Proposition 10, we show a modified structure for any stable $\mathsf{T}_{\mathsf{OF}}=\mathrm{F}_\ell(\mathsf{G}_{\mathsf{OF}},\mathsf{K}_{\mathsf{OF}})$



Proposition 11. For any F and L be such that $A+B_uF$ and $A+LC_y$ are Schur, and any L_0 of compatible dimensions, any stable $T_{OF} = F_{\ell}(G_{OF}, K_{OF})$ can be realized as the interconnection of G_{FC} , U_{DF} , Q_{11} , Q_{12} , and Q_2 shown in Figure 6.3, where G_{FC} and U_{DF} are given in (6.7) and (6.9) respectively, and $Q = \begin{bmatrix} Q_1 \\ Q_2 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} Q_{11} & Q_{12} \\ Q_{21} & Q_{22} \end{bmatrix}$ has properties given in Proposition 9 with $q_{1_s} = Q_{11}s$, $q_{1_w} = Q_{12}w_a$, and $q_2 = Q_2\begin{bmatrix} s \\ w_a \end{bmatrix}$.

$$U_{\text{DF}}:\begin{bmatrix} \hat{x}^{+} \\ r_{\hat{x}} \\ z_{a} \\ s \\ w_{a} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A + B_{u}F & -L & B_{w} & B_{u} \\ \hline C_{r} + D_{r}F & -L_{0} & D_{rw} & D_{r} \\ F & 0 & 0 & I \\ 0 & I & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & I & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & I & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{x} \\ s \\ w_{a} \\ q_{2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(6.9)



Figure 6.3: Equivalent structure of any stable closed loop T_{OF}

Proof in Appendix D

For convenience, we define a notation which will allow us to refer explicitly to a specific parameterization of T_{OF} .

Notation 1. Given a stable $T_{OF} = F_{\ell}(G_{OF}, K_{OF})$ and a realization of T_{OF} parameterized by F, L, L_0 , and Q, let $T_{OF} = \mathcal{T}_{OF}(F, L, L_0, Q)$.

Definition 9. For Problem 10 let $\mathbf{H}_{OF} = \{ F_{\ell}(F_{\ell}(G_{OF}, K_{OF}), \Delta) \mid K_{OF} \in \mathbf{K}_{OF} \}.$

From here on we will progressively narrow down \mathbf{H}_{OF} to eventually isolate an optimal closed loop. Next we will see that we can restrict our attention to $H_{OF} = F_{\ell}(\mathsf{T}_{OF}, \Delta) \in \mathbf{H}_{OF}$ where

$$\mathsf{T}_{\mathsf{OF}} = \mathcal{T}_{OF}(F, L, L_0, \mathsf{Q}) \text{ with } \mathsf{Q}_{12} = 0.$$

يستشارات

Lemma 10. Given $\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}} = \mathsf{F}_{\ell}(\mathcal{T}_{OF}(F, L, L_0, \mathbb{Q}), \Delta) \in \mathbf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}}, \text{ let } \bar{\mathsf{H}}_{\mathsf{OF}} = \mathsf{F}_{\ell}(\mathcal{T}_{OF}(F, L, L_0, \bar{\mathbb{Q}}), \Delta)$ where $\bar{\mathsf{Q}} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathsf{Q}_{11} & 0 \\ \mathsf{Q}_{21} & \mathsf{Q}_{22} \end{bmatrix}$. Then $\bar{\mathsf{H}}_{\mathsf{OF}} \in \mathbf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}}$ and $\|\bar{\mathsf{H}}_{\mathsf{OF}}\|_{MSP} \leq \|\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}}\|_{MSP}$.

Proof in Appendix D. We use this to define a subset of \mathbf{H}_{OF} .

 $\textbf{Definition 10. Let } \mathbf{H}'_{\mathbf{OF}} = \{ \mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}} = \mathsf{F}_{\ell}(\mathcal{T}_{OF}(F,L,L_0,\mathbb{Q}),\Delta) \in \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{OF}} \ | \ \mathsf{Q}_{12} = 0 \}.$

By Lemma 10 there is no loss of generality in restricting our attention to $H_{OF} \in \mathbf{H}'_{OF}$. Note any $H_{OF} \in \mathbf{H}'_{OF}$ has the structure in Figure 6.4 where \tilde{U}_{FC} has realization (6.10).

$$\tilde{\mathsf{U}}_{\mathsf{FC}}:\begin{bmatrix} e^{+} \\ r_{e} \\ z_{s} \\ s \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A + LC_{y} & B_{n} + LD_{n} & L & 0 \\ \hline C_{r} + L_{0}C_{y} & D_{rn} + L_{0}D_{n} & L_{0} & 0 \\ \hline C_{z} & D_{zn} & 0 & I \\ \hline C_{y} & D_{n} & I & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} e \\ n \\ w_{s} \\ q_{1} \end{bmatrix}$$
(6.10)



Figure 6.4: Structure of any $H_{OF} \in \mathbf{H}'_{OF}$.

From here we often express $H_{OF} = F_{\ell}(T_{OF}, \Delta) \in \mathbf{H}'_{OF}$ as the interconnection of two systems as in Figure 6.4: $F_{\ell}(F_{\ell}(\tilde{U}_{FC}, Q_{11}), \Delta_s)$ and $F_{\ell}(F_{\ell}(U_{DF}, Q_2), \Delta_a)$.

Comparing (6.10) to (5.33) in Proposition 5 and similarly (6.9) to (5.18) in Proposition 3, we can see that $F_{\ell}(F_{\ell}(\tilde{U}_{FC}, Q_{11}), \Delta_s)$ is an element of the subset of all MS stable networked FC closed loops and $F_{\ell}(F_{\ell}(U_{DF}, Q_2), \Delta_a)$ is an element of the set of all MS stable closed loops for a networked DF plant with $B_n = -L$ and $D_{rn} = -L_0$. Therefore, Corollaries 9 and 8 coupled with the implication of Lemma 10 that $\mathbf{H}'_{OF} \neq \emptyset \Leftrightarrow \mathbf{H}_{OF} \neq \emptyset$ gives us the following key result:

Corollary 12. The networked OF synthesis in Problem 10 has a MS stabilizing controller if and only if (A, B_w, B_u, Σ_a) is MS stabilizable and (A, C_z, C_y, Σ_s) is MS detectable.

دستشارات

We define a notation which will allow us to refer explicitly to a specific parameterization.

Notation 2. Given $H_{OF} = F_{\ell}(T_{OF}, \Delta) \in H'_{OF}$ and a realization of T_{OF} parameterized by F, L, L₀, Q₁₁, and Q₂, let

$$\mathcal{H}_{FC}(L, L_0, \mathsf{Q}_{11}, \Delta_s) = \mathcal{F}_{\ell}(\mathcal{F}_{\ell}(\mathsf{U}_{\mathsf{FC}}, \mathsf{Q}_{11}), \Delta_s)$$
(6.11)

$$\mathcal{H}_{DF}(L, L_0, F, \mathsf{Q}_2, \Delta_a) = \mathcal{F}_{\ell}(\mathcal{F}_{\ell}(\mathsf{U}_{\mathsf{DF}}, \mathsf{Q}_2), \Delta_a)$$
(6.12)

We will see under mild conditions, given a $\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}} \in \mathbf{H}'_{\mathsf{OF}}$ there exist \bar{L} and \bar{L}_0 for which $\mathcal{H}_{FC}(\bar{L}, \bar{L}_0, \mathsf{Q}_{11}, \Delta_s)$ and $\mathcal{H}_{DF}(\bar{L}, \bar{L}_0, F, \mathsf{Q}_2, \Delta_a)$ exhibit certain orthogonality properties.

Given any $\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}} \in \mathbf{H}'_{\mathsf{OF}}$, $\bar{W}_s = \lim_{k \to \infty} \mathrm{E}(w_s(k)w_s^T(k))$ is well defined according to Lemma 1(b) since H_{OF} is necessarily MS stable. Given \bar{W}_s , consider the FC \mathcal{H}_2 synthesis with plant (6.13) and $\mathrm{cov}(\bar{n}(k)) = I$:

$$\mathbf{G}_{\mathrm{FC}}^{\tilde{\mathrm{W}}} \colon \begin{bmatrix} \bar{e}^{+} \\ \bar{r} \\ \bar{y} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A & B_{n} & 0 & I & 0 \\ \hline C_{r} & D_{rn} & 0 & 0 & I \\ C_{y} & D_{n} & \bar{W}_{s}^{\frac{1}{2}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & I \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \bar{e} \\ \bar{n}_{1} \\ \bar{n}_{2} \\ u_{1} \\ u_{2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(6.13)

Assume the conditions of Lemma 7 are satisfied, which guarantee the existence of the optimal solution for the above \mathcal{H}_2 synthesis. Let X_r be the standard [66] Riccati equation solution and \bar{L} and \bar{L}_0 be the optimal control gains for this problem, namely

$$X_r = AX_r A^T + B_n B_n^T - (AX_r C_y^T) \bar{S}^{-1} (C_y X_r A^T)$$
$$\bar{S} = (C_y X_r C_y^T + D_n D_n^T + \bar{W}_s)$$

and

$$\bar{L} = -(AX_r C_y^T)(C_y X_r C_y^T + D_n D_n^T + \bar{W}_s)^{-1}$$
(6.14a)

$$\bar{L}_0 = -(C_r X_r C_y^T + D_{rn} D_n^T)(C_y X_r C_y^T + D_n D_n^T + \bar{W}_s)^{-1}$$
(6.14b)

Since we will refer back to these quantities for a given $H_{OF} \in \mathbf{H}'_{OF}$ numerous times, to avoid repetitious mathematical expansions, we define some shorthand notation:



Notation 3. Given any $H_{OF} \in \mathbf{H}'_{OF}$, let $\mathcal{W}(H_{OF}) = \overline{W}_s$

Notation 4. Given any $\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}} \in \mathbf{H}'_{\mathsf{OF}}$ and assuming (6.1) meets the conditions of Lemma 7, let $\mathcal{L}^{\perp}(\bar{W}_s) = \bar{L}, \ \mathcal{L}_0^{\perp}(\bar{W}_s) = \bar{L}_0, \ and \ \mathcal{S}^{\perp}(\bar{W}_s) = \bar{S}.$

Lemma 11. Let (6.1) meet the conditions of Lemma 7. Consider any $H_{OF} \in H'_{OF}$ and let $\bar{W}_s = \mathcal{W}(H_{OF}), \ \bar{L} = \mathcal{L}^{\perp}(\bar{W}_s), \ \bar{L}_0 = \mathcal{L}^{\perp}_0(\bar{W}_s), \ \bar{S} = \mathcal{S}^{\perp}(\bar{W}_s) \ and \ F, \ Q_{11}, \ and \ Q_2 \ be \ any$ parameters recovering H_{OF} as the interconnection of $H_{FC} = \mathcal{H}_{FC}(\bar{L}, \bar{L}_0, Q_{11}, \Delta_s)$ and $H_{DF} = \mathcal{H}_{DF}(\bar{L}, \bar{L}_0, F, Q_2, \Delta_a)$ in Figure 6.4. Then we have

$$\|\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}}\|_{MSP}^2 = \|\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{FC}}\|_{MSP}^2 + \|\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{DF}}\bar{S}^{\frac{1}{2}}\|_{MSP}^2$$
(6.15)

Proof in Appendix D.

It is important to notice that the orthogonal parameterization in Lemma 11 depends on Land \bar{L}_0 , which are completely determined by (6.1), Σ_s , and the \bar{W}_s of the given closed loop. This means that all closed loops with the same \bar{W}_s share the same orthogonalizing gains.

Now recall that the subsystem $H_{DF} = \mathcal{H}_{DF}(\bar{L}, \bar{L}_0, F, Q_2, \Delta_a) = F_{\ell}(F_{\ell}(U_{DF}, Q_2), \Delta_a)$ is an element of the set of all MS stable closed loops for a networked DF plant with $B_n = -L$ and $D_{rn} = -L_0$. Assume the conditions of Lemma 3 are met, and let

$$X_{DF} = A^T X_{DF} A + C_r^T C_r - (A^T X_{DF} B_u) S_{DF}^{-1} (B_u^T X_{DF} A)$$
(6.16a)

$$S_{DF} = B_u^T X_{DF} B_u + D_r^T D_r + \Sigma_a \circ (B_w^T X_{DF} B_w + D_{rw}^T D_{rw})$$
(6.16b)

and

$$F^{\star} = -S_{DF}^{-1}(B_u^T X_{DF} A) \tag{6.16c}$$

$$F'_{0} = S^{-1}_{DF} (B^{T}_{u} X_{DF} \bar{L} + D^{T}_{r} \bar{L}_{0})$$
(6.16d)

Then by Corollary 7 the optimal DF closed loop for this plant is $\mathsf{H}'_{\mathsf{DF}} = \mathcal{H}_{DF}(\bar{L}, \bar{L}_0, F^{\star}, [F_0' \ 0], \Delta_a).$

Notation 5. Given any $H_{OF} \in \mathbf{H}'_{OF}$ with $\bar{W}_s = \mathcal{W}(H_{OF})$ and assuming (6.1) meets the conditions of Lemma 3, let $F'_0 = \mathcal{F}(\bar{W}_s)$.



By Proposition 4 this implies $\|\mathbf{H}_{\mathsf{DF}}\bar{S}^{\frac{1}{2}}\|_{MSP} \ge \|\mathbf{H}_{\mathsf{DF}}'\bar{S}^{\frac{1}{2}}\|_{MSP}$. Therefore, if $\mathbf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}}'$ is the interconnection of \mathbf{H}_{FC} and $\mathbf{H}_{\mathsf{DF}}'$, then it has the same \bar{W}_s , so $\|\mathbf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}}'\|_{MSP}^2 = \|\mathbf{H}_{\mathsf{FC}}\|_{MSP}^2 + \|\mathbf{H}_{\mathsf{DF}}'S^{\frac{1}{2}}\|_{MSP}^2 \Rightarrow \|\mathbf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}}'\|_{MSP} \le \|\mathbf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}}\|_{MSP}$. Based on this we further refine the set of closed loops under consideration.

Definition 11. Let $\mathbf{H}''_{OF} \subset \mathbf{H}'_{OF}$ be the set of all $\mathbf{H}_{OF} \in \mathbf{H}'_{OF}$ which can be parameterized as the interconnection of $\mathbf{H}_{FC} = \mathcal{H}_{FC}(\bar{L}, \bar{L}_0, \mathbf{Q}_{11}, \Delta_s)$ and $\mathbf{H}_{DF} = \mathcal{H}_{DF}(\bar{L}, \bar{L}_0, F^*, [F'_0 \ 0], \Delta_a)$ where $\bar{W}_s = \mathcal{W}(\mathbf{H}_{OF}), \ \bar{L} = \mathcal{L}^{\perp}(\bar{W}_s), \ \bar{L}_0 = \mathcal{L}_0^{\perp}(\bar{W}_s), \ and \ F'_0 = \mathcal{F}(\bar{W}_s).$

Remark 5. Recalling (6.16) we note a point that will be crucial later on: X_{DF} and F^* are completely determined by the plant (6.1) and Σ_a , i.e. these quantities are invariant among all $H_{OF} \in \mathbf{H}''_{OF}$.

The remaining question is which $\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}} \in \mathbf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}}''$ has the optimal MS performance? To enable us to answer this question we next show that the MS performance of any $\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}} \in \mathbf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}}''$ is equal to the optimal \mathcal{H}_2 performance of a problem which is parameterized by a noise covaraince $\bar{W}_s = \mathcal{W}(\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}}).$

Corollary 13. Given any $\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}} \in \mathbf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}}''$, $||\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}}||_{MSP}$ is equal to the optimal \mathcal{H}_2 performance for a standard synthesis problem with generalized plant (6.17) where $\bar{y}(k)$ and $\bar{u}(k)$ are the measurement and control input at time k, $\operatorname{cov}(\bar{n}(k)) = I$, $\bar{V} = \Sigma_a \circ (B_w^T X_{DF} B_w + D_{rw}^T D_{rw})$, and $\bar{W}_s = \mathcal{W}(\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}})$.

$$\mathbf{G}_{\mathsf{OF}}^{\bar{\mathsf{W}}} : \begin{bmatrix} \bar{x}_{\mathsf{G}}^{+} \\ \bar{r}_{1} \\ \bar{r}_{2} \\ \bar{y} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A & B_{n} & 0 & B_{u} \\ \hline C_{r} & D_{rn} & 0 & D_{r} \\ 0 & 0 & \bar{V}^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ C_{y} & D_{n} & \bar{W}^{\frac{1}{2}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \bar{x}_{\mathsf{G}} \\ \bar{n}_{1} \\ \bar{n}_{2} \\ \bar{u} \end{bmatrix}$$
(6.17)

Proof in Appendix D.

Notice \overline{V} in (6.17) is calculated using X_{DF} from (6.16) and therefore, recalling Remark 5, it is invariant among all $\mathsf{H}_{OF} \in \mathbf{H}''_{OF}$. The only part of the plant (6.17) that changes from one element of \mathbf{H}''_{OF} to the next is \overline{W}_s , i.e. an exogenous noise covariance from the \mathcal{H}_2 perspective.



As may be intuitive, we will see next that the optimal networked FC solution provides the minimal \bar{W}_s among those generated in \mathbf{H}''_{OF} . Therefore from Corollary 13, it follows that such solution will lead to the smallest performance.

6.2 Optimal Networked Output Feedback

Definition 12. Given the networked OF synthesis in Problem 10, let (6.1) meet the conditions of Lemmas 3 and 7 be met, and let

$$X_{FC} = AX_{FC}A^{T} + B_{n}B_{n}^{T} - (AX_{FC}C_{y}^{T})S_{FC}^{-1}(C_{y}X_{FC}A^{T})$$
(6.18a)

$$R_{FC} = C_r X_{FC} C_r^T + D_{rn} D_{rn}^T - (C_r X_{FC} C_y^T + D_{rn} D_n^T) S_{FC}^{-1} (C_y X_{FC} C_r^T + D_n D_{rn}^T)$$
(6.18b)

$$S_{FC} = C_y X_{FC} C_y^T + D_n D_n^T + \Sigma_s \circ (C_z X_{FC} C_z^T + D_{zn} D_{zn}^T)$$
(6.18c)

and

$$L^{\star} = -(AX_{FC}C_y^T)S_{FC}^{-1} \tag{6.18d}$$

$$L_0^{\star} = -(C_r X_{FC} C_y^T + D_{rn} D_n^T) S_{FC}^{-1}$$
(6.18e)

$$X_{DF} = A^T X_{DF} A + C_r^T C_r - (A^T X_{DF} B_u) S_{DF}^{-1} (B_u^T X_{DF} A)$$
(6.19a)

$$R_{DF} = L^{\star T} X_{DF} L^{\star} + L_0^{\star T} L_0^{\star} - (L^{\star T} X_{DF} B_u + L_0^{\star T} D_r) S_{DF}^{-1} (B_u^T X_{DF} L^{\star} + D_r^T L_0^{\star})$$
(6.19b)

$$S_{DF} = B_u^T X_{DF} B_u + D_r^T D_r + \Sigma_a \circ (B_w^T X_{DF} B_w + D_{rw}^T D_{rw})$$

$$(6.19c)$$

and

$$F^{\star} = -S_{DF}^{-1}(B_u^T X_{DF} A) \tag{6.19d}$$

$$F_0^{\star} = S_{DF}^{-1} (B_u^T X_{DF} L^{\star} + D_r^T L_0^{\star})$$
(6.19e)

Now we give the main synthesis result in this work which allows us to solve Problem 10 optimally as a sequence of optimal networked FC and DF design steps. A dual characterization exists in terms of a sequence of optimal networked FI and OE design steps, which we omit. We state the result in terms of the Riccati-like quantities of Lemmas 3 and 7 for sake of compactness



and connection to the development and steps in the proofs. However, recall from the discussion in Section 5.1 that the optimal control gains are also obtainable from the limit points of the LMIs in Lemmas 2 and 6 which also establish MS stabilizability and detectability.

Theorem 2. Given Problem 10, let the conditions of Lemmas 3 and 7 be met, then

$$(\nu_{OF}^{\star})^{2} = \| \mathbf{F}_{\ell}(\mathbf{F}_{\ell}(\mathsf{G}_{\mathsf{OF}},\mathsf{K}_{\mathsf{OF}}^{\star}),\Delta) \|_{MSP}^{2} = \operatorname{tr}(R_{FC}) + \operatorname{tr}(S_{FC}R_{DF})$$

where K^{\star}_{OF} has realization

$$\mathsf{K}_{\mathsf{OF}}^{\star} : \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{K}}^{+} \\ u_{s} \\ u_{a} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A + B_{u}F^{\star} + L^{\star}C_{y} - B_{u}F_{0}^{\star}C_{y} & B_{u}F_{0}^{\star} - L^{\star} & B_{w} \\ \hline -C_{z} & 0 & 0 \\ F^{\star} - F_{0}^{\star}C_{y} & F_{0}^{\star} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{K}} \\ y_{s} \\ y_{a} \end{bmatrix}$$
(6.20)

Moreover, $\operatorname{tr}(R_{FC}) = \|\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{FC}}^{\star}\|_{MSP}^2$ where $\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{FC}}^{\star} = \operatorname{F}_{\ell}(\mathsf{T}_{\mathsf{FC}}^{\star}, \Delta_s)$ with

$$\mathsf{T}_{\mathsf{FC}}^{\star} : \begin{bmatrix} x_{FC}^{+} \\ r_{FC} \\ z_{s} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A + L^{\star}C_{y} & B_{n} + L^{\star}D_{n} & L^{\star} \\ \hline C_{r} + L_{0}^{\star}C_{y} & D_{rn} + L_{0}^{\star}D_{n} & L_{0}^{\star} \\ \hline C_{z} & D_{zn} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{FC} \\ n \\ w_{s} \end{bmatrix}$$
(6.21)

and
$$\operatorname{tr}(S_{FC}R_{DF}) = \|\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{DF}}^{\star}S_{FC}^{\frac{1}{2}}\|_{MSP}^{2}$$
 where $\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{DF}}^{\star} = \mathsf{F}_{\ell}(\mathsf{T}_{\mathsf{DF}}^{\star}, \Delta_{s})$ with

$$\mathsf{T}_{\mathsf{DF}}^{\star} : \begin{bmatrix} x_{DF}^{+} \\ r_{DF} \\ z_{a} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{A + B_{u}F^{\star}} & -L^{\star} + B_{u}F_{0}^{\star} & B_{w} \\ \hline C_{r} + D_{r}F^{\star} & -L_{0}^{\star} + D_{r}F_{0}^{\star} & D_{rw} \\ F^{\star} & F_{0}^{\star} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{DF} \\ s \\ w_{a} \end{bmatrix}$$
(6.22)

Proof in Appendix D

لاستشارات

6.3 Networked Output Feedback Implementation

Recall the networked control setup in Figures 4.1 and 4.2, the plant P in (4.1), and the controller \hat{K} in (4.4). It can be verified the optimal controller (6.20) in Theorem 2 is equivalent to

$$\hat{\mathsf{K}} : \begin{bmatrix} x_{\hat{\kappa}}^{+} \\ u_{1} \\ u_{2} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A & -L^{\star}M_{s}^{-1} & AB_{u} \\ \hline -C_{y} & 0 & -C_{y}B_{u} \\ M_{a}^{-1}F^{\star} & M_{a}^{-1}F_{0}^{\star}M_{s}^{-1} & M_{a}^{-1}F^{\star}B_{u} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\kappa} \\ y_{1} \\ \hat{y}_{2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(6.23)

This can be implemented as by having \mathcal{K} store u(k-1) and use $\alpha_a(k)$ to form $\hat{y}_2(k) = \Xi_a(k-1)u(k-1)$, and similarly using $u_1(k)$ and $\alpha_s(k)$ to form $y_1(k) = y(k) + \Xi_s(k)u_1(k)$.

CHAPTER 7. NUMERICAL EXAMPLES

7.1 Network Limitations and Trade-off Analysis

In the following examples we concentrate on multiple-input systems which are stabilizable from each input and study the trade-offs between the uncertainties of the channels. We consider two such systems, and for each compare our numerically calculated boundary to a closed-form result for such systems found in [31, 32].

Example 1. Consider a plant with the following A, B_w and B_u .

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} 1.1006 & -1.4916 & 2.3505 \\ 1.5442 & -0.7423 & -0.6156 \\ 0.0859 & -1.0616 & 0.7481 \end{bmatrix} B_w = \begin{bmatrix} -0.1924 & -1.4023 \\ 0.8886 & -1.4224 \\ -0.7648 & 0.4882 \end{bmatrix} B_u = \begin{bmatrix} -0.1924 & -1.4023 \\ 0.8886 & -1.4224 \\ -0.7648 & 0.4882 \end{bmatrix}$$

This example has one real and two complex conjugate unstable eigenvalues at -1.0362 and $1.0713 \pm 1.404i$ respectively. Figure 7.1 depicts the limitation curve calculated using Corollary 6 for this system in red, as well as the closed-form necessity condition (7.2) found in [31, 32] in blue.

Example 2. Consider a plant with the following A, B_w and B_u .

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} 0.3999 & -0.1768 \\ -0.9300 & -2.1321 \end{bmatrix} \quad B_w = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \quad B_u = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$

This example has a single unstable eigenvalue at -2.1955. Figure 7.2 shows our boundary from Corollary 6 in red and the necessary condition from the literature in blue for this example.

Note that in both figures, the region where the system is mean-square stabilizable is above the calculated boundary. We also note that the limitations curves for the two examples are different from each other. This is an indication that the MIMO limitations are more complex



than in the single input case.



Figure 7.1: Comparison of MS Stabilizability Limitations for Example 1.

We also see from the above examples that the actual limitation curve can be quite different from the necessary curve. Moreover, we see that the necessary condition becomes sufficient on the axes. These points correspond to using only one of the channels, and in this case the limitation reduces to the known single-channel result in [23], namely

$$C = \frac{1}{2} \log \left(1 + \sigma^{-2} \right) > \sum_{i} \log |\lambda_i^{(u)}(A_p)|$$
(7.1)

where $\lambda_i^{(u)}(A_p)$ is the *i*th unstable eigenvalue of A_p . Corresponding results for those situations involving multiple channels have been limited as they have applied the single-input limitation to multiple-input systems. This is done by breaking down the stabilization problem into independent sub-problems each involving a single input and an associated subset of unstable eigenvalues.

In particular, the works [31, 32] have provided the necessary condition for mean-square stabilizability shown in our examples. The condition for a *p*-channel system given in these works is

$$C = \sum_{i=1}^{p} \frac{1}{2} \log \left(1 + \sigma_i^{-2} \right) > \sum_{i} \log |\lambda_i^{(u)}(A_p)|$$
(7.2)





Figure 7.2: Comparison of MS Stabilizability Limitations for Example 2.

This condition can become sufficient for some σ_i^2 , namely when the σ_i^2 can be freely allocated subject only to the overall constraint $\sum_{i=1}^{p} \frac{1}{2} \log (1 + \sigma_i^{-2}) = C$ for some total C. Generally speaking however, (7.2) does not determine the sufficiency of any particular given set of σ_i^2 . Moreover, as we have seen in our examples the allocation that makes condition (11) sufficient is to just use one of the channels when multiple channels can stabilize the same eigenvalues.

In contrast, our results provide the necessary and sufficient boundary curve when all channels are used for stabilization with various σ_i^2 , as well as the feasible region of σ_i^2 sufficient for mean-square stabilizability of the closed loop.

7.2 Westland Lynx Military Helicopter

We consider the linearized model of the Westland Lynx multipurpose British military helicopter from [68]. This system has four inputs: main rotor collective pitch, longitudinal and lateral cyclic pitch, and tail rotor collective pitch. *Roughly speaking*, these inputs control heave motion, longitudinal and lateral motion, and yaw respectively. It is assumed six measurements are available: heave velocity, pitch attitude, roll attitude, heading rate, pitch rate, and roll rate.



The matrices $A \in \mathbf{R}^{n \times n}$, $B_u \in \mathbf{R}^{n \times m}$, and $C_y \in \mathbf{R}^{l \times n}$ are obtained by discretization of the continuous time state space model with a period of 0.01 s. For MS performance synthesis, we partition $r(k) = \begin{bmatrix} r_x(k) \\ r_u(k) \end{bmatrix}$ and $n(k) = \begin{bmatrix} n_x(k) \\ n_y(k) \end{bmatrix}$ and choose a simple¹ set of performance and noise weights: $C_r = \begin{bmatrix} I_n \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} D_{rn} = 0 D_r = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ I_m \end{bmatrix} B_n = \begin{bmatrix} B_u & 0 \end{bmatrix} D_n = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & I_l \end{bmatrix}$ which gives

$$\mathsf{P}: \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{P}}^{+} \\ r_{x} \\ r_{u} \\ y_{\mathsf{P}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A & \begin{bmatrix} B_{u} & 0 \end{bmatrix} & B_{u} \\ \hline I_{n} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & I_{m} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{P}} \\ n_{x} \\ n_{y} \\ 0 & I_{l} \end{bmatrix}$$

Example 3 (Actuator vs. Sensor Dropouts). In Figure 7.3 we show the optimal MS performance as a function of sensor and actuator dropout rate assuming that dropouts on all ten channels are independent. We see a noticeable difference in overall sensitivity to dropout between sensor and actuator links. The MS performance surface approaches infinity much more sharply on the actuator axis than the sensor axis when nearing the boundary of MS stabilizability, but is less affected for lower dropout percentages.



Figure 7.3: MS Performance vs. Dropout Rates

¹Note that we choose these weights for simple illustrative purposes.



Example 4 (Sensor and Actuator Group Dropout). In Figure 7.4 we show the optimal MS performance vs. dropout rate tradeoff curves for sensor and actuator signals. We partition the available sensor readings into groups: heave velocity (e.g. GPS/accelerometer), pitch and roll attitude (e.g. inclinometer), heading rate (e.g. magnetometer), and body pitch and roll rates (e.g. gyroscope). Similarly for the actuators: main rotor collective, longitudinal and lateral cyclic, and tail rotor collective.



Figure 7.4: MS Performance vs. Combined Dropout Rates



APPENDIX A. SOME GENERAL AUXILIARY THEORY

Here we provide some results which will be useful in various proofs in subsequent appendices. We begin by defining a generic liner operator Γ which can be used to describe numerous quantities throughout this work as special cases. We then address the convergence (stability) properties of this operator and existence and uniqueness of solutions to matrix equations involving it.

Definition 13. Let $\Gamma : \mathbf{R}^{m \times n} \mapsto \mathbf{R}^{m \times n}$ be a linear operator $X = \sum_{i}^{M} A_{i}XB_{i}$ for $0 < M \in \mathbf{N}$ **Proposition 12.** Let Γ be as given in Definition 13 and $X(k+1) = \Gamma(X(k))$. Then $X(k) \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$ for any X(0) if and only if $\rho(\Gamma) < 1$.

Proof of Proposition 12. We can vectorize the recursion $X(k+1) = \Gamma(X(k))$ using Kronecker products as $\operatorname{vec}(X(k+1)) = \sum_{i}^{M} (B_{i}^{T} \otimes A_{i}) \operatorname{vec}(X(k))$ where $\rho(\Gamma) < 1$ implies the maximum eigenvalue of the matrix $\sum_{i}^{M} (B_{i}^{T} \otimes A_{i})$ has magnitude less than 1. Therefore this follows from standard linear systems theory.

Proposition 13. If $\rho(\Gamma) < 1$, then the unique solution to $X = \Gamma(X)$ is X = 0.

Proof of Proposition 13. It is trivial to verify X = 0 is a solution. To see that it is unique, assume $Z = \Gamma(Z)$ where $Z \neq 0$. Then Γ has an eigenvalue at 1, which contradicts $\rho(\Gamma) < 1$. \Box

Proposition 14. If $\rho(\Gamma) < 1$ and $Y \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times n}$, then $X = Y + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \Gamma^k(Y)$ is well defined and is the unique solution $X = \Gamma(X) + Y$.

Proof of Proposition 14. Since Γ is linear and $\rho(\Gamma) < 1$, $\Gamma^k(Y) \to 0$ exponentially and therefore $X = Y + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \Gamma^k(Y)$ is well defined. We can then verify $X = \Gamma(X) + Y$ by inspection. To show the uniqueness, assume $Z \neq X$ is such that $Z = \Gamma(Z) + Y$. Then $X - Z = \Gamma(X - Z) \neq 0$ which contradicts Proposition 13.



Now define a special case of the more generic liner operator we just considered, namely the symmetric version. We will see that the stability of this operator can be related to the feasibility of a linear matrix inequality. This concept, which follows from [60], forms the fundamental basis for a large portion of the analysis and synthesis theory in this work.

Definition 14. Let $\Lambda : \mathbf{S}^n \mapsto \mathbf{S}$ be a linear operator $X = \sum_{i=1}^{M} A_i X A_i^T$ for $0 < M \in \mathbf{N}$

Proposition 15. Let Λ be as given in Definition 14 and $X(k+1) = \Lambda(X(k))$. Then $X(k) \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$ for any $X(0) \succeq 0$ if and only if there exists a $Q \succ 0$ such that $Q \succ \Lambda(Q)$.

Proposition 15 follows directly from Chapter 9 of [60].



APPENDIX B. PROOFS AND AUXILIARY THEORY FOR CHAPTER 3

Proof of Lemma 1. (a) Assumption 5 guarantees z(k) and Z(k) are well defined $\forall k \ge 0$ by ensuring $(I - \Delta(k)\bar{D}_{zw})^{-1}$ exists $\forall k \ge 0$. Moreover it keeps $\delta_i(k)$ and the elements of z(k)multiplied by $\delta_i(k)$ in $\Delta(k)z(k)$ independent. This implies

$$W(k) = \mathcal{E}(\Delta(k)z(k)z^{T}(k)\Delta(k)) = \Sigma \circ Z(k)$$
(B.1)

Since $\mathbf{E}(w(k)x^T(k)) = 0$ and $\mathbf{E}(w(k)n^T(k)) = 0 \ \forall \ k \ge 0$ we have $Z(k) = \mathbf{E}(z(k)z^T(k))$ is

$$Z(k) = \bar{C}_z X(k) \bar{C}_z^T + \bar{D}_{zn} N \bar{D}_{zn}^T + \bar{D}_{zw} W(k) \bar{D}_{zw}^T$$
(B.2)

Note (B.1) and (B.2) are (3.1d) and (3.1c) respectively. Similarly calculating R(k) and X(k+1) we get

$$R(k) = \bar{C}_r X(k) \bar{C}_r^T + \bar{D}_{rn} N \bar{D}_{rn}^T + \bar{D}_{rw} W(k) \bar{D}_{rw}^T$$
(B.3)

$$X(k+1) = \bar{A}X(k)\bar{A}^T + \bar{B}_n N\bar{B}_n^T + \bar{B}_w W(k)\bar{B}_w^T$$
(B.4)

which are (3.1b) and (3.1a) respectively.

- (b) This follows from part (a) and Definitions 1 and 2.
- (c) This follows from part (a) and Definitions 1 and 2.

Proof of Corollary 2. Consider two realizations for T formed with matrices

$$(\hat{A}, \hat{B}_n, \hat{B}_w, \hat{C}_r, \hat{D}_{rn}, \hat{D}_{rw}, \hat{C}_z, \hat{D}_{zn}, \hat{D}_{zw})$$
 and $(\tilde{A}, \tilde{B}_n, \tilde{B}_w, \tilde{C}_r, \tilde{D}_{rn}, \tilde{D}_{rw}, \tilde{C}_z, \tilde{D}_{zn}, \tilde{D}_{zw})$

respectively. Because these matrices realize the same transfer function, they produce an identical impulse response. We therefore have that $\forall k \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{D}_{rn} & \hat{D}_{rw} \\ \hat{D}_{zn} & \hat{D}_{zw} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{D}_{rn} & \tilde{D}_{rw} \\ \tilde{D}_{zn} & \tilde{D}_{zw} \end{bmatrix} \text{ and } \begin{bmatrix} \hat{C}_r \\ \hat{C}_z \end{bmatrix} \hat{A}^k \begin{bmatrix} \hat{B}_n & \hat{B}_w \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{C}_r \\ \tilde{C}_z \end{bmatrix} \tilde{A}^k \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{B}_n & \tilde{B}_w \end{bmatrix}$$
(B.5)

Applying Lemma 1 to $H = F_{\ell}(T, \Delta)$ using the first realization gives us that $\forall k \ge 0$

$$\hat{X}(k+1) = \hat{A}\hat{X}(k)\hat{A}^{T} + \hat{B}_{n}N\hat{B}_{n}^{T} + \hat{B}_{w}\hat{W}(k)\hat{B}_{w}^{T}$$
(B.6a)

$$\hat{R}(k) = \hat{C}_r \hat{X}(k) \hat{C}_r^T + \hat{D}_{rn} N \hat{D}_{rn}^T + \hat{D}_{rw} \hat{W}(k) \hat{D}_{rw}^T$$
(B.6b)

$$\hat{Z}(k) = \hat{C}_{z}\hat{X}(k)\hat{C}_{z}^{T} + \hat{D}_{zn}N\hat{D}_{zn}^{T} + \hat{D}_{zw}\hat{W}(k)\hat{D}_{zw}^{T}$$
(B.6c)

$$\hat{W}(k) = \Sigma \circ \hat{Z} \tag{B.6d}$$

Similarly using the second realization we have that $\forall\;k\geq 0$

$$\tilde{X}(k+1) = \tilde{A}\tilde{X}(k)\tilde{A}^T + \tilde{B}_n N\tilde{B}_n^T + \tilde{B}_w \tilde{W}(k)\tilde{B}_w^T$$
(B.7a)

$$\tilde{R}(k) = \tilde{C}_r \tilde{X}(k) \tilde{C}_r^T + \tilde{D}_{rn} N \tilde{D}_{rn}^T + \tilde{D}_{rw} \tilde{W}(k) \tilde{D}_{rw}^T$$
(B.7b)

$$\tilde{Z}(k) = \tilde{C}_z \tilde{X}(k) \tilde{C}_z^T + \tilde{D}_{zn} N \tilde{D}_{zn}^T + \tilde{D}_{zw} \tilde{W}(k) \tilde{D}_{zw}^T$$
(B.7c)

$$\tilde{W}(k) = \Sigma \circ \tilde{Z} \tag{B.7d}$$

Now if $\Sigma = \text{diag}(\sigma_1^2 \mathbf{1}_{\eta_1 \times \eta_1}, \dots, \sigma_q^2 \mathbf{1}_{\eta_q \times \eta_q}) \in \mathbf{B}_+^{\eta}$ and we define the set of matrices

$$\left\{E_1 = \operatorname{diag}(\sigma_1 I_{\eta_1}, 0, \ldots), E_2 = \operatorname{diag}(0, \sigma_2 I_{\eta_2}, 0, \ldots), \ldots, E_q = \operatorname{diag}(0, \ldots, \sigma_q I_{\eta_q})\right\}$$

then we can express $\Sigma \circ \hat{Z}(k)$ and $\Sigma \circ \tilde{Z}(k)$ as $\sum_i E_i \hat{Z}(k) E_i$ and $\sum_i E_i \tilde{Z}(k) E_i$ respectively. Additionally, it is known that if AXB = C then $\operatorname{vec}(AXB) = (B^T \otimes A) \operatorname{vec}(X) = \operatorname{vec}(C)$, where vec is the vectorization operator and \otimes represents the Kronecker product. Using these facts, (B.6a)-(B.6d) and (B.7a)-(B.7d) are equivalent to standard LTI feedback interconnections: $F_{\ell}(\hat{T}, \underline{E})$ and $F_{\ell}(\tilde{T}, \underline{E})$ respectively where

$$\hat{\mathsf{T}}:\begin{bmatrix} \hat{x}^{+}\\ \hat{r}\\ \hat{z} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \underline{\hat{A}} & \underline{\hat{B}}_{n} & \underline{\hat{B}}_{w} \\ \underline{\hat{C}}_{r} & \underline{\hat{D}}_{rn} & \underline{\hat{D}}_{rw} \\ \underline{\hat{C}}_{z} & \underline{\hat{D}}_{zn} & \underline{\hat{D}}_{zw} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{x}\\ \hat{n}\\ \hat{w} \end{bmatrix}$$
(B.8)

$$\tilde{\mathsf{T}}:\begin{bmatrix} \tilde{x}^{+}\\ \tilde{r}\\ \tilde{z} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \underline{\tilde{A}} & \underline{\tilde{B}}_{n} & \underline{\tilde{B}}_{w} \\ \underline{\tilde{C}}_{r} & \underline{\tilde{D}}_{rn} & \underline{\tilde{D}}_{rw} \\ \underline{\tilde{C}}_{z} & \underline{\tilde{D}}_{zn} & \underline{\tilde{D}}_{zw} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{x}\\ \tilde{n}\\ \tilde{w} \end{bmatrix}$$
(B.9)

 $\hat{x}(k) = \text{vec}(\hat{X}(k)), \ \hat{r}(k) = \text{vec}(\hat{R}(k)), \ \hat{z}(k) = \text{vec}(\hat{Z}(k)), \ \hat{n}(k) = \text{vec}(N), \ \hat{w}(k) = \text{vec}(\hat{W}(k)), \ \hat{w}(k) = \text{vec}(\hat{W$

الألم للاستشارات

$$\begin{split} \hat{A} &= \hat{A} \otimes \hat{A} \qquad \hat{\underline{B}}_{n} = \hat{B}_{n} \otimes \hat{B}_{n} \qquad \hat{\underline{B}}_{w} = \hat{B}_{w} \otimes \hat{B}_{w} \\ \hat{\underline{C}}_{r} &= \hat{C}_{r} \otimes \hat{C}_{r} \qquad \hat{\underline{D}}_{rn} = \hat{D}_{rn} \otimes \hat{D}_{rn} \qquad \hat{\underline{D}}_{rw} = \hat{D}_{rw} \otimes \hat{D}_{rw} \\ \hat{\underline{C}}_{z} &= \hat{C}_{z} \otimes \hat{C}_{z} \qquad \hat{\underline{D}}_{zn} = \hat{D}_{zn} \otimes \hat{D}_{zn} \qquad \hat{\underline{D}}_{zw} = \hat{D}_{zw} \otimes \hat{D}_{zw} \\ \tilde{x}(k) &= \operatorname{vec}(\tilde{X}(k)), \ \tilde{r}(k) = \operatorname{vec}(\tilde{R}(k)), \ \tilde{z}(k) = \operatorname{vec}(\tilde{Z}(k)), \ \tilde{n}(k) = \operatorname{vec}(N), \ \tilde{w}(k) = \operatorname{vec}(\tilde{W}(k)), \\ \\ \underline{\tilde{A}} &= \tilde{A} \otimes \tilde{A} \qquad \underline{\tilde{B}}_{n} = \tilde{B}_{n} \otimes \tilde{B}_{n} \qquad \underline{\tilde{B}}_{w} = \tilde{B}_{w} \otimes \tilde{B}_{w} \\ \\ \underline{\tilde{C}}_{r} &= \tilde{C}_{r} \otimes \tilde{C}_{r} \qquad \underline{\tilde{D}}_{rn} = \tilde{D}_{rn} \otimes \tilde{D}_{rn} \qquad \underline{\tilde{D}}_{rw} = \tilde{D}_{rw} \otimes \tilde{D}_{rw} \\ \\ \underline{\tilde{C}}_{z} &= \tilde{C}_{z} \otimes \tilde{C}_{z} \qquad \underline{\tilde{D}}_{zn} = \tilde{D}_{zn} \otimes \tilde{D}_{zn} \qquad \underline{\tilde{D}}_{zw} = \tilde{D}_{zw} \otimes \tilde{D}_{zw} \end{split}$$

and $\underline{E} = \sum_{i=1}^{q} E_i \otimes E_i$.

Recalling (B.5) and the fact that $(A \otimes B)(C \otimes D) = AC \otimes BD$ one can easily verify $\hat{\mathsf{T}} = \tilde{\mathsf{T}}$ which due to standard properties of LFT implies $F_{\ell}(\hat{\mathsf{T}}, \underline{E}) = F_{\ell}(\tilde{\mathsf{T}}, \underline{E})$. Moreover, $\hat{n}(k) = \tilde{n}(k) \forall k \ge 0$. Therefore, if we start from $\hat{x}(0) = 0$ and $\tilde{x}(0) = 0$ then we necessarily have that $\hat{r}(k) = \tilde{r}(k), \hat{z}(k) = \tilde{z}(k)$, and $\hat{w}(k) = \tilde{w}(k) \forall k \ge 0$. Finally, we know that the steady state limits will be invariant with respect to initial conditions, and we conclude $\lim_{k\to\infty} \hat{R}(k) = \lim_{k\to\infty} \tilde{R}(k), \lim_{k\to\infty} \hat{Z}(k) = \lim_{k\to\infty} \tilde{Z}(k)$, and $\lim_{k\to\infty} \hat{W}(k) = \lim_{k\to\infty} \tilde{W}(k)$.

Proof of Corollary 3. Consider the realizations for T and T^T formed with matrices

$$(\bar{A}, \bar{B}_n, \bar{B}_w, \bar{C}_r, \bar{D}_{rn}, \bar{D}_{rw}, \bar{C}_z, \bar{D}_{zn}, \bar{D}_{zw})$$
 and $(\bar{A}^T, \bar{C}_r^T, \bar{C}_z^T, \bar{B}_n^T, \bar{D}_{rn}^T, \bar{D}_{zn}^T, \bar{B}_w^T, \bar{D}_{rw}^T, \bar{D}_{zw}^T)$

respectively. We are interested in $\|\mathsf{H}\|_{MSP}$ and $\|\mathsf{H}^T\|_{MSP}$. Therefore we apply Lemma 1 to each system assuming $\operatorname{cov}(n) = I$. For $\mathsf{H} = \mathsf{F}_{\ell}(\mathsf{T}, \Delta)$ this gives us that $\forall k \ge 0$

$$\hat{X}(k+1) = \bar{A}\hat{X}(k)\bar{A}^{T} + \bar{B}_{n}\bar{B}_{n}^{T} + \bar{B}_{w}\hat{W}(k)\bar{B}_{w}^{T}$$
(B.10a)

$$\hat{R}(k) = \bar{C}_r \hat{X}(k) \bar{C}_r^T + \bar{D}_{rn} \bar{D}_{rn}^T + \bar{D}_{rw} \hat{W}(k) \bar{D}_{rw}^T$$
(B.10b)

$$\hat{Z}(k) = \bar{C}_z \hat{X}(k) \bar{C}_z^T + \bar{D}_{zn} \bar{D}_{zn}^T + \bar{D}_{zw} \hat{W}(k) \bar{D}_{zw}^T$$
(B.10c)

$$\hat{W}(k) = \Sigma \circ \hat{Z} \tag{B.10d}$$


Similarly, for $\mathsf{H}^T = \mathcal{F}_{\ell}(\mathsf{T}^T, \Delta)$ we have that $\forall \ k \ge 0$

$$\tilde{X}(k+1) = \bar{A}^T \tilde{X}(k) \bar{A} + \bar{C}_r^T \bar{C}_r + \bar{C}_z^T \tilde{W}(k) \bar{C}_z$$
(B.11a)

$$\tilde{R}(k) = \bar{B}_n^T \tilde{X}(k) \bar{N}_n + \bar{D}_{rn}^T \bar{D}_{rn} + \bar{D}_{zn}^T \tilde{W}(k) \bar{D}_{zn}$$
(B.11b)

$$\tilde{Z}(k) = \bar{B}_w^T \tilde{X}(k) \bar{B}_w + \bar{D}_{rw}^T \bar{D}_{rw} + \bar{D}_{zw}^T \tilde{W}(k) \bar{D}_{zw}$$
(B.11c)

$$\tilde{W}(k) = \Sigma \circ \tilde{Z} \tag{B.11d}$$

Following analogous steps as in the proof of Corollary 2 we can form an equivalent LTI feedback interconnection for both (B.10a)-(B.10d) and (B.11a)-(B.11d) using vectorization and Kronecker products, e.g. $F_{\ell}(\hat{T}, \underline{E})$ and $F_{\ell}(\tilde{T}, \underline{E})$. In this case using the property of Kronecker product that $(A \otimes B)^T = A^T \otimes B^T$, one can easily verify that $\hat{T} = \tilde{T}^T$. Since $\underline{E} = \underline{E}^T$ this implies that $F_{\ell}(\hat{T}, \underline{E}) = F_{\ell}(\tilde{T}, \underline{E})^T$, and for some $\check{A}, \check{B}, \check{C}$ and \check{D} we have

$$F_{\ell}(\hat{\mathsf{T}},\underline{E}):\begin{bmatrix}\hat{x}^{+}\\\hat{r}\end{bmatrix}\begin{bmatrix}\underline{\check{A}} & \underline{\check{B}}\\ \hline \underline{\check{C}} & \underline{\check{D}}\end{bmatrix}\begin{bmatrix}\hat{x}\\\hat{n}\end{bmatrix}$$
(B.12)

$$F_{\ell}(\tilde{\mathsf{T}},\underline{E}):\begin{bmatrix}\tilde{x}^{+}\\\tilde{r}\end{bmatrix}\begin{bmatrix}\underline{\check{A}^{T}} & \check{C}^{T}\\ \underline{\check{B}^{T}} & \check{D}^{T}\end{bmatrix}\begin{bmatrix}\tilde{x}\\\tilde{n}\end{bmatrix}$$
(B.13)

Of course $F_{\ell}(\hat{T}, \underline{E})$ is stable/unstable if and only if $F_{\ell}(\tilde{T}, \underline{E})^T$ is stable/unstable respectively. Hence if H is not MS stable then H^T is not MS stable and we have $\|H\|_{MSP} = \|H^T\|_{MSP} = \infty$ by Definition 3. So consider the case where both are MS stable.

Note that if \bar{B}_n is m_n wide and \bar{C}_r is l_r tall, then $\hat{n}(k) = \operatorname{vec}(I_{m_n})$ and $\tilde{n}(k) = \operatorname{vec}(I_{l_r})$. Moreover, $\operatorname{tr}(\hat{R}(k)) = \operatorname{vec}(I_{l_r})^T \hat{r}(k)$ and $\operatorname{tr}(\tilde{R}(k)) = \operatorname{vec}(I_{m_n})^T \tilde{r}(k)$. Starting from $\hat{x}(0) = \tilde{x}(0) = 0$ we have that

$$\operatorname{tr}(\hat{R}(k)) = \operatorname{vec}(I_{l_r})^T \hat{r}(k) = \operatorname{vec}(I_{l_r})^T \check{C}\left(\sum_{n=0}^k \check{A}^n\right) \check{B} \operatorname{vec}(I_{m_n})$$
(B.14)

$$\operatorname{tr}(\tilde{R}(k)) = \operatorname{vec}(I_{m_n})^T \tilde{r}(k) = \operatorname{vec}(I_{m_n})^T \check{B}^T \left(\sum_{n=0}^k \check{A}^n\right)^T \check{C}^T \operatorname{vec}(I_{l_r})$$
(B.15)

i.e. $\operatorname{tr}(\hat{R}(k)) = \operatorname{tr}(\tilde{R}(k))^T = \operatorname{tr}(\tilde{R}(k)) \forall k \ge 0$. Since $\hat{R} = \lim_{k \to \infty} \hat{(R)}(k)$ and $\tilde{R} = \lim_{k \to \infty} \tilde{(R)}(k)$ are invariant with respect to initial conditions, $\operatorname{tr}(\hat{R}) = \operatorname{tr}(\tilde{R}) \Rightarrow \|\mathbf{H}\|_{MSP} = \|\mathbf{H}^T\|_{MSP}$. \Box

Before proving Theorem 1 we define a compact notation which will very useful:

للاستشارات



Definition 15. Given $H = F_{\ell}(T, \Delta)$ where T has realization (2.2) and $\Sigma = cov(\Delta \mathbf{1})$, let the linear operator $D: \mathbf{S}_{+}^{l_{z}} \mapsto \mathbf{S}_{+}^{l_{z}}$ be given by

$$\mathbf{D}(M) = \bar{D}_{zw} \left(\Sigma \circ M \right) \bar{D}_{zw}^T \tag{B.16}$$

Corollary 14. Given $H = F_{\ell}(T, \Delta)$ where T has realization (2.2) and $\Sigma = cov(\Delta \mathbf{1})$, subject to exogenous noise with cov(n(k)) = N, let the linear operator D be as given in (B.16) and X(k)and R(k) be as in Definitions 1 and 2. Then $\forall k \ge 0$

$$X(k+1) = \bar{A}X(k)\bar{A}^{T} + \bar{B}_{n}N\bar{B}_{n} + \bar{B}_{w} \left[\Sigma \circ \left[\sum_{m=0}^{q-1} \mathcal{D}^{m} \left(\bar{C}_{z}X(k)\bar{C}_{z}^{T} + \bar{D}_{zn}N\bar{D}_{zn}^{T} \right) \right] \right] \bar{B}_{w}^{T}$$
(B.17a)

$$R(k) = \bar{C}_r X(k) \bar{C}_r^T + \bar{D}_{rn} N \bar{D}_{rn} + \bar{D}_{rw} \left[\Sigma \circ \left[\sum_{m=0}^{q-1} \mathcal{D}^m \left(\bar{C}_z X(k) \bar{C}_z^T + \bar{D}_{zn} N \bar{D}_{zn}^T \right) \right] \right] \bar{D}_{rw}^T \quad (B.17b)$$

Proof of Corollary 14. From Lemma 1 we have that $\forall k \ge 0$ there exist $Z(k) \triangleq E(z(k)z^T(k))$ and $W(k) \triangleq \mathbf{E}(w(k)w^T(k))$ such that

$$X(k+1) = \bar{A}X(k)\bar{A}^{T} + \bar{B}_{n}N\bar{B}_{n}^{T} + \bar{B}_{w}W(k)\bar{B}_{w}^{T}$$
(B.18a)

$$R(k) = \bar{C}_r X(k) \bar{C}_r^T + \bar{D}_{rn} N \bar{D}_{rn}^T + \bar{D}_{rw} W(k) \bar{D}_{rw}^T$$
(B.18b)

$$Z(k) = \bar{C}_{z}X(k)\bar{C}_{z}^{T} + \bar{D}_{zn}N\bar{D}_{zn}^{T} + \bar{D}_{zw}W(k)\bar{D}_{zw}^{T}$$
(B.18c)

$$W(k) = \Sigma \circ Z(k) \tag{B.18d}$$

Assume η is $q \times 1$, i.e. $\Sigma = \text{diag}(\sigma_1^2 \mathbf{1}_{\eta_1 \times \eta_1}, \dots, \sigma_q^2 \mathbf{1}_{\eta_q \times \eta_q}) \in \mathbf{B}_+^{\eta}$. Then it can be verified that due to Assumption 5 the operator D in (B.16) is nilpotent with degree q. Therefore, if we recursively substitute Z(k) in (B.18c) into itself using (B.18d) we have

$$Z(k) = \bar{C}_z X(k) \bar{C}_z^T + \bar{D}_{zn} N \bar{D}_{zn}^T + D(Z(k))$$
(B.19a)

$$Z(k) = \bar{C}_{z}X(k)\bar{C}_{z}^{T} + \bar{D}_{zn}N\bar{D}_{zn}^{T} + D(\bar{C}_{z}X(k)\bar{C}_{z}^{T} + \bar{D}_{zn}N\bar{D}_{zn}^{T}) + D(D(Z(k)))$$
(B.19b)
:

$$Z(k) = \bar{C}_z X(k) \bar{C}_z^T + \bar{D}_{zn} N \bar{D}_{zn}^T + \sum_{m=1}^{q-1} \mathcal{D}^m \left(\bar{C}_z X(k) \bar{C}_z^T + \bar{D}_{zn} N \bar{D}_{zn}^T \right)$$
(B.19c)

$$Z(k) = \sum_{m=0}^{q-1} \mathcal{D}^m \left(\bar{C}_z X(k) \bar{C}_z^T + \bar{D}_{zn} N \bar{D}_{zn}^T \right)$$
(B.19d)

$$\Rightarrow W(k) = \Sigma \circ \left[\sum_{m=0}^{q-1} D^m \left(\bar{C}_z X(k) \bar{C}_z^T + \bar{D}_{zn} N \bar{D}_{zn}^T \right) \right]$$
(B.19e)
(B.19e)

www.manaraa.com

Substituting (B.19e) into (B.18a) and (B.18b) yields (B.17a) and (B.17b).

Proof of Theorem 1. (a) First we show $\nu^2 > \|\mathsf{H}\|_{\scriptscriptstyle MSP}^2 \Leftrightarrow \exists X \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^n$ and $R \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{l_r}$ such that

$$X \succ \bar{A}X\bar{A}^T + \bar{B}_n\bar{B}_n + \bar{B}_w \left[\Sigma \circ \left[\sum_{m=0}^{q-1} \mathcal{D}^m \left(\bar{C}_z X \bar{C}_z^T + \bar{D}_{zn} \bar{D}_{zn}^T \right) \right] \right] \bar{B}_w^T$$
(B.20a)

$$R \succ \bar{C}_r X \bar{C}_r^T + \bar{D}_{rn} \bar{D}_{rn} + \bar{D}_{rw} \left[\Sigma \circ \left[\sum_{m=0}^{q-1} \mathcal{D}^m \left(\bar{C}_z X \bar{C}_z^T + \bar{D}_{zn} \bar{D}_{zn}^T \right) \right] \right] \bar{D}_{rw}^T$$
(B.20b)

with $\nu^2 = \operatorname{tr}(R)$. Then we show the existence of $X \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^n$ and $R \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{l_r}$, satisfying (B.20a) and (B.20b) is equivalent to the existence of $X \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^n$, $R \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{l_r}$, $Z \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{l_z}$ and $W \in \mathbf{B}_{++}^{\eta}$ satisfying (3.3a)-(3.3d), i.e. satisfying

$$X \succ \bar{A}X\bar{A}^T + \bar{B}_n N\bar{B}_n^T + \bar{B}_w W\bar{B}_w^T \tag{B.21a}$$

$$R \succ \bar{C}_r X \bar{C}_r^T + \bar{D}_{rn} N \bar{D}_{rn}^T + \bar{D}_{rw} W \bar{D}_{rw}^T$$
(B.21b)

$$Z \succ \bar{C}_z X \bar{C}_z^T + \bar{D}_{zn} N \bar{D}_{zn}^T + \bar{D}_{zw} W \bar{D}_{zw}^T$$
(B.21c)

$$W \succ \Sigma \circ Z \tag{B.21d}$$

To begin, note that by expanding/rewriting matrix products on the right hand side of Equations (B.17a) and (B.17b) with N = I there exist some sets of matrices $\{A_\ell\}, \{B_\ell\}, \{C_\ell\},$ and $\{D_\ell\}$ such that

$$X(k+1) = \bar{A}X(k)\bar{A}^{T} + \bar{B}_{n}\bar{B}_{n}^{T} + \sum_{\ell} A_{\ell}XA_{\ell}^{T} + B_{\ell}B_{\ell}^{T}$$
(B.22a)

$$R(k) = \bar{C}_r X \bar{C}_r^T + \bar{D}_{rn} \bar{D}_{rn}^T + \sum_{\ell} C_\ell X C_\ell^T + D_\ell D_\ell^T$$
(B.22b)

From Corollary 14 and Chapter 9 of [60], H is MS stable if and only if $\exists Y \succ 0$ such that

$$Y \succ \bar{A}Y\bar{A}^T + \sum_{\ell} A_{\ell}YA_{\ell}^T \tag{B.23}$$

Moreover, by definition $\|\mathbf{H}\|_{MSP}^2 = \bar{\nu}^2$ iff $\forall X(0) \succeq 0$, as $k \to \infty X(k)$ approaches a unique limit $\bar{X} \succeq 0$ as $k \to \infty$ satisfying

$$\bar{X} = \bar{A}\bar{X}\bar{A}^T + \bar{B}_n\bar{B}_n^T + \sum_{\ell}A_{\ell}\bar{X}A_{\ell}^T + B_{\ell}B_{\ell}^T$$
(B.24a)

$$\bar{R} = \bar{C}_r \bar{X} \bar{C}_r^T + \bar{D}_{rn} \bar{D}_{rn}^T + \sum_{\ell} C_\ell \bar{X} C_\ell^T + D_\ell D_\ell^T$$
(B.24b)



where $\bar{\nu}^2 = \operatorname{tr}(\bar{R})$

Now assume $X \succ 0$ and $R \succ 0$ satisfy (B.20a)-(B.20b). Clearly X satisfies inequality (B.23) implying MS stability. Therefore there exists a unique $\bar{X} \succeq 0$ satisfying (B.24a) and (B.24b) with $\|\mathbf{H}\|_{MSP}^2 = \operatorname{tr}(\bar{R})$. Subtracting (B.24a) from (B.20a) it is clear that letting $U \triangleq X - \bar{X}$ there exists a $V \succ 0$ where

$$U = \bar{A}U\bar{A}^T + \sum_{\ell} A_{\ell}UA_{\ell}^T + V \tag{B.25}$$

The stability of (B.22a) implies the solution to (B.25) can be found by Proposition 14 (page 60) where $V \succ 0 \Rightarrow U \succ 0 \Rightarrow X \succ \bar{X} \Rightarrow \nu^2 > \|\mathbf{H}\|_{MSP}^2$.

Conversely, assume $\|\mathbf{H}\|_{MSP}^2 < \nu^2$. This implies MS stability by Definition 2, which implies the existence of two things: $Y \succ 0$ satisfying (B.23), and a unique $\bar{X} \succeq 0$ satisfying (B.24a) and (B.24b) where $\|\mathbf{H}\|_{MSP}^2 = \operatorname{tr}(\bar{R})$. Note that given such a Y

$$\delta Y \succ \bar{A} \delta Y \bar{A}^T + \sum_\ell A_\ell \delta Y A_\ell^T \quad \forall \ \delta > 0$$

Therefore $X \triangleq \bar{X} + \delta Y$ satisfies (B.20a) for any $\delta > 0$, and for any $\epsilon > 0 \exists \delta > 0$ s.t. $\epsilon I \succ \delta Y \Rightarrow \epsilon I \succ X - \bar{X}$. Therefore there exist X arbitrarily near \bar{X} , and hence an R arbitrarily near \bar{R} satisfying $\nu^2 > \operatorname{tr}(R)$.

Finally we show there exist $X \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^n$, $R \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{l_r}$, $Z \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{l_z}$ and $W \in \mathbf{B}_{++}^{\eta}$ satisfying (B.21a)-(B.21d) if and only if there exist $X \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^n$ and $R \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{l_r}$ satisfy (B.20a) and (B.20b). We will first show that inequalities (B.20a) and (B.20b) are feasible with some $X \succ 0$ and $R \succ 0$ if and only if there exists a $Z \succ 0$ such that

$$X \succ \bar{A}X\bar{A}^T + \bar{B}_n\bar{B}_n^T + \bar{B}_w\left(\Sigma \circ Z\right)\bar{B}_w^T \tag{B.26a}$$

$$R \succ \bar{C}_r X \bar{C}_r^T + \bar{D}_{rn} \bar{D}_{rn}^T + \bar{D}_{rw} \left(\Sigma \circ Z \right) \bar{D}_{rw}^T$$
(B.26b)

$$Z \succ \bar{C}_z X \bar{C}_z^T + \bar{D}_{zn} \bar{D}_{zn}^T + \bar{D}_{zw} \left(\Sigma \circ Z \right) \bar{D}_{zw}^T$$
(B.26c)



To see this, assume (B.20a)-(B.20b) are feasible. Recalling the proof of Corollary 14 it can be easily verified that these are exactly

$$X \succ \bar{A}X\bar{A}^T + \bar{B}_n\bar{B}_n^T + \bar{B}_w(\Sigma \circ Z_0)\bar{B}_w^T$$
(B.27a)

$$R \succ \bar{C}_r X \bar{C}_r^T + \bar{D}_{rn} \bar{D}_{rn}^T + \bar{D}_{rw} (\Sigma \circ Z_0) \bar{D}_{rw}^T$$
(B.27b)

$$Z_0 = \bar{C}_z X \bar{C}_z^T + \bar{D}_{zn} \bar{D}_{zn}^T + \bar{D}_{zw} (\Sigma \circ Z_0) \bar{D}_{zw}^T$$
(B.27c)

Let $Z_{\alpha} \triangleq \operatorname{diag}(\alpha_1 I_{\eta_1}, ..., \alpha_q I_{\eta_q}) \succ 0$. Then for i = 1 to q, let \bar{D}_{zw_i} be the η_i columns of \bar{D}_{zw} multiplying δ_i , and define the outer product matrix $\hat{D}_i \triangleq \bar{D}_{zw_i} \bar{D}_{zw_i}^T$. This means $\bar{D}_{zw}(\Sigma \circ Z_{\alpha})\bar{D}_{zw}^T = \sum_{i=1}^q \bar{D}_{zw_i} \bar{D}_{zw_i}^T \alpha_i^2 \alpha_i = \sum_{i=1}^q \hat{D}_i \sigma_i^2 \alpha_i$. Without loss of generality¹ assume \bar{D}_{zw} is strictly block lower triangular. This implies that the first $\sum_{j=1}^i \eta_j$ rows and columns of \hat{D}_i are zero. In other words, for *i* increasing from 1 to *q*, a progressively smaller sub-block of the \hat{D}_i in the lower right is nonzero, until $\hat{D}_q = 0$ entirely.

Now given any $\alpha_q > 0$ we can choose α_{q-1} such that $Z_{\alpha} \succ \hat{D}_{q-1}\sigma_{q-1}^2 \alpha_{q-1}$ for any $\{\alpha_i\}_1^{q-2} > 0$. Similarly we can then choose α_{q-2} such that $Z_{\alpha} \succ \hat{D}_{q-1}\sigma_{q-1}^2 \alpha_{q-1} + \hat{D}_{q-2}\sigma_{q-2}^2 \alpha_{q-2}$ for any $\{\alpha_i\}_1^{q-3} > 0$. We can continue² to i = 1 to have $Z_{\alpha} \succ \sum_{i=1}^q \hat{D}_i \sigma_i^2 \alpha_i = \bar{D}_{zw}(\Sigma \circ Z_{\alpha})\bar{D}_{zw}^T$, which implies $Z \triangleq Z_0 + Z_{\alpha}$ satisfies (B.26c). Since we can start from an arbitrarily small $\alpha_q > 0$, we can construct such a Z additionally satisfying (B.26a)-(B.26b) with any given feasible $X \succ 0$ and $R \succ 0$.

The other way is easier. If (B.26a)-(B.26c) are satisfied, then recursively substituting for Z as we did previously to obtain (B.17a)-(B.17b) gives us (B.20a) and (B.20b).

Finally, the strictness of inequalities (B.26a)-(B.26c) implies they are feasible if and only if there exists some $W \in \mathbf{B}_{++}^{\eta}$ which along with the X, R, and Z in (B.26a)-(B.26c) satisfies (B.21a)-(B.21d), i.e. (3.3a)-(3.3d).

- (b) This follows part (a) by duality (Corollary 3).
- (c) This follows directly from parts (a) and (b).

²Roughly, we're using the structures of Z_{α} and \hat{D}_i which imply at the n^{th} step there is a subsequent α_{q-n} which can be made arbitrarily small in order to fit $\hat{D}_{q-n}\sigma_{q-n}^2\alpha_{q-n}$ between Z_{α} and $\sum_{j=q-n}^q \hat{D}_j\sigma_j^2\alpha_j$.



¹If strictly block upper triangular, the indexing is reversed.

APPENDIX C. PROOFS AND AUXILIARY THEORY FOR CHAPTER 5

Proof of Lemma 2. (a) $\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{FI}} \neq \emptyset \Leftrightarrow \bar{\mathbf{K}}_{\mathbf{FI}} \neq \emptyset$ is obvious since $\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{FI}} \supseteq \bar{\mathbf{K}}_{\mathbf{FI}}$. Motivated by similar scenarios in the literature¹, to prove $\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{FI}} \neq \emptyset \Rightarrow \bar{\mathbf{K}}_{\mathbf{FI}} \neq \emptyset$, we show given any $\tilde{\mathbf{K}}_{\mathbf{FI}} \in \mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{FI}}$ we can construct a $\bar{\mathbf{K}}_{\mathbf{FI}} \in \bar{\mathbf{K}}_{\mathbf{FI}}$ with equivalent or better performance. Any $\tilde{\mathbf{K}}_{\mathbf{FI}} \in \mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{FI}}$ has a realization

$$\tilde{\mathsf{K}}_{\mathsf{FI}}: \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{K}}^{+} \\ u \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{\mathsf{K}} & B_{\mathsf{K}_{x}} & B_{\mathsf{K}_{n}} & B_{\mathsf{K}_{w}} \\ \hline C_{\mathsf{K}} & D_{\mathsf{K}_{x}} & D_{\mathsf{K}_{n}} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{K}} \\ x_{\mathsf{G}} \\ n \\ w \end{bmatrix}$$

Let $\tilde{T}_{FI} = \mathrm{F}_{\ell}(\mathsf{G}_{FI},\tilde{\mathsf{K}}_{FI})$ with realization

$$\tilde{\mathsf{T}}_{\mathsf{FI}}: \begin{bmatrix} x^+ \\ r \\ z \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{A} & \tilde{B}_n & \tilde{B}_w \\ \hline \tilde{C}_r & \tilde{D}_{rn} & D_{rw} \\ \tilde{C}_z & D_{K_n} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x \\ n \\ w \end{bmatrix}$$
(C.1)

where

$$\tilde{A} = \begin{bmatrix} A + B_u D_{\mathsf{K}_x} & B_u C_{\mathsf{K}} \\ B_{\mathsf{K}_x} & A_{\mathsf{K}} \end{bmatrix} \quad \tilde{B}_n = \begin{bmatrix} B_n + B_u D_{\mathsf{K}_n} \\ B_{\mathsf{K}_n} \end{bmatrix} \quad \tilde{B}_w = \begin{bmatrix} B_w \\ B_{\mathsf{K}_w} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$\tilde{C}_r = \begin{bmatrix} C_r + D_r D_{\mathsf{K}_x} & D_r C_{\mathsf{K}} \end{bmatrix} \quad \tilde{D}_{rn} = D_{rn} + D_r D_{\mathsf{K}_n}$$
$$\tilde{C}_z = \begin{bmatrix} D_{\mathsf{K}_x} & C_{\mathsf{K}} \end{bmatrix}$$

and $\tilde{H}_{FI} = F_{\ell}(\tilde{T}_{FI}, \Delta)$.

¹See e.g. Proof of Theorem 4.1 in [69] or Notes for Chapter 7 in [60].

By Theorem 1 there exist $X \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{n_{\mathsf{T}}}, R \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{l_r}, Z \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{l_z}, W \in \mathbf{B}_{++}^{\eta}$ such that

$$X \succ \tilde{A}X\tilde{A}^T + \tilde{B}_n\tilde{B}_n^T + \tilde{B}_wW\tilde{B}_w^T \tag{C.2a}$$

$$R \succ \tilde{C}_r X \tilde{C}_r^T + \tilde{D}_{rn} \tilde{D}_{rn}^T + D_{rw} W D_{rw}^T$$
(C.2b)

$$Z \succ \tilde{C}_z X \tilde{C}_z^T + D_{K_n} D_{K_n}^T \tag{C.2c}$$

$$W \succ \Sigma \circ Z \tag{C.2d}$$

with $\|\tilde{H}_{FI}\|_{MSP}^2 < \operatorname{tr}(R)$. Taking any feasible solution, partition X by the dimensions of the plant and controller states as:

$$X = \begin{bmatrix} X_1 & X_2 \\ X_2^T & X_3 \end{bmatrix}$$
(C.3)

Expanding the X_1 block of inequality (C.2a) we have:

$$X_{1} \succ (A + B_{u}D_{\kappa_{x}})X_{1}(A + B_{u}D_{\kappa_{x}})^{T} + (B_{u}C_{\kappa})X_{3}(B_{u}C_{\kappa})^{T} + (A + B_{u}D_{\kappa_{x}})X_{2}(B_{u}C_{\kappa})^{T} + (B_{u}C_{\kappa})X_{2}^{T}(A + B_{u}D_{\kappa_{x}})^{T} + (B_{n} + B_{u}D_{\kappa_{n}})(B_{n} + B_{u}D_{\kappa_{n}})^{T} + B_{w}WB_{w}^{T}$$
(C.4)

Expanding (C.2b) gives:

$$R \succ (C_{r} + D_{r}D_{\kappa_{x}})X_{1}(C_{r} + D_{r}D_{\kappa_{x}})^{T} + (D_{r}C_{\kappa})X_{3}(D_{r}C_{\kappa})^{T} + (C_{r} + D_{r}D_{\kappa_{x}})X_{2}(D_{r}C_{\kappa})^{T} + (D_{r}C_{\kappa})X_{2}^{T}(C_{r} + D_{r}D_{\kappa_{x}})^{T} + (D_{rn} + D_{r}D_{\kappa_{n}})(D_{rn} + D_{r}D_{\kappa_{n}})^{T} + D_{rw}WD_{rw}^{T}$$
(C.5)

And similarly expanding (C.2c):

$$Z \succ D_{\mathsf{K}_x} X_1 D_{\mathsf{K}_x}^T + D_{\mathsf{K}_x} X_2 C_{\mathsf{K}}^T + C_{\mathsf{K}} X_2^T D_{\mathsf{K}_x}^T + C_{\mathsf{K}} X_3 C_{\mathsf{K}}^T + D_{\mathsf{K}_n} D_{\mathsf{K}_n}^T \tag{C.6}$$

Now we restrict our attention to static feedback. Any static controller $\bar{K}_{FI}\in \mathbf{K}_{FI}$ must have the structure

$$\bar{\mathsf{K}}_{\mathsf{FI}}: u = \begin{bmatrix} F & F_0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}} \\ n \\ w \end{bmatrix} \tag{C.7}$$



and result in a mean closed loop \overline{T}_{FI} :

$$\bar{\mathsf{T}}_{\mathsf{FI}} : \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}}^+ \\ r \\ z \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_F & B_{F_0} & B_w \\ \hline C_F & D_{F_0} & D_{rw} \\ F & F_0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}} \\ n \\ w \end{bmatrix}$$
(C.8)

where $A_F = A + B_u F$, $B_{F_0} = B_n + B_u F_0$, $C_F = C_r + D_r F$, $D_{F_0} = D_{rn} + D_r F_0$, and $\bar{\mathsf{H}}_{\mathsf{FI}} = F_\ell(\bar{\mathsf{T}}_{\mathsf{FI}}, \Delta)$. If we form $F = D_{\mathsf{K}_x} + C_{\mathsf{K}} X_2^T X_1^{-1}$ using any feasible X from (C.2a)-(C.2d) partitioned as in (C.3), and $F_0 = D_{\mathsf{K}_n}$, then for some $\bar{Z} \preceq Z$ and $\bar{W} \preceq W$, and $\bar{R} \preceq R$ we have:

 $X_1 \succ A_F X_1 A_F^T + B_{F_0} B_{F_0}^T + B_w \bar{W} B_w^T$ (C.9a)

$$\bar{R} \succ C_F X_1 C_F^T + D_{F_0} D_{F_0}^T + D_{rw} \bar{W} D_{rw}^T$$
 (C.9b)

$$\bar{Z} \succ FX_1 F^T + F_0 F_0^T \tag{C.9c}$$

$$\bar{W} \succ \Sigma \circ \bar{Z} \tag{C.9d}$$

This implies $\bar{\mathsf{K}}_{\mathsf{FI}} \in \mathbf{K}_{\mathsf{FI}}$ and $\|\bar{\mathsf{H}}_{\mathsf{FI}}\|_{MSP}^2 < \operatorname{tr}(\bar{R})$ by Theorem 1. To verify that this is true, note that by substituting $F = D_{\mathsf{K}_x} + C_{\mathsf{K}} X_2^T X_1^{-1}$ and $F_0 = D_{\mathsf{K}_n}$ into (C.9a)-(C.9c) gives:

$$X_{1} \succ (A + B_{u}D_{\kappa_{x}})X_{1}(A + B_{u}D_{\kappa_{x}})^{T} + (B_{u}C_{\kappa})X_{2}^{T}X_{1}^{-1}X_{2}(B_{u}C_{\kappa})^{T}$$
$$+ (A + B_{u}D_{\kappa_{x}})X_{2}(B_{u}C_{\kappa})^{T} + (B_{u}C_{\kappa})X_{2}^{T}(A + B_{u}D_{\kappa_{x}})^{T}$$
$$+ (B_{n} + B_{u}D_{\kappa_{n}})(B_{n} + B_{u}D_{\kappa_{n}})^{T} + B_{w}WB_{w}^{T}$$
(C.10)

$$\bar{R} \succ (C_r + D_r D_{\kappa_x}) X_1 (C_r + D_r D_{\kappa_x})^T + (D_r C_\kappa) X_2^T X_1^{-1} X_2 (D_r C_\kappa)^T + (C_r + D_r D_{\kappa_x}) X_2 (D_r C_\kappa)^T + (D_r C_\kappa) X_2^T (C_r + D_r D_{\kappa_x})^T + (D_{rn} + D_r D_{\kappa_n}) (D_{rn} + D_r D_{\kappa_n})^T + D_{rw} W D_{rw}^T$$
(C.11)

and

للاستشارات

$$\bar{Z} \succ D_{\kappa_x} X_1 D_{\kappa_x}^T + D_{\kappa_x} X_2 C_{\kappa}^T + C_{\kappa} X_2^T D_{\kappa_x}^T + C_{\kappa} X_2^T X_1^{-1} X_2 C_{\kappa}^T + D_{\kappa_n} N D_{\kappa_n}^T$$
(C.12)

Now examining (C.10), (C.11), and (C.12), we can easily verify that they are the same as those in (C.4), (C.5), and (C.6) except for having $X_2^T X_1^{-1} X_2$ in place of X_3 . Because $X \succ 0 \Rightarrow$ $X_3 \succ X_2^T X_1^{-1} X_2$, we know we can allow $\bar{Z} \preceq Z$ and $\bar{W} \preceq W$, and $\bar{R} \preceq R$. Note that we can choose $\bar{R} \neq R \Rightarrow \operatorname{tr}(\bar{R}) < \operatorname{tr}(R)$. This will be relevant for (c). To show $\bar{\mathbf{K}}_{\mathbf{FI}} \neq \emptyset \Leftrightarrow \mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{F}} \neq \emptyset$, note any static controller $\bar{\mathbf{K}}_{\mathbf{FI}}$ will produce a mean closed loop with the structure (C.8). By Theorem 1 $\bar{\mathbf{K}}_{\mathbf{FI}} \in \bar{\mathbf{K}}_{\mathbf{FI}}$ if and only if there exists a $X \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^n$, $R \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{l_r}, Z \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{l_z}, W \in \mathbf{B}_{++}^{\eta}$ such that

$$X \succ (A + B_u F) X (A + B_u F)^T + (B_n + B_u F_0) (B_n + B_u F_0)^T + \tilde{B}_w W \tilde{B}_w^T$$
(C.13a)

$$R \succ (C_r + D_r F) X (C_r + D_r F)^T + (D_{rn} + D_r F_0) (D_{rn} + D_r F_0)^T + D_{rw} W D_{rw}^T$$
(C.13b)

$$Z \succ FXF^T + F_0 F_0^T \tag{C.13c}$$

$$W \succ \Sigma \circ Z \tag{C.13d}$$

Notice that (C.13a)-(C.13d) are trivially equivalent to

$$\begin{aligned} X - (A + B_u F) X X^{-1} X (A + B_u F)^T - (B_n + B_u F_0) (B_n + B_u F_0)^T - \tilde{B}_w W W^{-1} W \tilde{B}_w^T &\succ 0 \\ R - (C_r + D_r F) X X^{-1} X (C_r + D_r F)^T - (D_{rn} + D_r F_0) (D_{rn} + D_r F_0)^T - D_{rw} W W^{-1} W D_{rw}^T &\succ 0 \\ Z - F X X^{-1} X F^T - F_0 F_0^T &\succ 0 \\ W - \Sigma \circ Z &\succ 0 \end{aligned}$$

Applying Schur complement and the change of variables Y = FX and $J = F_0$ we to these inequalities we obtain LMIs:

$$\begin{bmatrix} X & (AX+B_{u}Y) & (B_{n}+B_{u}J) & B_{w}W \\ (AX+B_{u}Y)^{T} & X & 0 & 0 \\ (B_{n}+B_{u}J)^{T} & 0 & I & 0 \\ (B_{w}W)^{T} & 0 & 0 & W \end{bmatrix} \succ 0$$
(C.15a)
$$\begin{bmatrix} R & (CX+D_{r}Y) & (D_{1}+D_{r}J) & D_{2}W \\ (CX+D_{r}Y)^{T} & X & 0 & 0 \\ (D_{rn}+D_{r}J)^{T} & 0 & I & 0 \\ (D_{rw}W)^{T} & 0 & 0 & W \end{bmatrix} \succ 0$$
(C.15b)
$$\begin{bmatrix} Z & Y & J \\ Y^{T} & X & 0 \\ J^{T} & 0 & I \end{bmatrix} \succ 0$$
(C.15c)
$$W - \Sigma \circ Z \succ 0$$
(C.15d)



(b) This follows from the proof of part (a) above.

(c) From the definition of $\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{FI}}$ and the proof of part (a) we know that there exist $\tilde{\mathsf{K}}_{\mathsf{FI}} \in \mathbf{K}_{\mathsf{FI}}$ and $\mathbf{\bar{K}}_{\mathsf{FI}} \in \mathbf{\bar{K}}_{\mathsf{FI}}$ such that $(\nu_{FI}^{\star})^2 < \operatorname{tr}(\bar{R}) < \operatorname{tr}(R) < (\nu_{FI}^{\star})^2 + \epsilon$ for any $\epsilon > 0$. Therefore this follows from part (b).

Proof of Corollary 6. By Lemma 2 we know that $\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{FI}} \neq \emptyset \Leftrightarrow \bar{\mathbf{K}}_{\mathbf{FI}} \neq \emptyset$. Now by Corollary 5 $\bar{\mathbf{K}}_{\mathbf{FI}} \neq \emptyset$ if and only if there exist a $F \in \mathbf{R}^{m_u \times n}, X \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^n, Z \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{l_z}, W \in \mathbf{B}_{++}^{\eta}$ such that

$$X \succ (A + B_u F) X (A + B_u F)^T + \tilde{B}_w W \tilde{B}_w^T$$
(C.16a)

$$Z \succ FXF^T \tag{C.16b}$$

$$W \succ \Sigma \circ Z$$
 (C.16c)

This is equivalent to the existence of $X \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^n$, $Y \in \mathbf{R}^{m_u \times n}$ $Z \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{l_z}$, $W \in \mathbf{B}_{++}^{\eta}$ satisfying

$$\begin{bmatrix} X & (AX+B_uY) & B_wW\\ (AX+B_uY)^T & X & 0\\ (B_wW)^T & 0 & W \end{bmatrix} \succ 0$$
(C.17a)

$$\begin{bmatrix} Z & Y \\ Y^T & X \end{bmatrix} \succ 0$$
 (C.17b)

$$W - \Sigma \circ Z \succ 0 \tag{C.17c}$$

with the change of variables Y = FX. Therefore $\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{FI}} \neq \emptyset$ if and only if there exist $X \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^n$, $Y \in \mathbf{R}^{m_u \times n} \ Z \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{l_z}$, $W \in \mathbf{B}_{++}^\eta$ satisfying (C.17a)-(C.17c), i.e. (5.5a)-(5.5c).

Finally, recalling Definition 5 it is straightforward to verify that the feasibility of (C.16a)-(C.16a) is equivalent to that of

$$X \succ (A+B_uF)X(A+B_uF)^T + B_w(\Sigma \circ (FXF^T))B_w^T = A_F(X)$$
(C.18)

which by Propositions 12 and 15 is equivalent to $\rho(A_F) < 1$.

Proposition 16 will be used in the proof of Lemma 3 which follows.



Proposition 16. If $f : \mathbf{R}^{m \times n} \mapsto \mathbf{S}^n_+$ is given by $f(Y) = \sum_{i=1}^q (A_i + B_i Y)^T M_i (A_i + B_i Y)$ with $M_i \succeq 0$ and $\sum_{i=1}^q B_i^T M_i B_i \succ 0$, then there exists a unique Y^* such that $f(Y^*) \preceq f(Y)$ and $\operatorname{tr}(f(Y^*)) < \operatorname{tr}(f(Y)) \ \forall \ Y \neq Y^*$ given by $Y^* = -\left(\sum_{i=1}^q B_i^T M_i B_i\right)^{-1} \left(\sum_{i=1}^q B_i^T M_i A_i\right).$

Proof. Substituting Y^* , one can easily verify that the cross terms cancel and $f(Y^* + P) = f(Y^*) + \sum_{i=1}^q P^T B_i^T M_i B_i P$ for any $P \in \mathbf{R}^{m \times n}$. Additionally, $\sum_{i=1}^q B_i M_i B_i^T \succ 0$ implies $\sum_{i=1}^q P^T B_i^T M_i B_i P \succeq 0$. Therefore $f(Y^*) \preceq f(Y) \forall Y \neq Y^*$. Finally, $C \succeq 0$ implies $\operatorname{tr}(C) \ge 0$ and $\operatorname{tr}(C) = 0 \Leftrightarrow C = 0$. Therefore $\operatorname{tr}(f(Y^*)) < \operatorname{tr}(f(Y^* + P))$ for any $P \neq 0$, or equivalently, $\operatorname{tr}(f(Y^*)) < \operatorname{tr}(f(Y)) \forall Y \neq Y^*$.

Proof of Lemma 3. By Lemma 2, to investigate the limits of MS performance for Problem 2, we need only consider static controllers (5.4) which produce closed loops $H_{FI} = F_{\ell}(T_{FI}, \Delta)$ where T_{FI} has the realization (C.19).

$$\mathsf{T}_{\mathsf{Fl}} : \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}}^+ \\ r \\ z \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_F & B_{F_0} & B_w \\ \hline C_F & D_{F_0} & D_{rw} \\ F & F_0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}} \\ n \\ w \end{bmatrix}$$
(C.19)

with $A_F = A + B_u F$, $B_{F_0} = B_n + B_u F_0$, $C_F = C_r + D_r F$, $D_{F_0} = D_{rn} + D_r F_0$. By Theorem 1, $\|\mathbf{H}_{\mathsf{FI}}\|_{MSP} < \operatorname{tr}(R)$ for some $R \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{m_n}$ if and only if there are $X \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^n$, $Z \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{l_z}$ and $W \in \mathbf{B}_{++}^\eta$ such that

$$X \succ A_F^T X A_F + C_F^T C_F + F^T W F \tag{C.20a}$$

$$R \succ B_{F_0}^T X B_{F_0} + D_{F_0}^T D_{F_0} + F_0^T W F_0$$
 (C.20b)

$$Z \succ B_w^T X B_w + \bar{D}_{rw}^T \bar{D}_{rw} \tag{C.20c}$$

$$W \succ \Sigma \circ Z \tag{C.20d}$$

Since $D_{zw} = 0$ in (C.19), these LMIs are equivalent to (C.21a)-(C.21b).

$$X \succ A_F^T X A_F + C_F^T C_F + F^T \Sigma \circ (B_w^T X B_w + D_{rw}^T D_{rw}) F$$
(C.21a)

$$R \succ B_{F_0}^T X B_{F_0} + D_{F_0}^T D_{F_0} + F_0^T \Sigma \circ (B_w^T X B_w + D_{rw}^T D_{rw}) F_0$$
(C.21b)



Note that since $D_r^T D_r + \Sigma \circ D_{rw}^T D_{rw} \succ 0 \Rightarrow B_u^T X B_u + D_r^T D_r + \Sigma \circ (B_w^T X B_w + D_{rw}^T D_{rw}) \succ 0$, (C.21a) and (C.21b) satisfy the structure and assumptions of Proposition 16 with Y = F and $Y = F_0$ respectively. This implies (C.21a) and (C.21b) are feasible for some F and F_0 iff they are feasible for

$$F = -S^{-1}(B_u^T X A) \tag{C.22a}$$

$$F_0 = -S^{-1}(B_u^T X B_n + D_r^T D_{rn})$$
 (C.22b)

with $S = B_u^T X B_u + D_r^T D_r + \Sigma \circ (B_w^T X B_w + D_{rw}^T D_{rw})$. Substituting (C.22a)-(C.22a) into (C.21a)-(C.21b) produces

$$X \succ A^T X A + C_r^T C_r - (A^T X B_u) S^{-1} (B_u^T X A)$$
(C.23a)

$$R \succ B_n^T X B_n + D_{rn}^T D_{rn} - (B_n^T X B_u + D_{rn}^T D_r) S^{-1} (B_u^T X B_n + D_r^T D_{rn})$$
(C.23b)

That is, (C.21a)-(C.21b) are feasible in X, F, F₀, and R, iff (C.23a)-(C.23b) are feasible in X and R. Therefore $\nu_{FI}^{\star} = \inf_{(C.23a)-(C.23b)} \operatorname{tr}(R)^{\frac{1}{2}}$.

For the remainder of this proof let us define a compact notation: let $F : \mathbf{S}_{+}^{n} \mapsto \mathbf{R}^{m_{u} \times n}$, $F_{0} : \mathbf{S}_{+}^{n} \mapsto \mathbf{R}^{m_{u} \times m_{n}}$, $R : \mathbf{S}_{+}^{n} \mapsto \mathbf{S}_{+}^{n}$, and $P : \mathbf{S}_{+}^{n} \mapsto \mathbf{S}_{+}^{m_{n}}$ be given by

$$\mathbf{F}(X) = -S^{-1}(B_u^T X A) \tag{C.24a}$$

$$F_0(X) = -S^{-1}(B_u^T X B_n + D_r^T D_{rn})$$
(C.24b)

$$\mathbf{R}(X) = A^T X A + C_r^T C_r - (A^T X B_u) S^{-1}(B_u^T X A)$$
(C.24c)

$$P(X) = B_n^T X B_n + D_{rn}^T D_{rn} - (B_n^T X B_u + D_{rn}^T D_r) S^{-1} (B_u^T X B_n + D_r^T D_{rn})$$
(C.24d)

respectively, where $S = B_u^T X B_u + D_r^T D_r + \Sigma \circ (B_w^T X B_w + D_{rw}^T D_{rw}).$

Under the given conditions, Theorem 6.9 of [67] implies there exists a unique $X^* \succeq 0$ such that $X^* = \mathbb{R}(X^*)$ and $[\mathbb{F}(X^*) \mathbb{F}_0(X^*) \mathbb{O}] \in \mathbf{K_{FI}}$. Let $R^* = \mathbb{P}(X^*)$. We will next complete the proof by showing that $X \succ X^*$ and $R \succ R^*$ for any X and R feasible in (C.23a)-(C.23b), meaning $\nu_{FI}^* = \operatorname{tr}(R^*)^{\frac{1}{2}}$.



For i = 1, 2, let $X_i \succeq 0$, $F_i = F(X_i)$, and $F_{0_i} = F_0(X_i)$. Now if we further let $H = X_2 - X_1$, $G_x = F_2 - F_1$, $G_r = F_{0_2} - F_{0_1}$, $P_x = R(X_2) - R(X_1)$, and $P_r = P(X_2) - P(X_1)$, then under the assumptions of Lemma 3, Lemma 5.3 in [67] implies that we have

$$P_{x} = (A + B_{u}F_{2})^{T}H(A + B_{u}F_{2}) + F_{2}^{T}(\Sigma \circ B_{w}^{T}HB_{w})F_{2} + Q_{x}$$

$$Q_{x} = G_{x}^{T}(B_{u}^{T}X_{1}B_{u} + D_{r}^{T}D_{r} + \Sigma \circ (B_{w}^{T}X_{1}B_{w} + D_{rw}^{T}D_{rw}))G_{x}$$

$$P_{r} = (B_{n} + B_{u}F_{0_{2}})^{T}H(B_{n} + B_{u}F_{0_{2}}) + F_{0_{2}}^{T}(\Sigma \circ B_{w}^{T}HB_{w})F_{0_{2}} + Q_{r}$$

$$Q_{r} = G_{r}^{T}(B_{u}^{T}X_{1}B_{u} + D_{r}^{T}D_{r} + \Sigma \circ (B_{w}^{T}X_{1}B_{w} + D_{rw}^{T}D_{rw}))G_{r}$$

We derive two things from this. First, $X_2 \succeq X_1 \Leftrightarrow H \succeq 0$, and since $Q_x \succeq 0$ and $Q_r \succeq 0$ this implies $P_x \succeq 0 \Leftrightarrow \mathcal{R}(X_2) \succeq \mathcal{R}(X_1)$ and $P_r \succeq 0 \Leftrightarrow \mathcal{P}(X_2) \succeq \mathcal{P}(X_1)$.

Second, if $X_2 = X \succ \mathbb{R}(X)$ and $X_1 = X^* = \mathbb{R}(X^*)$, then $H \succ P_x$. Since $Q_x \succeq 0$ this implies there exists a $\tilde{Q} \succ 0$ such that $H = P_x + \tilde{Q}$. Equivalently,

$$H = (A + B_u F_2)^T H (A + B_u F_2) + F_2^T (\Sigma \circ B_w^T H B_w) F_2 + \bar{Q}$$
(C.25)

for some $\bar{Q} = Q_x + \tilde{Q} \succ 0$. Since F_2 is MS stabilizing, (C.25) has a unique positive definite solution (Thm. 3.3(iv) [67]). I.e. $H \succ 0 \Leftrightarrow X \succ X^*$. Finally, if $R \succ P(X)$ and $R^* = P(X^*)$, then $R - R^* \succ P_r$ and $H \succ 0$ implies $P_r \succeq 0$. Therefore $R \succ R^*$.

(b) This follows from Theorem 7.3 in [67].

침 للاستشارات

Proof of Proposition 2. Consider the modification of the networked FI synthesis in Problem 3 where we seek to minimize $\|\tilde{H}_{FI}\|_{MSP}$ where $\tilde{H}_{FI} = H_{FI}N^{\frac{1}{2}}$ for some $N \succ 0$. That is, we want to find the F and F_0 which minimize $\|F_{\ell}(\tilde{T}_{FI}, \Delta)\|_{MSP}$ where

$$\tilde{\mathsf{T}}_{\mathsf{FI}} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}}^{+} \\ r \\ z \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A + B_{u}F & B_{n}N^{\frac{1}{2}} + B_{u}F_{0}N^{\frac{1}{2}} & B_{w} \\ \hline C_{r} + D_{r}F & D_{rn}N^{\frac{1}{2}} + D_{r}F_{0}N^{\frac{1}{2}} & D_{rw} \\ F^{\star} & F_{0}N^{\frac{1}{2}} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}} \\ n \\ w \end{bmatrix}$$
(C.26)

Since $N \succ 0$ we have that $N^{\frac{1}{2}} \succ 0$, and therefore $N^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ exists. Therefore we can equivalently search for the F and \tilde{F}_0 which minimize $\|F_{\ell}(\hat{\mathsf{T}}_{\mathsf{FI}}, \Delta)\|_{MSP}$ where

$$\hat{\mathsf{T}}_{\mathsf{FI}} : \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}}^+ \\ r \\ z \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A + B_u F & \tilde{B}_n + B_u \tilde{F}_0 & B_w \\ \hline C_r + D_r F & \tilde{D}_{rn} + D_r \tilde{F}_0 & D_{rw} \\ F & \tilde{F}_0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}} \\ n \\ w \end{bmatrix}$$
(C.27)

with $\tilde{B}_n = B_n N^{\frac{1}{2}}$ and $\tilde{D}_{rn} = D_{rn} N^{\frac{1}{2}}$. Applying Lemma 3 to this problem, one can easily verify that the optimal gains are F^* and $\tilde{F}_0^* = F_0^* N^{\frac{1}{2}}$, meaning F^* and F_0^* minimize $\|\tilde{H}_{\mathsf{FI}}\|_{MSP}$. \Box

Proof of Lemma 4. (a) By inspection of Problems 2 and 3 it is clear that $\mathbf{K}_{DF} \neq \emptyset$ only if $\mathbf{K}_{FI} \neq \emptyset \Leftrightarrow \mathbf{M}_{F} \neq \emptyset$. To see that $\mathbf{M}_{F} \neq \emptyset$ implies $\mathbf{K}_{DF} \neq \emptyset$, recall K_{DF} in (5.14) and let $\mathsf{T}_{DF} = \mathsf{F}_{\ell}(\mathsf{G}_{DF},\mathsf{K}_{DF})$. It is easy to verify using the coordinates $x_{\mathsf{G}}(k)$ and $e(k) = x_{\mathsf{G}}(k) - x_{\mathsf{K}}(k)$ that T_{DF} has the realization

$$\mathsf{T}_{\mathsf{DF}} : \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}}^{+} \\ e^{+} \\ r \\ z \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A + B_{u}F & B_{u}F_{0}C_{y} - B_{u}F & B_{n} + B_{u}F_{0} & B_{w} \\ 0 & A - B_{n}C_{y} & 0 & 0 \\ \hline C_{r} + D_{r}F & D_{r}F_{0}C_{y} - D_{r}F & D_{rn} + D_{r}F_{0} & D_{rw} \\ F & F_{0}C_{y} - F & F_{0} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}} \\ e \\ n \\ w \end{bmatrix}$$
(C.28)

Recalling that $A-B_nC_y$ is Schur, the states e(k) are stable as well as uncontrollable (i.e. they are non-minimal) and therefore can be removed. Removing e(k) leaves us with

$$\mathsf{T}_{\mathsf{DF}} : \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}}^+ \\ r \\ z \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A + B_u F & B_n + B_u F_0 & B_w \\ \hline C_r + D_r F & D_{rn} + D_r F_0 & D_{rw} \\ F & F_0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}} \\ n \\ w \end{bmatrix}$$
(C.29)

In other words $T_{DF} = T_{FI}$ in (C.8). Therefore $\mathbf{K}_{DF} \neq \emptyset$ if $\mathbf{K}_{FI} \neq \emptyset \Leftrightarrow \mathbf{M}_{F} \neq \emptyset$.

(b) and (c) follow from the proof of (a) and Lemma 2.

Proof of Lemma 5. The standard \mathcal{H}_2 Riccati solution \hat{X} exists by the assumptions Lemma 3 as a special case. Expanding \hat{X} we have

$$\hat{X} = A^T \hat{X} A + C_r^T C_r - (A^T \hat{X} B_u) S^{-1} (B_u^T \hat{X} A)$$
(C.30)

where $S = B_u^T \hat{X} B_u + D_r^T D_r + V$. We can expand X^* as

$$X^{\star} = A^{T} X^{\star} A + C_{r}^{T} C_{r} - (A^{T} X^{\star} B_{u}) S^{-1} (B_{u}^{T} X^{\star} A)$$
(C.31)

where $S = B_u^T X^* B_u + D_r^T D_r + V$. Therefore X^* is a solution to (C.30). Moreover, under the assumed conditions, for a given $V \succeq 0$ the positive semidefinite solution to (C.30) is unique. Therefore $X^* = \hat{X}$. This implies $F^* = \hat{F}$ and $F_0^* = \hat{F}_0$. Finally it is known that $\gamma_{FI}^* = \gamma_{DF}^* = \operatorname{tr}(\hat{R})$ where $\hat{R} = B_n^T \hat{X} B_n + D_{rn}^T D_{rn} - (B_n^T \hat{X} B_u + D_{rn}^T D_r) S^{-1} (B_u^T \hat{X} B_n + D_r^T D_{rn})$. It can be easily verified that $X^* = \hat{X} \Rightarrow \hat{R} = R^*$ meaning $\nu_{FI}^* = \gamma_{FI}^* = \nu_{DF}^* = \gamma_{DF}^*$.



APPENDIX D. PROOFS AND AUXILIARY THEORY FOR CHAPTER 6

Proof of Proposition 9. (a) This follows by applying Theorem 5.4.1 in [66] to G_{OF} in (6.1) with $B_2 = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & B_u \end{bmatrix}$, $C_2 = \begin{bmatrix} C_y \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}$, and stabilizing gains $\tilde{F} = \begin{bmatrix} -C_z \\ F \end{bmatrix}$ and $\tilde{L} = \begin{bmatrix} L & B_w \end{bmatrix}$.

- (b) This is a trivial consequence of (a).
- (c) This follows from (b) and Corollary 4.

Remark 6. Note $A+B_2\tilde{F} = A+[0 \ B_u]\begin{bmatrix} -C_z\\ F \end{bmatrix} = A+B_uF$ is Schur with appropriate F. The $-C_z$ element does not affect the product $B_2\tilde{F}$ and therefore does not restrict the parameterization. Similarly $A+\tilde{L}C_2 = A+[L-B_w]\begin{bmatrix} C_y\\ 0\end{bmatrix} = A+LC_y$ is Schur independently of $-B_w$. In fact we could have chosen any matrices of appropriate size in place of $-C_z$ and $-B_w$. However, we will see that using these matrices leads to a structure in the resulting closed loops which is advantageous.

Proof of Proposition 10. (a) Using the coordinates x_{G} and $e(k) = x_{\mathsf{G}}(k) - \hat{x}(k)$ to represent the interconnection of (6.7) and (6.8) in Figure 6.2, one can verify the states e(k) are stable and unobservable and hence can be removed to yield (6.1).

(b) This is a consequence of (a) and Proposition 9.

Proof of Proposition 11. Recall the realization of T_{OF} in Proposition 10, Figure 6.2, and note that $z_s(k) = z_{s_e}(k) + z_{s_{\hat{x}}}(k)$. If we let the star-product¹ of G_{DF} and J be $\hat{U}_{DF} = \text{Star}(G_{DF}, J)$, then it has realization

$$\hat{\mathbf{U}}_{\mathsf{DF}}: \begin{bmatrix} \hat{x}^{+} \\ r_{\hat{x}} \\ z_{s_{\hat{x}}} \\ z_{a} \\ s \\ w_{a} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{A + B_{u}F} & -L & B_{w} & 0 & B_{u} \\ \hline C_{r} + D_{r}F & -L_{0} & D_{rw} & 0 & D_{r} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & I & 0 \\ F & 0 & 0 & 0 & I \\ \hline F & 0 & 0 & 0 & I \\ 0 & I & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & I & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{x} \\ s \\ w_{a} \\ q_{1} \\ q_{2} \end{bmatrix} \tag{D.1}$$

With the previously mentioned choice of $\tilde{F} = \begin{bmatrix} -C_z \\ F \end{bmatrix}$ in (6.3) (see Remark 6), the signal $z_{s_{\hat{x}}}(k) = q_1(k)$ in (D.1), meaning $z_s(k) = z_{s_e}(k) + q_1(k)$. Moreover $q_1(k)$ is simply a feed through in (D.1). Therefore we can move it out of \hat{U}_{DF} giving U_{DF} in (6.9). Then if we partition Q as in the statement we have $q_1(k) = q_{1_s}(k) + q_{1_w}(k)$.

Proof of Lemma 10. Given $H_{OF} = F_{\ell}(\mathcal{T}_{OF}(F, L, L_0, Q), \Delta) \in H_{OF}$, partition Q as in Proposition 11. Since Q is stable, we can realize Q_{11} , Q_{12} and Q_2 separately. This can always be done in a nonminimal but stable way. Let each subsystem have state $x_{Q_{11}}$, $x_{Q_{12}}$, and x_{Q_2} respectively, and let Q_{12} have realization

$$\mathbf{Q}_{12} : \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{Q}_{12}}^+ \\ q_{1w} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} A_{\mathsf{Q}_{12}} & B_{\mathsf{Q}_{12}} \\ \hline C_{\mathsf{Q}_{12}} & D_{\mathsf{Q}_{12}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{Q}_{12}} \\ w_a \end{bmatrix}$$
(D.2)

Let a realization of $\mathsf{T}_{\mathsf{OF}} = \mathcal{T}_{OF}(F, L, L_0, \mathsf{Q})$ be

لاستشارات

$$\mathsf{T}_{\mathsf{OF}} : \begin{bmatrix} x^+ \\ r \\ z \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{A} & \tilde{B}_n & \tilde{B}_w \\ \tilde{C}_r & \tilde{D}_{rn} & \tilde{D}_{rw} \\ \tilde{C}_z & \tilde{D}_{zn} & \tilde{D}_{zw} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x \\ n \\ w \end{bmatrix}$$
(D.3)

following Figure 6.3 and recall $\Sigma = cov(\Delta \mathbf{1})$. Referring to (6.7), (6.9), and Figure 6.3, it can be verified that if we define

$$x_1 = \begin{bmatrix} e \\ x_{\mathsf{Q}_{11}} \end{bmatrix} \tag{D.4a}$$

$$x_2 = \begin{bmatrix} \hat{x} \\ x_{\mathsf{Q}_2} \end{bmatrix} \tag{D.4b}$$

¹See e.g. [62] or Chapter 10 of [61] for a formal description of the star-product feedback interconnection.

and let $x = \begin{bmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ x_{\mathsf{Q}_{12}} \end{bmatrix}$ then (D.3) has the expanded structure

$$\mathsf{T}_{\mathsf{OF}}: \begin{bmatrix} x_{1}^{+} \\ x_{2}^{+} \\ x_{\mathsf{Q}_{12}}^{+} \\ r \\ z_{s} \\ z_{a} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{A}_{11} & 0 & 0 & \tilde{B}_{n_{1}} & \tilde{B}_{w_{11}} & 0 \\ \tilde{A}_{21} & \tilde{A}_{22} & 0 & \tilde{B}_{n_{2}} & \tilde{B}_{w_{12}} & \tilde{B}_{w_{22}} \\ 0 & 0 & \tilde{A}_{\mathsf{Q}_{12}} & 0 & 0 & \tilde{B}_{\mathsf{Q}_{12}} \\ \hline \tilde{C}_{r_{1}} & \tilde{C}_{r_{2}} & 0 & \tilde{D}_{rn} & \tilde{D}_{rw_{1}} & \tilde{D}_{rw_{2}} \\ \tilde{C}_{z_{11}} & 0 & \tilde{C}_{\mathsf{Q}_{12}} & \tilde{D}_{zn_{1}} & 0 & 0 \\ \tilde{C}_{z_{21}} & \tilde{C}_{z_{22}} & 0 & \tilde{D}_{zn_{2}} & D_{\mathsf{Q}_{21}} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{1} \\ x_{2} \\ x_{2} \\ x_{q_{12}} \\ n \\ w_{s} \\ w_{a} \end{bmatrix}$$

Theorem 1 implies $\|\mathbf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}}\|_{MSP} < \nu$ iff there exists $X \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{\tilde{n}}$, $R \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{l_r}$, $Z \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{l_z}$ and $W \in \mathbf{B}_{++}^{\eta}$ satisfying the LMIs

$$X \succ \tilde{A}X\tilde{A}^T + \tilde{B}_n\tilde{B}_n^T + \tilde{B}_wW\tilde{B}_w^T \tag{D.5a}$$

$$R \succ \tilde{C}_r X \tilde{C}_r^T + \tilde{D}_{rn} \tilde{D}_{rn}^T + \tilde{D}_{rw} W \tilde{D}_{rw}^T$$
(D.5b)

$$Z \succ \tilde{C}_z X \tilde{C}_z^T + \tilde{D}_{zn} \tilde{D}_{zn}^T + \tilde{D}_{zw} W \tilde{D}_{zw}^T$$
(D.5c)

$$W \succ \Sigma \circ Z$$
 (D.5d)

with $\nu^2 > \operatorname{tr}(R)$. We can construct a feasible $X \succ 0$ with a structure (D.6)

$$X = \begin{bmatrix} X_{11} & X_{12} & 0 \\ X_{12}^T & X_{22} & X_{23} \\ 0 & X_{23}^T & X_{33} \end{bmatrix}$$
(D.6)

following the partitioning of \tilde{A} . To do so, consider the recursion

للاستشارات

$$\tilde{X}(k+1) = \tilde{A}\tilde{X}(k)\tilde{A}^T + \tilde{B}_w\tilde{W}(k)\tilde{B}_w^T$$
(D.7a)

$$\tilde{R}(k) = \tilde{C}_r \tilde{X}(k) \tilde{C}_r^T + \tilde{D}_{rw} \tilde{W}(k) \tilde{D}_{rw}^T$$
(D.7b)

$$\tilde{Z}(k) = \tilde{C}_z \tilde{X}(k) \tilde{C}_z^T + \tilde{D}_{zw} \tilde{W}(k) \tilde{D}_{zw}^T$$
(D.7c)

$$\tilde{W}(k) = \Sigma \circ \tilde{Z}(k) \tag{D.7d}$$

which is is such that $\tilde{X}(k) \to 0$, $\tilde{R}(k) \to 0$, $\tilde{Z}(k) \to 0$, and $\tilde{W}(k) \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$, where linearity implies the convergence is exponential. Therefore if we let $P(k) \triangleq \sum_{j=0}^{k} \tilde{X}(j)$, then $P = \lim_{k\to\infty} P(k)$ exists. Additionally, due to the structure of \tilde{A} and \tilde{B}_w , if we choose $\tilde{X}(0) \succ 0$ with the structure (D.6), then $\tilde{X}(k)$ has this structure $\forall k \ge 0$ and hence so does P.

82

Now by Corollary 14, the state covariance $\tilde{X}(k)$ can be expressed

$$\tilde{X}(k+1) = \tilde{A}\tilde{X}(k)\tilde{A}^T + \tilde{B}_w \left[\Sigma \circ \left[\sum_{m=0}^{q-1} \mathcal{D}^m \left(\tilde{C}_z \tilde{X}(k) \tilde{C}_z^T \right) \right] \right] \tilde{B}_w^T$$
(D.8a)

Using this it is easy to verify that P(k) satisfies

$$P(k+1) = \tilde{A}P(k)\tilde{A}^T + \tilde{B}_w \left[\Sigma \circ \left[\sum_{m=0}^{q-1} \mathcal{D}^m \left(\tilde{C}_z P(k) \tilde{C}_z^T \right) \right] \right] \tilde{B}_w^T + \tilde{X}(0)$$
(D.9)

and

$$P = \tilde{A}P\tilde{A}^{T} + \tilde{B}_{w} \left[\Sigma \circ \left[\sum_{m=0}^{q-1} \mathcal{D}^{m} \left(\tilde{C}_{z}P\tilde{C}_{z}^{T} \right) \right] \right] \tilde{B}_{w}^{T} + \tilde{X}(0)$$
(D.10)

Therefore $\tilde{X}(0) \succ 0$ implies

$$P \succ \tilde{A}P\tilde{A}^{T} + \tilde{B}_{w} \left[\Sigma \circ \left[\sum_{m=0}^{q-1} \mathbf{D}^{m} \left(\tilde{C}_{z}P\tilde{C}_{z}^{T} \right) \right] \right] \tilde{B}_{w}^{T}$$
(D.11)

Again by Corollary 14, the state correlation recursion for $\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}} = \mathsf{F}_{\ell}(\mathsf{T}_{\mathsf{OF}}, \Delta)$ can be expressed

$$X(k+1) = \tilde{A}X(k)\tilde{A}^T + \tilde{B}_n N\tilde{B}_n + \tilde{B}_w \left[\Sigma \circ \left[\sum_{m=0}^{q-1} \mathcal{D}^m \left(\tilde{C}_z X(k) \tilde{C}_z^T + \tilde{D}_{zn} N \tilde{D}_{zn}^T \right) \right] \right] \tilde{B}_w^T \quad (D.12a)$$

and for any $X(0), X(k) \to \overline{X} \succeq 0$ as $k \to \infty$ where

$$\bar{X} = \tilde{A}\bar{X}\tilde{A}^T + \tilde{B}_n N\tilde{B}_n + \tilde{B}_w \left[\Sigma \circ \left[\sum_{m=0}^{q-1} \mathcal{D}^m \left(\tilde{C}_z \bar{X}\tilde{C}_z^T + \tilde{D}_{zn} N\tilde{D}_{zn}^T \right) \right] \right] \tilde{B}_w^T$$
(D.13a)

and \bar{X} has the structure in (D.6). To see this, recall that \bar{X} is unique for all $X(0) \succeq 0$, and that for $X(0) \succeq 0$ with the structure in (D.6), X(k) will have this structure $\forall k \ge 0$ and hence so does \bar{X} .

Therefore if we let $X = \overline{X} + \alpha P$, then for some $\alpha > 0$ we have

$$X \succ \tilde{A}X\tilde{A}^T + \tilde{B}_n\tilde{B}_n + \tilde{B}_w \left[\Sigma \circ \left[\sum_{m=0}^{q-1} \mathcal{D}^m \left(\tilde{C}_z X \tilde{C}_z^T + \tilde{D}_{zn} \tilde{D}_{zn}^T \right) \right] \right] \tilde{B}_w^T$$
(D.14a)

$$R \succ \tilde{C}_r X \tilde{C}_r^T + \tilde{D}_{rn} \tilde{D}_{rn} + \tilde{D}_{rw} \left[\Sigma \circ \left[\sum_{m=0}^{q-1} \mathcal{D}^m \left(\tilde{C}_z X \tilde{C}_z^T + \tilde{D}_{zn} \tilde{D}_{zn}^T \right) \right] \right] \tilde{D}_{rw}^T$$
(D.14b)



with $\nu^2 > \operatorname{tr}(R)$. We know from the proof of Theorem 1 that for this X and R there exist $Z \in \mathbf{S}_{++}^{l_z}$ and $W \in \mathbf{B}_{++}^{\eta}$ such that

$$X \succ \tilde{A}X\tilde{A}^T + \tilde{B}_n\tilde{B}_n^T + \tilde{B}_wW\tilde{B}_w^T \tag{D.15a}$$

$$R \succ \tilde{C}_r X \tilde{C}_r^T + \tilde{D}_{rn} \tilde{D}_{rn}^T + \tilde{D}_{rw} W \tilde{D}_{rw}^T$$
(D.15b)

$$Z \succ \tilde{C}_z X \tilde{C}_z^T + \tilde{D}_{zn} \tilde{D}_{zn}^T + \tilde{D}_{zw} W \tilde{D}_{zw}^T$$
(D.15c)

$$W \succ \Sigma \circ Z \tag{D.15d}$$

and $\|\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}}\|_{MSP}^2$ is the infimum of tr(R) subject to (D.15a)-(D.15d).

Note the output of Q_{12} does not enter the states $x_1(k)$ and $x_2(k)$ in (D.4a)-(D.4b) or the performance r(k) directly, but only $z_s(k)$ via $\tilde{C}_{Q_{12}}$. Since we restrict X to the structure in (D.6), the block diagonal elements of (D.15d) are given by

$$W_{s} \succ \Sigma_{s} \circ \left(\tilde{C}_{z_{11}} X_{11} \tilde{C}_{z_{11}}^{T} + C_{\mathsf{Q}_{12}} X_{33} C_{\mathsf{Q}_{12}}^{T} + \tilde{D}_{zn_{1}} \tilde{D}_{zn_{1}}^{T}\right)$$
(D.16a)
$$W_{a} \succ \Sigma_{a} \circ \left(\tilde{C}_{z_{21}} X_{11} \tilde{C}_{z_{21}}^{T} + \tilde{C}_{z_{22}} X_{12}^{T} \tilde{C}_{z_{21}}^{T} + \tilde{C}_{z_{21}} X_{12} \tilde{C}_{z_{22}}^{T} + \tilde{C}_{z_{22}} X_{22} \tilde{C}_{z_{22}}^{T} + D_{\mathsf{Q}_{21}} W_{s} D_{\mathsf{Q}_{21}}^{T}\right)$$
(D.16b)

Since $X_{33} \succ 0$, inequalities (D.15a)-(D.15d) are still satisfied with the same X, R, Z and W if $C_{Q_{12}} = 0$. Therefore this preserves MS stability. In fact, making $C_{Q_{12}} = 0$ relaxes these inequalities, and the infimum of tr(R) subject to relaxed inequalities cannot be greater.

Finally we simply note that under the condition that Q_{12} is strictly proper, $C_{Q_{12}} = 0$ forces $Q_{12} = 0$. Therefore if $\bar{H}_{OF} = F_{\ell}(\mathcal{T}_{OF}(F, L, L_0, \bar{Q}), \Delta)$ with $\bar{Q} = \begin{bmatrix} Q_{11} & 0 \\ Q_{21} & Q_{22} \end{bmatrix}$. Then $\bar{H}_{OF} \in \mathbf{H}_{OF}$ and $\|\bar{H}_{OF}\|_{MSP} \leq \|H_{OF}\|_{MSP}$.

Proof of Lemma 11. Recall Notation 4. $\bar{L} = \mathcal{L}^{\perp}(\bar{W}_s)$ and $\bar{L}_0 = \mathcal{L}_0^{\perp}(\bar{W}_s)$ are given by

المنسارات

$$\bar{L} = -(AX_r C_y^T)(C_y X_r C_y^T + D_n D_n^T + \bar{W}_s)^{-1}$$
(D.17a)

$$\bar{L}_0 = -(C_r X_r C_y^T + D_{rn} D_n^T)(C_y X_r C_y^T + D_n D_n^T + \bar{W}_s)^{-1}$$
(D.17b)

where X_r solves the corresponding \mathcal{H}_2 Riccati equation, or equivalently the Lyapunov equation

$$X_{r} = (A + \bar{L}C_{y})X_{r}(A + \bar{L}C_{y})^{T} + (B_{n} + \bar{L}D_{n})(B_{n} + \bar{L}D_{n})^{T} + \bar{L}\bar{W}_{s}\bar{L}^{T}$$
(D.18)

Recalling Notaition 3, \bar{W}_s is obtained from the steady state solution obtained by applying Lemma 1 to the given $H_{OF} = F_{\ell}(T_{OF}, \Delta)$ with any realization of T_{OF} . This is because \bar{W} , \bar{Z} , and \bar{R} are the steady state covariances of input/output signals to T_{OF} , and hence are invariant with respect to the particular state realization. (See Corollary 2.)

Now for any F such that $A + B_u F$ is Schur and the subsequent Q such that $\mathsf{T}_{\mathsf{OF}} = \mathcal{T}_{OF}(F, \overline{L}, \overline{L}_0, Q)$, let T_{OF} have a realization

$$\mathsf{T}_{\mathsf{OF}} : \begin{bmatrix} \dot{x}^{+} \\ r \\ z \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \dot{A} & \dot{B}_{n} & \dot{B}_{w} \\ \dot{C}_{r} & \dot{D}_{rn} & \dot{D}_{rw} \\ \dot{C}_{z} & \dot{D}_{zn} & \dot{D}_{zw} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \dot{x} \\ n \\ w \end{bmatrix}$$
(D.19)

with $\dot{x} \triangleq \begin{bmatrix} e \\ \hat{x} \\ x_{\mathsf{Q}} \end{bmatrix} \in \mathbf{R}^{n'}$ as in Proposition 11, Figure 6.3. From Lemma 1 we obtain

$$\dot{X} = \dot{A}\dot{X}\dot{A}^T + \dot{B}_n\dot{B}_n^T + \dot{B}_w\bar{W}\dot{B}_w^T \tag{D.20a}$$

$$\bar{R} = \acute{C}_r \acute{X} \acute{C}_r^T + \acute{D}_{rn} \acute{D}_{rn}^T + \acute{D}_{rw} \bar{W} \acute{D}_{rw}^T$$
(D.20b)

$$\bar{W} = \Sigma \circ (\acute{C}_z \acute{X} \acute{C}_z^T + \acute{D}_{zn} \acute{D}_{zn}^T + \acute{D}_{zw} \bar{W} \acute{D}_{zw}^T)$$
(D.20c)

Partition \acute{X} in (D.20a) as

$$\dot{X} = \begin{bmatrix}
\dot{X}_{e} & \dot{X}_{e\hat{x}} & \dot{X}_{ex_{Q}} \\
(\dot{X}_{e\hat{x}})^{T} & \dot{X}_{\hat{x}} & \dot{X}_{\hat{x}x_{Q}} \\
(\dot{X}_{ex_{Q}})^{T} & (\dot{X}_{\hat{x}x_{Q}})^{T} & \dot{X}_{Q}
\end{bmatrix}$$
(D.21)



Following some tedious algebra–working out the structure of \hat{A} , \hat{B}_n , and \hat{B}_w , then expanding (D.20a) we can express the \hat{X}_e , $\hat{X}_{e\hat{x}}$, and $\hat{X}_{ex_{\mathsf{Q}}}$ blocks of \hat{X} in Equation (D.21) as

$$\begin{split} \dot{X}_{e} &= (A + \bar{L}C_{y})\dot{X}_{e}(A + \bar{L}C_{y})^{T} \\ &+ (B_{n} + \bar{L}D_{n})(B_{n} + \bar{L}D_{n})^{T} + \bar{L}\bar{W}_{s}\bar{L}^{T} \\ \dot{X}_{e\hat{x}} &= (A + \bar{L}C_{y})\dot{X}_{e\hat{x}}(A + B_{u}F)^{T} + (A + \bar{L}C_{y})\dot{X}_{ex_{Q}}(B_{u}C_{Q_{2}})^{T} \\ &+ (A\dot{X}_{e}C_{y}^{T})(B_{u}D_{Q_{21}})^{T} \\ &+ \bar{L}(C_{y}\dot{X}_{e}C_{y}^{T} + D_{n}D_{n}^{T} + \bar{W}_{s})(B_{u}D_{Q_{21}})^{T} \\ &- (A\dot{X}_{e}C_{y}^{T})\bar{L}^{T} \\ &- \bar{L}(C_{y}\dot{X}_{e}C_{y}^{T} + D_{n}D_{n}^{T} + \bar{W}_{s})\bar{L}^{T} \\ \dot{X}_{ex_{Q}} &= (A + \bar{L}C_{y})\dot{X}_{ex_{Q}}(A_{Q})^{T} + (A\dot{X}_{e}C_{y}^{T})B_{Q_{1}}^{T} \\ &+ \bar{L}(C_{y}\dot{X}_{e}C_{y}^{T} + D_{n}D_{n}^{T} + \bar{W}_{s})B_{Q_{1}}^{T} \\ \end{split}$$
(D.22c)

Note that \dot{X}_e above solves and identical Lyapunov equation as X_r in Equation (D.18), and $(A+\bar{L}C_y)$ is Schur. By Proposition 14 the solution is unique. Therefore $\dot{X}_e = X_r$ and substituting \bar{L} from Equation (D.17a) into $\dot{X}_{e\hat{x}}$ and \dot{X}_{ex_Q} and simplifying gives

$$\hat{X}_{e\hat{x}} = (A + \bar{L}C_y) \hat{X}_{e\hat{x}} (A + B_u F)^T + (A + \bar{L}C_y) \hat{X}_{ex_Q} (B_u C_{Q_2})^T$$

$$\hat{X}_{ex_Q} = (A + \bar{L}C_y) \hat{X}_{ex_Q} (A_Q)^T$$

Because $(A + \overline{L}C_y)$, $(A + B_u F)$, and A_Q are Schur matrices, Proposition 13 (Appendix A) implies $\dot{X}_{ex_Q} = 0$ and $\dot{X}_{e\hat{x}} = 0$.



Now focusing on the MS performance, we can separate \bar{R} in (D.20b) as $\bar{R} \triangleq \bar{R}_e + \bar{R}_{e\hat{x}} + (\bar{R}_{e\hat{x}})^T + \bar{R}_{\hat{x}}$. Using $\dot{X}_{e\hat{x}} = 0$ and $\dot{X}_{ex_Q} = 0$ we expand each as

$$\bar{R}_{e} = (C_{r} + \bar{L}_{0}C_{y})\dot{X}_{e}(C_{r} + \bar{L}_{0}C_{y})^{T}$$

$$+ (D_{rn} + \bar{L}_{0}D_{n})(D_{rn} + \bar{L}_{0}D_{n})^{T} + \bar{L}_{0}\bar{W}_{s}\bar{L}_{0}^{T}$$

$$\bar{R}_{e\hat{x}} = \left[C_{r}\dot{X}_{e}C_{y}^{T} + D_{rn}D_{n}^{T} + \bar{L}_{0}(C_{y}\dot{X}_{e}C_{y}^{T} + D_{n}D_{n}^{T} + \bar{W}_{s})\right]D_{\mathsf{Q}_{21}}^{T}D_{r}^{T}$$

$$- (C_{r}\dot{X}_{e}C_{y}^{T} + D_{rn}D_{n}^{T})\bar{L}_{0} - \bar{L}_{0}(C_{y}\dot{X}_{e}C_{y}^{T} + D_{n}D_{n}^{T} + \bar{W}_{s})\bar{L}_{0}^{T}$$

$$- (C_{r}\dot{X}_{e}C_{y}^{T} + D_{rn}D_{n}^{T})\bar{L}_{0} - \bar{L}_{0}(C_{y}\dot{X}_{e}C_{y}^{T} + D_{n}D_{n}^{T} + \bar{W}_{s})\bar{L}_{0}^{T}$$

$$\bar{R}_{\hat{x}} = \left[C_{r} + D_{r}F \quad D_{r}C_{\mathsf{Q}_{2}}\right] \left[\dot{X}_{\hat{x}} \quad \dot{X}_{\hat{x}x\mathsf{Q}} \\ \dot{X}_{\hat{x}x\mathsf{Q}}^{T} \quad \dot{X}_{\mathsf{Q}}\right] \left[C_{r}^{T} + F^{T}D_{r}^{T} \\ C_{\mathsf{Q}_{2}}^{T}D_{r}^{T}\right]$$

$$+ (D_{r}D_{\mathsf{Q}_{21}} - \bar{L}_{0})S(D_{r}D_{\mathsf{Q}_{21}} - \bar{L}_{0})^{T} + D_{rw}\bar{W}_{a}D_{rw}^{T}$$
(D.24b)

with

🕻 للاستشارات

$$S \triangleq C_y \acute{X}_e C_y^T + D_n D_n^T + \bar{W}_s \tag{D.24c}$$

Recalling $X_r = \dot{X}_e$ and substituting \bar{L}_0 from (D.17b) into $\bar{R}_{e\hat{x}}$ and simplifying we get $\bar{R}_{e\hat{x}} = 0$ which means

$$\bar{R} = \bar{R}_e + \bar{R}_{\hat{x}} \Rightarrow \operatorname{tr}(\bar{R}) = \operatorname{tr}(\bar{R}_e) + \operatorname{tr}(\bar{R}_{\hat{x}}) \tag{D.25}$$

where $\operatorname{tr}(\bar{R}_e)$ and $\operatorname{tr}(\bar{R}_{\hat{x}})$ are the squared MS performance values for the $r_e(k)$ and $r_{\hat{x}}(k)$ outputs in Figure 6.3. Equivalently, referring to (D.24a)-(D.24c), $\|\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}}\|_{MSP}^2 = \|\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{FC}}\|_{MSP}^2 + \|\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{DF}}\bar{S}^{\frac{1}{2}}\|_{MSP}^2 \square$

The proof of Lemma 11 implies the following corollary which will be useful in the proof of Corollary 13 to follow.

Corollary 15. Given any $\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}} \in \mathbf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}}''$ with $\bar{W}_s = \mathcal{W}(\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}}), \ \bar{L} = \mathcal{L}^{\perp}(\bar{W}_s), \ \bar{L}_0 = \mathcal{L}_0^{\perp}(\bar{W}_s), \ and \ \bar{S} = \mathcal{S}^{\perp}(\bar{W}_s), \ let \ \mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{FC}} = \mathcal{H}_{FC}(\bar{L}, \bar{L}_0, \mathsf{Q}_{11}, \Delta_s) \ and \ define \ the \ stable \ system$

$$\hat{\mathsf{G}}_{\mathsf{FC}}^{\bar{\mathsf{W}}} : \begin{bmatrix} \bar{e}^{+} \\ \bar{r} \\ s \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A + \bar{L}C_{y} & B_{n} + \bar{L}D_{n} & \bar{L}\bar{W}_{s}^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ \hline C_{r} + \bar{L}_{0}C_{y} & D_{rn} + \bar{L}_{0}D_{n} & \bar{L}_{0}\bar{W}_{s}^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ \hline C_{y} & D_{n} & \bar{W}_{s}^{\frac{1}{2}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \bar{e} \\ \bar{n}_{1} \\ \bar{n}_{2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(D.26)

and $S = \lim_{k \to \infty} E(s(k)s^T(k))$. Then $\bar{S} = S$, and if we let $\mathsf{T}_{\bar{\mathsf{FC}}}^{\bar{\mathsf{W}}}$ be the part of $\hat{\mathsf{G}}_{\bar{\mathsf{FC}}}^{\bar{\mathsf{W}}}$ with output \bar{r} , $\|\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{FC}}\|_{MSP} = \|\mathsf{T}_{\mathsf{FC}}^{\bar{\mathsf{W}}}\|_2$. Proof of Corollary 13. Any $\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}} \in \mathbf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}}''$ has a realization which is the interconnection of $\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{FC}} = \mathcal{H}_{FC}(\bar{L}, \bar{L}_0, \mathsf{Q}_{11}, \Delta_s)$ and $\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{DF}} = \mathcal{H}_{DF}(\bar{L}, \bar{L}_0, F^\star, [F_0' \ 0], \Delta_a)$ where $\bar{W}_s = \mathcal{W}(\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}}), \ \bar{S} = \mathcal{S}^{\perp}(\bar{W}_s),$ $\bar{L} = \mathcal{L}^{\perp}(\bar{W}_s)$ and $\bar{L}_0 = \mathcal{L}_0^{\perp}(\bar{W}_s),$ and $F_0' = \mathcal{F}(\bar{W}_s).$

Using these quantities, define the following systems.

$$\hat{\mathsf{G}}_{\mathsf{FC}}^{\tilde{\mathsf{W}}} : \begin{bmatrix} \bar{e}^{+} \\ \bar{r}_{FC} \\ s \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A + \bar{L}C_{y} & B_{n} + \bar{L}D_{n} & \bar{L}\bar{W}_{s}^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ C_{r} + \bar{L}_{0}C_{y} & D_{rn} + \bar{L}_{0}D_{n} & \bar{L}_{0}\bar{W}_{s}^{\frac{1}{2}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \bar{e} \\ \bar{n}_{1} \\ \bar{n}_{2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(D.27)
$$\mathsf{G}_{\mathsf{DF}}^{\tilde{\mathsf{W}}} : \begin{bmatrix} \bar{x}^{+} \\ \bar{r}_{DF_{1}} \\ \bar{r}_{DF_{2}} \\ \bar{y} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A & -\bar{L} & B_{u} \\ \hline C_{r} \\ 0 \\ C_{y} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} -\bar{L}_{0} \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} D_{r} \\ \bar{V}_{2}^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ \bar{V}_{2}^{\frac{1}{2}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{\mathsf{G}} \\ s \\ u \end{bmatrix}$$
(D.28)

where $\bar{V} = \Sigma \circ (B_w^T X_{DF} B_w + D_{rw}^T D_{rw}).$

للاستشارات

It is easy to verify that $G_{OF}^{\bar{w}}$ in (6.17) is equal to the interconnection of $\hat{G}_{FC}^{\bar{w}}$ in (D.27) and $G_{DF}^{\bar{w}}$ in (D.28). These two systems have the structure of the classical FC/DF split for $G_{OF}^{\bar{w}}$. Moreover \bar{L} and \bar{L}_0 are the optimal \mathcal{H}_2 FC gains for this problem, and since (D.28) is an instance of (5.22), Lemma 5 implies that F^* and F'_0 are the optimal \mathcal{H}_2 DF gains for this problem. Therefore if we let $T_{FC}^{\bar{w}}$ be the part of $\hat{G}_{FC}^{\bar{w}}$ with output \bar{r}_{FC} , $S = \lim_{k\to\infty} E(s(k)s^T(k))$, $T_{DF}^{\bar{w}}$ be the resulting DF closed loop, and $T_{OF}^{\bar{w}}$ be the overall closed loop, then $\|T_{OF}^{\bar{w}}\|_2^2 = \|T_{FC}^{\bar{w}}\|_2^2 + \|T_{DF}^{\bar{w}}S^{\frac{1}{2}}\|_2^2$.

Finally, we know that $\bar{S} = S$ and $\|\mathsf{T}_{\mathsf{FC}}^{\tilde{\mathsf{W}}}\|_2 = \|\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{FC}}\|_{MSP}$ by Corollary 15, and $\|\mathsf{T}_{\mathsf{DF}}^{\tilde{\mathsf{W}}}\bar{S}^{\frac{1}{2}}\|_2 = \|\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{DF}}\bar{S}^{\frac{1}{2}}\|_{MSP}$ by Lemma 5. That is, $\|\mathsf{T}_{\mathsf{OF}}^{\tilde{\mathsf{W}}}\|_2^2 = \|\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{FC}}\|_{MSP}^2 + \|\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{DF}}\bar{S}^{\frac{1}{2}}\|_{MSP}^2 = \|\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}}\|_{MSP}^2$.

Proof of Theorem 2. We can verify that the controller $\mathsf{K}_{\mathsf{OF}}^{\star}$ as given in (6.20) is MS stabilizing by noting that the resulting closed loop $\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}}^{\star}$ is equal to the interconnection of $\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{FC}}^{\star} = \mathcal{H}_{FC}(L^{\star}, L_0^{\star}, 0, \Delta_s)$ and $\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{DF}}^{\star} = \mathcal{H}_{DF}(L^{\star}, L_0^{\star}, F^{\star}, [F_0^{\star} \ 0], \Delta_a)$ in Figure 6.4 where both $\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{FC}}^{\star}$ and $\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{DF}}^{\star} = \mathcal{H}_{DF}(L^{\star}, L_0^{\star}, F^{\star}, [F_0^{\star} \ 0], \Delta_a)$ are MS stable. Moreover, if we let $W_s^{\star} = \mathcal{W}(\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}}^{\star})$ then by Lemma 9 and Corollary 15, $L^{\star} = \mathcal{L}^{\perp}(W_s^{\star}), L_0^{\star} = \mathcal{L}_0^{\perp}(W_s^{\star}), S_{FC} = \mathcal{S}^{\perp}(W_s^{\star})$, meaning by Lemma 11 we have

$$\|\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}}^{\star}\|_{\scriptscriptstyle MSP}^{2} = \|\mathsf{H}_{\scriptscriptstyle FC}^{\star}\|_{\scriptscriptstyle MSP}^{2} + \|\mathsf{H}_{\scriptscriptstyle DF}^{\star}S_{\scriptscriptstyle FC}^{\frac{1}{2}}\|_{\scriptscriptstyle MSP}^{2}$$

Moreover, with $\overline{L} = L^{\star}$ and $\overline{L}_0 = L_0^{\star}$ we have $F_0^{\star} = F_0' = \mathcal{F}(\overline{W}_s)$, and $\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}}^{\star} \in \mathbf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}}''$.

Now consider any other $\bar{\mathsf{H}}_{\mathsf{OF}} \in \mathbf{H}''_{\mathsf{OF}}$ and let $\bar{W}_s = \mathcal{W}(\mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{OF}}), \ \bar{L} = \mathcal{L}^{\perp}(\bar{W}_s), \ \bar{L}_0 = \mathcal{L}_0^{\perp}(\bar{W}_s).$ Recalling the proof of Lemma 11, we have that substituting \bar{L} into (D.22a) gives us

$$\acute{X}_{e} = A\acute{X}_{e}A^{T} + B_{n}B_{n}^{T} - (A\acute{X}_{e}C_{y}^{T})(C_{y}\acute{X}_{e}C_{y}^{T} + D_{n}D_{n}^{T} + \bar{W}_{s})^{-1}(C_{y}\acute{X}_{e}A^{T})$$

where

$$\bar{W}_s = \Sigma_s \circ (C_z \acute{X}_e C_z^T + D_{zn} D_{zn}^T + C_{\mathsf{Q}_1} \acute{X}_{\mathsf{Q}} C_{\mathsf{Q}_1}^T)$$
(D.29)

 and^2

 $C_{\mathsf{Q}_1} \acute{X}_{\mathsf{Q}} C_{\mathsf{Q}_1}^T \neq 0 \Leftrightarrow \mathsf{Q}_{11} \neq 0$. Similarly, for L^* in (6.18d) we have

$$X_{e}^{\star} = AX_{e}^{\star}A^{T} + B_{n}B_{n}^{T} - (AX_{e}^{\star}C_{y}^{T})(C_{y}X_{e}^{\star}C_{y}^{T} + D_{n}D_{n}^{T} + \bar{W}_{s}^{\star})^{-1}(C_{y}X_{e}^{\star}A^{T})$$

where

$$W_s^{\star} = \Sigma_s \circ (C_z X_e^{\star} C_z^T + D_{zn} D_{zn}^T)$$
(D.30)

Note that since $C_{\mathsf{Q}_1} \dot{X}_{\mathsf{Q}} C_{\mathsf{Q}_1}^T \succeq 0$ the following inequality is satisfied by our quantities.

$$\begin{bmatrix} B_n B_n^T & 0\\ 0 & D_n D_n^T + \Sigma_s \circ (D_{zn} D_{zn}^T + C_{\mathsf{Q}_1} \acute{X}_{\mathsf{Q}} C_{\mathsf{Q}_1}^T) \end{bmatrix} \succeq \begin{bmatrix} B_n B_n^T & 0\\ 0 & D_n D_n^T + \Sigma_s \circ (D_{zn} D_{zn}^T) \end{bmatrix}$$
(D.31)

Inequality (D.31) means we meet the conditions of Lemma 5.4 in [67], which directly tells us that $\dot{X}_e \succeq X_e^{\star}$. Since $C_{\mathsf{Q}_1} \dot{X}_{\mathsf{Q}} C_{\mathsf{Q}_1}^T \succeq 0$ this means $\bar{W}_s \succeq W_s^{\star}$.

By Corollary 13, $\|\bar{\mathsf{H}}_{\mathsf{OF}}\|_{MSP}$ is equal to the optimal \mathcal{H}_2 performance given a plant (6.17) subject to an exogenous noise with covariance \bar{W}_s , and $\|\mathsf{H}^{\star}_{\mathsf{OF}}\|_{MSP}$ is equivalent to the optimal \mathcal{H}_2 performance given the same plant subject to an exogenous noise with covariance W_s^{\star} . We have just shown that $W_s^{\star} \leq \bar{W}_s$. We conclude that $\|\mathsf{H}^{\star}_{\mathsf{OF}}\|_{MSP} \leq \|\bar{\mathsf{H}}_{\mathsf{OF}}\|_{MSP}$ for any $\bar{\mathsf{H}}_{\mathsf{OF}} \in \mathbf{H}''_{\mathsf{OF}}$, i.e. $\nu_{OF}^{\star} = \|\mathsf{H}^{\star}_{\mathsf{OF}}\|_{MSP}$.

²Using Proposition 14, $C_{\mathsf{Q}_1} \acute{X}_{\mathsf{Q}} C_{\mathsf{Q}_1}^T = C_{\mathsf{Q}_1} B_{\mathsf{Q}_1} S B_{\mathsf{Q}_1}^T C_{\mathsf{Q}_1}^T + C_{\mathsf{Q}_1} A_{\mathsf{Q}} B_{\mathsf{Q}_1} S B_{\mathsf{Q}_1}^T A_{\mathsf{Q}}^T C_{\mathsf{Q}_1}^T + \dots$ which since $S \succ 0$ is zero if and only if $\mathsf{Q}_{11} = 0$ (i.e. has zero impulse response).



APPENDIX E. NOTATION

Sets and Vector Spaces

Ø	Empty set
Ν	Natural numbers (nonnegative integers)
R	Real numbers
\mathbf{R}^n	Real <i>n</i> -vectors $(n \times 1 \text{ matrices})$
$\mathbf{R}^{n imes m}$	Real $n \times m$ matrices
\mathbf{S}^n	Symmetric $n \times n$ matrices
\mathbf{S}^n_+	Symmetric positive semidefinite $n \times n$ matrices
\mathbf{S}_{++}^n	Symmetric positive definite $n \times n$ matrices
\mathbf{D}^n	$n \times n$ diagonal matrices
\mathbf{D}^n_+	$n \times n$ diagonal positive semidefinite matrices
\mathbf{D}_{++}^n	$n \times n$ diagonal positive definite matrices
\mathbf{B}^η	Block diagonal matrices made of symmetric $\eta_i \times \eta_i$ blocks
\mathbf{B}^η_+	Block diagonal positive semidefinite matrices made of symmetric $\eta_i \times \eta_i$ blocks
\mathbf{B}_{++}^{η}	Block diagonal positive definite matrices made of symmetric $\eta_i \times \eta_i$ blocks
a_i	The i th element of some indexed set
$\{a_i\}$	The set of some elements a_i for $i = 1,$

Vectors, matrices, and linear operators

v_i	If v is a vector, the <i>i</i> th element of the vector v
M_{ij}	Element in the i th row and j th column of the matrix M
I_n	$n \times n$ identity matrix

I Identity matrix of whatever size is appropriate in context المتارك للاستشارات

$1_{n\times m}$	$n \times m$ matrix of ones
1	Vector of ones of whatever size appropriate in context
0	Matrix of zeros of whatever size is appropriate in context
X^T	Transpose of the matrix X
X^{-1}	Inverse of the matrix X
X^{\dagger}	Moore-Penrose pseudo-inverse of the matrix X
$\operatorname{tr}(X)$	Trace of the matrix X
$\operatorname{diag}(X, Y, \ldots)$	Block diagonal matrix with diagonal blocks X, Y, \ldots
$X \circ Y$	The Hadamard (element-by-elemenet) product of the matrices X and Y
$X\otimes Y$	The Kronecker product of the matrices X and Y
$\operatorname{vec}(X)$	The vectorization of the matrix X , i.e. all columns of X stacked into a vector
$X \succ 0$	X is a symmetric positive definite matrix
$X \succeq 0$	X is a symmetric positive semidefinite matrix
$X \succ Y$	X - Y is a symmetric positive definite matrix
$X \succeq Y$	X - Y is a symmetric positive semidefinite matrix
$X^{\frac{1}{2}}$	For $X \succeq 0$, the unique symmetric matrix such that $X^{\frac{1}{2}} \succeq 0$ and $(X^{\frac{1}{2}})^2 = X$
$X^{\frac{1}{2}}$	For $X \succ 0$, the unique symmetric matrix such that $X^{\frac{1}{2}} \succ 0$ and $(X^{\frac{1}{2}})^2 = X$
$T^n(X)$	Recursive application of $T : \mathbf{V} \mapsto \mathbf{V}$ for $X \in \mathbf{V}$, e.g. $T^2(X) = T(T(X))$
$\mathrm{T}^{0}(X)$	Identity application of $T: \mathbf{V} \mapsto \mathbf{V}$ for $X \in \mathbf{V}$, i.e. $T^0(X) = X$
ho(T)	The spectral radius of the linear operator T

Linear systems and discrete time indexing

G	A linear system
G^T	The dual linear system of ${\sf G}$ (See (1.1) and (1.2) page 7.)
$\mathrm{F}_\ell(G,K)$	The lower linear fractional transformation (LFT) of ${\sf G}$ and ${\sf K}$ (See e.g. $[61,62])$
$\operatorname{Star}(G,J)$	The star product of ${\sf G}$ and ${\sf J}$ (See e.g. [61])
$\ T\ _2$	The \mathcal{H}_2 norm of the LTI system T
$\ H\ _{\!\scriptscriptstyle M\!S\!P}$	The mean-square performance norm of the LTV system ${\sf H}$ (Definition 3)



X(k)	The quantity X at time k
x^+	Shorthand for $x(k+1)$ within linear system state space realizations
A is Schur	For a square matrix A , all eigenvalues have magnitude less than one

Probability

$\mathrm{E}(X)$	Expected value of the quantity X
$\operatorname{var}(x)$	Variance of the scalar random variable x
$\operatorname{cov}(v)$	Covariance matrix of the random vector \boldsymbol{v}
$\Pr(S)$	The probability of event S

Acronyms and abbreviations

MS	Mean-square
LTI	Linear time-invariant
LTV	Linear time-varying
FDLTI	Finite-dimensional linear time-invariant
LMI	Linear matrix inequality
i.i.d.	Independent and identically distributed



BIBLIOGRAPHY

- R. A. Gupta and M. Y. Chow, "Networked control system: Overview and research trends," *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, vol. 57, no. 7, pp. 2527–2535, July 2010.
- [2] L. Zhang, H. Gao, and O. Kaynak, "Network-induced constraints in networked control systems-a survey," *Industrial Informatics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 403– 416, Feb 2013.
- [3] X.-M. Zhang, Q.-L. Han, and X. Yu, "Survey on recent advances in networked control systems," *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Informatics*, vol. 12, no. 5, pp. 1740–1752, 2016.
- [4] J. Hespanha, P. Naghshtabrizi, and Y. Xu, "A survey of recent results in networked control systems," *Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 95, no. 1, pp. 138–162, Jan 2007.
- [5] R. A. Gupta and M.-Y. Chow, "Overview of networked control systems," in *Networked Control Systems*. Springer, 2008, pp. 1–23.
- [6] S. Zampieri, "Trends in networked control systems," *IFAC Proceedings Volumes*, vol. 41, no. 2, pp. 2886–2894, 2008.
- [7] K.-D. Kim and P. Kumar, "Cyber-physical systems: A perspective at the centennial," *Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 100, no. Special Centennial Issue, pp. 1287–1308, May 2012.
- [8] X. Liu and A. Goldsmith, "Kalman filtering with partial observation losses," in *Decision and Control, 2004. CDC. 43rd IEEE Conference on*, vol. 4. IEEE, 2004, pp. 4180–4186.



- [9] B. Sinopoli, L. Schenato, M. Franceschetti, K. Poolla, M. Jordan, and S. Sastry, "Kalman filtering with intermittent observations," *Automatic Control, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 49, no. 9, pp. 1453–1464, Sept 2004.
- [10] L. Schenato, "Optimal estimation in networked control systems subject to random delay and packet drop," *Automatic Control, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 53, no. 5, pp. 1311–1317, 2008.
- [11] L. Shi, M. Epstein, and R. M. Murray, "Kalman filtering over a packet-dropping network: a probabilistic perspective," *Automatic Control, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 55, no. 3, pp. 594–604, 2010.
- [12] E. Silva, M. Solis *et al.*, "An alternative look at the constant-gain kalman filter for state estimation over erasure channels," *Automatic Control, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 58, no. 12, pp. 3259–3265, 2013.
- [13] S. Sun and J. Ma, "Linear estimation for networked control systems with random transmission delays and packet dropouts," *Information Sciences*, vol. 269, pp. 349–365, 2014.
- [14] H. Lin, H. Su, Z. Shu, Z.-G. Wu, and Y. Xu, "Optimal estimation in udp-like networked control systems with intermittent inputs: stability analysis and suboptimal filter design," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 61, no. 7, pp. 1794–1809, 2016.
- [15] A. Diwadkar and U. Vaidya, "Limitations for nonlinear observation over erasure channel," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 58, no. 2, pp. 454–459, Feb 2013.
- [16] L. Schenato, B. Sinopoli, M. Franceschetti, K. Poolla, and S. S. Sastry, "Foundations of control and estimation over lossy networks," *Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 95, no. 1, pp. 163–187, 2007.
- [17] O. C. Imer, S. Yüksel, and T. Başar, "Optimal control of lti systems over unreliable communication links," *Automatica*, vol. 42, no. 9, pp. 1429–1439, 2006.



- [18] B. Sinopoli, L. Schenato, M. Franceschetti, K. Poolla, and S. S. Sastry, "Optimal control with unreliable communication: the tcp case," in *American Control Conference*, 2005. *Proceedings of the 2005*. IEEE, 2005, pp. 3354–3359.
- [19] E. Garone, B. Sinopoli, A. Goldsmith, and A. Casavola, "Lqg control for mimo systems over multiple erasure channels with perfect acknowledgment," *Automatic Control, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 57, no. 2, pp. 450–456, 2012.
- [20] V. Gupta, B. Hassibi, and R. M. Murray, "Optimal lqg control across packet-dropping links," Systems & Control Letters, vol. 56, no. 6, pp. 439–446, 2007.
- [21] D. Hristu-Varsakelis and L. Zhang, "Lqg control of networked control systems with access constraints and delays," *International Journal of Control*, vol. 81, no. 8, pp. 1266–1280, 2008.
- [22] J. Moon and T. Basar, "Discrete-time lqg mean field games with unreliable communication," in *Decision and Control (CDC)*, 2014 IEEE 53rd Annual Conference on, Dec 2014, pp. 2697–2702.
- [23] N. Elia, "Remote stabilization over fading channels," Systems & Control Letters, 2005.
- [24] B. Bamieh, "Structured stochastic uncertainty," in *Proceedigns of the Allerton Conference*. IEEE, 2012, pp. 1498–1503.
- [25] V. Gupta and N. C. Martins, "On stability in the presence of analog erasure channel between the controller and the actuator," *Automatic Control, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 55, no. 1, pp. 175–179, 2010.
- [26] X. Ma and N. Elia, "Mean square stability analysis for uniformly circulant networked consensus with stochastic link failures," in *American Control Conference (ACC)*, 2012. IEEE, 2012, pp. 1591–1596.
- [27] M. Rich and N. Elia, "Convex synthesis and limitations of mean-square stabilizing controllers for mimo systems with actuator-side dropouts," in *Control & Automation (MED)*, 2014 22nd Mediterranean Conference on. IEEE, 2014, pp. 779–784.



- [28] —, "Convex synthesis and limitations of mean-square stabilizing controllers for mimo systems over packet drop networks," in *Decision and Control (CDC)*, 2014 IEEE 53rd Annual Conference on. IEEE, 2014, pp. 6857–6862.
- [29] A. Diwadkar and U. Vaidya, "Stabilization of linear time varying systems over uncertainchannels," *International Journal of Robust and Nonlinear Control*, vol. 24, no. 7, pp. 1205–1220, 2014. [Online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/rnc.2935
- [30] N. Elia and J. Eisenbeis, "Limitations of linear control over packet drop networks," Automatic Control, IEEE Transactions on, vol. 56, no. 4, pp. 826–841, 2011.
- [31] N. Xiao, L. Xie, and L. Qiu, "Mean square stabilization of multi-input systems over stochastic multiplicative channels," *Proceedings of the 48h IEEE Conference on Decision* and Control (CDC) held jointly with 2009 28th Chinese Control Conference, no. X, pp. 6893–6898, Dec. 2009.
- [32] —, "Feedback stabilization of discrete-time networked systems over fading channels," Automatic Control, IEEE Transactions on, vol. 57, no. 9, pp. 2176–2189, 2012.
- [33] P. S. Padmasola, "Tradeoffs and limitations in networked control systems," Ph.D. dissertation, Iowa State University, 2006.
- [34] P. Padmasola and N. Elia, "Mean square stabilization of lti systems over packet-drop networks with imperfect side information," in *American Control Conference*, 2006. IEEE, 2006, pp. 6–pp.
- [35] M. Rich and N. Elia, "Optimal mean-square performance for mimo networked systems," in American Control Conference (ACC), 2015. IEEE, 2015, pp. 6040–6045.
- [36] —, "Optimal mean-square performance controller synthesis for mimo networked systems with unreliable communication," in American Control Conference (ACC), 2016. IEEE, 2016, pp. 7123–7128.



- [37] X. Ma and N. Elia, "Mean square performance and robust yet fragile nature of torus networked average consensus," *Control of Network Systems, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. PP, no. 99, pp. 1–1, 2015.
- [38] O. L. do Valle Costa, M. D. Fragoso, and R. P. Marques, Discrete-time Markov jump linear systems. Springer, 2006.
- [39] V. Dragan, T. Morozan, and A.-M. Stoica, Mathematical methods in robust control of discrete-time linear stochastic systems. Springer, 2010.
- [40] P. Seiler and R. Sengupta, "Analysis of communication losses in vehicle control problems," in American Control Conference, 2001. Proceedings of the 2001, vol. 2. IEEE, 2001, pp. 1491–1496.
- [41] —, "An h/sub/spl infin//approach to networked control," IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, vol. 50, no. 3, pp. 356–364, 2005.
- [42] Y. Shi and B. Yu, "Output feedback stabilization of networked control systems with random delays modeled by markov chains," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 54, no. 7, pp. 1668–1674, 2009.
- [43] L. A. Montestruque and P. Antsaklis, "Stability of model-based networked control systems with time-varying transmission times," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 49, no. 9, pp. 1562–1572, 2004.
- [44] L. Zhang, Y. Shi, T. Chen, and B. Huang, "A new method for stabilization of networked control systems with random delays," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 50, no. 8, pp. 1177–1181, 2005.
- [45] R. Yang, G.-P. Liu, P. Shi, C. Thomas, and M. V. Basin, "Predictive output feedback control for networked control systems," *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, vol. 61, no. 1, pp. 512–520, 2014.
- [46] Y. Hatano and M. Mesbahi, "Agreement over random networks," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 50, no. 11, pp. 1867–1872, 2005.



- [47] S. Patterson, B. Bamieh, and A. El Abbadi, "Distributed average consensus with stochastic communication failures," in *Decision and Control*, 2007 46th IEEE Conference on. IEEE, 2007, pp. 4215–4220.
- [48] S. Kar and J. M. Moura, "Distributed consensus algorithms in sensor networks with imperfect communication: Link failures and channel noise," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 57, no. 1, pp. 355–369, 2009.
- [49] J. Wang and N. Elia, "Distributed averaging algorithms resilient to communication noise and dropouts," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 61, no. 9, pp. 2231–2242, May 2013.
- [50] —, "Distributed least square with intermittent communications," in 2012 American Control Conference (ACC), June 2012, pp. 6479–6484.
- [51] —, "Distributed solution of linear equations over unreliable networks," in 2016 American Control Conference (ACC), July 2016, pp. 6471–6476.
- [52] C. Peng and Q.-L. Han, "On designing a novel self-triggered sampling scheme for networked control systems with data losses and communication delays," *IEEE Transactions* on *Industrial Electronics*, vol. 63, no. 2, pp. 1239–1248, 2016.
- [53] C. Peng and T. C. Yang, "Event-triggered communication and h control co-design for networked control systems," *Automatica*, vol. 49, no. 5, pp. 1326–1332, 2013.
- [54] G. S. Seyboth, D. V. Dimarogonas, and K. H. Johansson, "Event-based broadcasting for multi-agent average consensus," *Automatica*, vol. 49, no. 1, pp. 245–252, 2013.
- [55] D. V. Dimarogonas, E. Frazzoli, and K. H. Johansson, "Distributed event-triggered control for multi-agent systems," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 57, no. 5, pp. 1291–1297, May 2012.
- [56] R. Niu and L. Huie, "System state estimation in the presence of false information injection," in 2012 IEEE Statistical Signal Processing Workshop (SSP), Aug 2012, pp. 385–388.



- [57] M. Zhu and S. Martínez, "On the performance analysis of resilient networked control systems under replay attacks," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 59, no. 3, pp. 804–808, 2014.
- [58] S. Weerakkody, X. Liu, S. H. Son, and B. Sinopoli, "A graph-theoretic characterization of perfect attackability for secure design of distributed control systems," *IEEE Transactions* on Control of Network Systems, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 60–70, 2017.
- [59] H. Sandberg, S. Amin, and K. H. Johansson, "Cyberphysical security in networked control systems: An introduction to the issue," *IEEE Control Systems*, vol. 35, no. 1, pp. 20–23, 2015.
- [60] S. P. Boyd, L. El Ghaoui, E. Feron, and V. Balakrishnan, *Linear matrix inequalities in system and control theory*. SIAM, 1994, vol. 15.
- [61] K. Zhou, J. Doyle, and K. Glover, Robust and optimal control. Prentice hall New Jersey, 1996.
- [62] J. Doyle, A. Packard, and K. Zhou, "Review of lfts, lmis, and μ," in Decision and Control, 1991., Proceedings of the 30th IEEE Conference on. IEEE, 1991, pp. 1227–1232.
- [63] F. Kozin, "A survey of stability of stochastic systems," Automatica, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 95–112, 1969.
- [64] C. Scherer, P. Gahinet, and M. Chilali, "Multiobjective output-feedback control via LMI optimization," ... Control, IEEE Transactions on, vol. 42, no. 7, pp. 896–911, 1997.
- [65] J. C. Doyle, K. Glover, P. P. Khargonekar, B. Francis *et al.*, "State-space solutions to standard h 2 and h control problems," *Automatic Control, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 34, no. 8, pp. 831–847, 1989.
- [66] T. Chen and B. A. Francis, Optimal sampled-data control systems. Springer Science & Business Media, 1995.



- [67] G. Freiling and A. Hochhaus, "Properties of the solutions of rational matrix difference equations," *Computers & Mathematics with Applications*, vol. 45, no. 6, pp. 1137–1154, 2003.
- [68] S. Skogestad and I. Postlethwaite, Multivariable feedback control: analysis and design.
 Wiley New York, 2007, vol. 2.
- [69] P. P. Khargonekar and M. Rotea, "Mixed H_2/H_{∞} control: a convex optimization approach," Automatic Control, IEEE Transactions on, vol. 36, no. 7, pp. 824–837, 1991.

